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Vision 
To be the Preferred Bank in Customer 

Experience and Integrity. 

Mission
To provide superior banking services 

that exceed customers’ expectations and 

maximize shareholders’ value through 

state-of-the-art banking technology and 

high-caliber staff. 

Values
Customer Centricity, Integrity, Respect, 

Excellence, Innovation and Collaboration.
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Message from the Board Chairperson
Dear Esteemed Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Berhan Bank, it is with great pride and optimism that 
I present to you the Annual Performance Report and Audited Financial Statements for the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2025, during our 16th General Assembly of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting.

This year marks a defining moment in Berhan Bank’s journey. We have achieved a 
remarkable milestone, delivering outstanding financial results that reflect our unwavering 
commitment to excellence, strategic foresight, and operational resilience. Our profit has 
surged to over Birr 2.5 billion after provisions—an impressive increase from Birr 1.51 billion 
in the previous fiscal year. This exceptional growth, alongside a continued decline in non-
performing loans, underscores the strength of our business model and our dedication to 
delivering value to our shareholders.

The success we celebrate today is the result of the relentless dedication, innovation, and hard 
work of our management and staff. The Board of Directors extends its deepest gratitude to 
every member of the Berhan Bank team for their tireless efforts and pursuit of excellence, 
which have propelled us to new heights.

Looking ahead, we are filled with confidence and ambition. Together with our management 
and staff, the Board remains committed to sustaining this momentum, navigating industry 
challenges, and capitalizing on emerging opportunities to further elevate Berhan Bank’s 
position in the market. Our focus remains firmly on driving long-term growth and creating 
enduring value for our shareholders.

We are also pleased to present the External Auditor’s Report for the fiscal year 2024/2025, 
offering a comprehensive account of our financial performance. We invite you to review this 
report and join us in celebrating the progress we have made together.

To our loyal customers and shareholders, thank you for your continued trust and support. 
Your partnership inspires us to aim higher, and we look forward to building an even brighter 
future together.

 

                Sincerely, 

                

             Eligo Legesse

Chairperson, Board of Directors
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Message from the Chief Executive Officer
Dear Shareholders,

The 2024/2025 fiscal year has been a truly inspiring chapter for Berhan Bank, defined by 
resilience, meaningful progress, and outstanding financial achievements. In a year shaped 
by global and local challenges, including shifting economic conditions and transformative 
reforms in Ethiopia’s financial sector, our Bank has thrived, delivering strong returns to our 
shareholders while strengthening our role as a trusted Bank in the industry.

Our profit before provision reached Birr 2.5 billion, a 66.5% increase from the previous 
year. Total income grew by 61.4% to Birr 10.3 billion, driven by a 233.6% rise in non-interest 
income and an 18.5% increase in interest income. Our asset base expanded by 28.1% to 
Birr 58.9 billion, supported by a 16.7% growth in loans and advances to Birr 34.5 billion 
and a 20.6% rise in deposits to Birr 44.5 billion. We maintained strong asset quality, with 
our non-performing loan (NPL) ratio improving to 4.78%, well within the NBE’s threshold. 
Additionally, our capital grew by 37.5% to Birr 8.5 billion, with paid-up capital increasing 
by 24.3% to Birr 4.3 billion.

Our digital transformation journey reached new milestones with the successful rollout of 
the Core Banking System (CBS-24) upgrade, enhancing efficiency and enabling innovative 
financial solutions. Through partnerships with Kacha FinTech for Micro Digital Lending 
and the Ministry of Transport and Logistics for the Fuel Aggregator System, we’ve taken 
bold steps to modernize our services.

Our staff are the heart of our achievements. With a dedicated workforce of 5,796 employees, 
we reduced staff turnover to 5.0% and empowered 4,091 staff members through training 
programs, including our new e-learning platform, fostering leadership and technical 
expertise. These efforts, combined with our focus on sustainability and collaboration with 
stakeholders, have positioned Berhan Bank to meet the evolving needs of our customers 
and communities.

Looking forward, we are filled with optimism for 2025/2026. With renewed energy, we 
will pursue an ambitious agenda to transform our digital banking services, channeling 
maximum effort into expanding innovative digital platforms, enhancing customer 
experiences, and ensuring seamless, secure, and accessible financial solutions. We will also 
aggressively strengthen our capital base to enhance our competitiveness. By reinforcing risk 
management, investing in our people, and aligning with Ethiopia’s economic goals, we aim 
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to sustain profitable growth and seize emerging opportunities. Our revised Strategic Plan 
will guide us in embracing these priorities with creativity, teamwork, and an ever-growing 
customer base.

Finally, we extend our deepest gratitude to our shareholders, customers, employees, the 
Board of Directors, the National Bank of Ethiopia, and Federal and Regional Government 
Offices for their steadfast support and trust. Together, we have built a strong foundation 
for continued success, and we are excited to shape a future where Berhan Bank remains a 
beacon of innovation and resilience in Ethiopia’s financial landscape.

With warm regards,

    Ermias Tefera
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Performance Highlights
1. Major Macroeconomic Highlights of 2024/25 FY
Global economic developments in 2024/25 were marked by both progress and persistent challenges, 
as growth remained moderate amid shifting monetary, geopolitical, and structural conditions (World 
Bank, 2025). This moderation reflected the lingering impact of tight monetary policies pursued in 
advanced economies, where central banks maintained elevated interest rates to consolidate gains 
against inflation (IMF, 2025). Although global inflation eased compared to 2024 levels falling from 
about 3.7% to a projected 2.9% by mid-2025, it remained above pre-pandemic targets in many 
economies, compelling policymakers to sustain restrictive financial conditions.

In this context, borrowing costs stayed high, global trade volumes stagnated, and investor sentiment 
remained cautious. For emerging markets, these dynamics translated into subdued capital inflows, 
constrained access to international credit markets, and heightened exposure to fluctuations in 
commodity prices (IMF, 2025; World Bank, 2025). The situation was further complicated by the 
Israel–Palestine war, which disrupted Red Sea shipping. Suez Canal transits fell by about 42% raising 
transport costs, oil price volatility (with Brent briefly ~10% higher in Jan 2025), and inflationary 
pressures for energy-importing countries (UNCTAD, 2025; World Bank, 2025).

Across Africa, economic activity displayed a relatively stronger performance but remained uneven. 
The African Development Bank (AfDB, 2025) projected continental growth at 3.9 percent, a modest 
improvement supported by resilient agriculture, infrastructure spending, and a gradual recovery in 
services. East Africa once again emerged as the fastest-growing sub-region, reflecting investments in 
energy, transport, and digital infrastructure (AfDB, 2025). Nevertheless, persistent challenges weighed 
heavily on the region. High public debt burdens, foreign exchange shortages, and climate-related shocks, 
particularly droughts and floods, continued to place significant pressure on fiscal balances and external 
accounts (UNECA, 2025). At the same time, Donald Trump’s return to the U.S. presidency in 2025 
introduced fresh uncertainty to global trade policy, aid commitments, and international cooperation, 
with possible spillovers for African economies (World Bank, 2025; IMF, 2025).

Ethiopia’s economy maintained its position as one of the most dynamic in Sub-Saharan Africa during 
2024/25, recording growth estimated between 6.1 and 7.0 percent (National Bank of Ethiopia (NBE), 
2025; IMF, 2025). The expansion was largely supported by strong agricultural production, sustained 
service sector activity, and major public infrastructure projects. A key macroeconomic development 
during the period was the marked reduction in inflation, which had previously been one of the country’s 
most pressing challenges. Inflation moderated to around 13 percent by mid-2025, down from levels 
exceeding 20 percent in the prior year, and projections indicate a further decline to approximately 
10 percent in 2025/26 (NBE, 2025). This improvement was attributable to tighter monetary policy, 
greater exchange rate stability, and measures aimed at addressing supply-side constraints. For banks, 
the moderation in inflation enhanced the real value of deposits and encouraged households and firms 
to increase their savings, thereby improving liquidity in the financial system.

Equally significant was Ethiopia’s progress in foreign exchange reform. The gradual transition 
toward a market-based exchange rate system reduced the parallel market premium and improved 
transparency in foreign currency transactions (World Bank, 2025). Reserves increased considerably 
following these adjustments, creating a more stable foundation for external trade and finance. The 
banking industry directly benefited from these changes, as the availability of foreign exchange for 
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trade financing and external obligations improved, while greater transparency reduced operational 
distortions that had previously constrained sector performance.

The financial sector also experienced a historic shift during the fiscal year with the enactment of 
legislation opening Ethiopia’s banking market to foreign participation (NBE, 2025). This reform, 
accompanied by the establishment of the Ethiopian Securities Exchange (ESX) in 2025, is set to 
fundamentally reshape the financial landscape by introducing new competition, diversifying 
financing options, and enhancing capital market activities. For domestic banks, the entry of foreign 
institutions presents both a challenge and an opportunity. It necessitates improved efficiency, stronger 
governance, and accelerated investment in digital transformation, but it also offers prospects for 
partnerships, knowledge transfer, and product diversification.

Support from international development partners further underpinned Ethiopia’s macroeconomic 
performance. The International Monetary Fund approved a $3.4 billion Extended Credit Facility 
(IMF, 2025), while the World Bank committed $1.5 billion in grants and concessional loans (World 
Bank, 2025). These inflows stabilized the macroeconomic framework, eased fiscal pressures, and 
reduced reliance on direct central bank financing. The resulting stability in turn improved confidence 
in the financial system, allowing commercial banks to pursue credit expansion more aggressively in 
key sectors of the economy. 

However, the domestic environment was also affected by social and political challenges. Uncertainty 
over international aid flows following the re-election of U.S. President Donald Trump raised concerns 
about the continuity of social services and humanitarian programs (UNECA, 2025). Meanwhile, 
the ongoing conflicts in certain regions, especially in Northern Ethiopia remained unresolved, with 
recurring instability, displacement, and humanitarian needs continuing to affect local economies, 
agricultural output, and the operations of banks in affected areas (NBE, 2025).

Overall, the macroeconomic highlights of 2024/25 illustrate an environment of cautious but tangible 
progress for Ethiopia. Strong growth, declining inflation, and structural reforms are gradually 
reshaping the country’s economic trajectory. Yet external shocks from the Israel–Palestine conflict 
to shifts in U.S. aid and donor policies following Trump’s re-election combined with the ongoing 
conflict in the Northern Ethiopia region, underscore the complexity of the environment. For the 
banking sector, these developments create an environment of both opportunity and heightened 
responsibility. The capacity of banks to mobilize deposits, expand credit responsibly, and adapt to 
an increasingly competitive and liberalized financial market will determine their ability to translate 
macroeconomic improvements into sustainable institutional growth.

In line with these national developments, Berhan Bank recorded encouraging performance in 2024/25. 
The Bank expanded its deposits and loan portfolio, strengthened foreign exchange mobilization, and 
achieved higher profitability compared to its previous years. These results reflect its resilience in 
navigating a challenging environment while aligning its growth with Ethiopia’s ongoing economic 
reforms and the financial sector liberalization.

2. Operational Performance

2.1  Deposit Mobilization
At the end of June 2025, the Bank recorded a significant growth in deposit levels, with total deposits 
reaching Birr 44.5 billion. This amount reflects an increase of Birr 7.6 billion (20.6 percent) compared 
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to the previous year. Savings deposits continued to form the cornerstone of the deposit structure, 
accounting for 61.6 percent of the total, while demand deposits constituted 29.8 percent and fixed 
time deposits represented the remaining 8.6 percent. 

Alongside the growth in deposit value, the Bank also achieved significant progress in its depositor 
base. The number of depositors increased to 2.9 million, marking a rise of 311,400 or 12.0 percent 
from the level attained in June 2024.

Deposit by Type in millions of Birr
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2.2  Loan and Advances 
The Bank’s loan and advance portfolio grew steadily during the reporting year, reaching Birr 35.97 
billion as of June 2025. This represented an increase of 16.7 percent compared with the prior year. 
The largest proportion of the loan and advances was directed towards the building and construction 
sector, domestic trade and services, as well as manufacturing.

The overall performance of the loan portfolio remained within regulatory requirements, 
with the ratio of non-performing loans (NPL) standing at 4.78 percent. This was an 
improvement from 4.98 percent recorded in June 2024 and remains below the maximum 
threshold of 5.0 percent set by the National Bank of Ethiopia. The result reflects the Bank’s 
careful management of its loan portfolio and strict adherence to prudential standards.
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2.3   International Banking
During the review period, the Bank successfully mobilized USD 195.8 million in foreign currency, 
surpassing the same period last year by 40.0 percent. The FCY regime change is the key driver of this 
foreign currency mobilization, wherein the Bank also apprehended the opportunities effectively like 
the FCY auction conducted by the central bank on top of the performance leap in export proceed over 
the prior year by USD 38.7 million. The largest share, representing 59.5 percent, was generated from 

incoming foreign transfers, while cash purchases accounted for 2.6 percent of the total.

3. Financial Performance 

3.1  Assets
By the end of June 2025, total assets reached Birr 58.9 billion. This represents annual growth of 
28.1 percent compared with Birr 46.0 billion in June 2024. The expansion was driven by balanced 
growth across key asset categories. Cash and balances with banks rose to Birr 7.3 billion, while loans 
and advances (net) increased by 18.2 percent to Birr 34.5 billion. Investments in bonds and bills 
increased by 76.1 percent, reaching Birr 6.3 billion and other assets recording an increase of 86.8 
percent. 

The overall balance sheet expansion reflects prudent financial management and effective deployment 

of resources of the Bank.

Asset (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change % age

Cash and Balances with Banks 7,323,476 4,839,915 2,483,561 51.3

Due from Banks & Other Financial 
Institutions 866,669 937,387 (70,718) (7.5)

Loans and Advances to Customers (net) 34,527,985 29,202,255 5,325,730 18.2

Equity Investments 608,049 460,152 147,897 32.1

Bonds and Bills 6,348,801 3,604,270 2,744,531 76.1

Other Assets 2,897,297 1,550,695 1,346,602 86.8

Inventory 116,106 152,044 (35,938) (23.6)

Right-of-use assets 237,671 214,641 23,030 10.7

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 1,202,909 1,165,020 37,889 3.3

Intangible Assets 26,722 5,052 21,670 429.0

Property and Equipment 1,448,274 1,340,376 107,899 8.0

Restricted Fund Balance 3,354,900 2,549,700 805,200 31.6

Total Assets 58,958,859 46,021,506 12,937,353 28.1
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3.2  Capital
As of June 2025, the Bank’s total capital reached Birr 8.5 billion, indicating a growth of 37.5 percent 
from the June 2024 figure of Birr 6.2 billion. Additionally, the paid-up capital stood at Birr 4.3 billion, 
signifying a 24.3 percent increase from the previous year. The capital growth strategy implementation 
and the cascading of target to branches and head office organs reinforced the realization of this capital 

growth.

     

Capital in millions of Birr
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The shareholder base expanded to over 20 thousand during the reporting year, reflecting 
sustained progress towards meeting regulatory capital requirements.

Capital (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change %

Share Capital 4,286,885 3,447,898 838,987 24.3
Share Premium 18,628 16,372 2,256 13.8

Retained Earnings 1,045,836 681,088 364,747 53.6

Legal Reserve 1,677,627 1,153,737 523,890 45.4
Other Reserve 382,940 310,080 72,860 23.5

Regulatory Risk Reserve 1,128,204 604,020 524,184 86.8

Total Capital 8,540,120 6,213,195 2,326,924 37.5

3.3 Income
The Bank generated total income of Birr 10.3 billion in the 2024/25 fiscal year, which represents an 
increase of 61.4 percent when compared with the preceding years Birr 6.39 billion. Interest income 
amounted to Birr 6.1 billion, rising by 18.5 percent and accounting for 58.8 percent of the total. Non-
interest income reached Birr 4.3 billion, an expansion of 233.6 percent, and contributed 41.2 percent 

of total income. 
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This growth was supported by Fee and commission income, which increased by 181.2 percent, and 

by other operating income, which recorded an increase of 333.7 percent.

Income (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change %

Interest income 6,058,457 5,112,154 946,303 18.5
Non-interest income 4,252,540 1,274,787 2,977,753 233.6

Fees and commission income 2,351,938 836,526 1,515,412 181.2
Other operating income 1,900,602 438,261 1,462,341 333.7

Total Income 10,310,997 6,386,941 3,924,056 61.4

3.4 Expenses
The total expenses during the reviewed period amounted to Birr 7.8 billion reflecting an increase of 
59.9 percent when compared with last year’s Birr 4.9 billion. Interest expenses grew by 17.3 percent, 
while non-interest expenses increased by 84.7 percent. 

Composition of Expenses in millions of Birr

4,879

1,797 

3,083

7,800

2,108 

5,692

T O T A L  E X P E N S E I N T E R E S T  E X P E N S E NON -INTEREST EXPENSE

June, 2024 June, 2025

Composition of Expenses in millions of Birr



17Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

Personnel expenses rose by 15.9 percent, whereas general expenses increased by 206.8 percent. 
Impairment charges decreased by Birr 7.2 million. Despite higher operating costs, the Bank maintained 

sound financial stability through disciplined cost control and improved portfolio performance.

Expense (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change % age

Interest Expense 2,107,561 1,796,517 311,044 17.3

Non-interest Expense 5,692,357 3,082,639 2,609,718 84.7

Personnel expenses 2,407,302 2,076,281 331,022 15.9

General Expense 3,292,289 1,073,274 2,219,015 206.8

Impairment Expense (7,235) (66,916) (59,681) (89.2)

Total Expense 7,799,918 4,879,156 2,920,762 59.9

3.5 Profit
Profit before tax for the year ended June 2025 amounted to Birr 2.5 billion. This represents an 
annual increase of 66.5 percent when compared with the prior year. The result was achieved through 
improved earnings, effective cost containment, and efficient utilization of resources. 

Composition of Profit in millions of Birr
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4. Branch Expansion 
During the fiscal year, the Bank undertook a rationalization of its branch network in order to enhance 
operational efficiency and optimize resource allocation. 18 branches that consistently recorded low 
performance were consolidated with nearby locations, thereby reducing redundancy and ensuring 
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more effective service delivery. The Bank, on the other hand, pursued a measured expansion strategy 
by opening 11 additional branches (1 city and 10 outlying branches). As a result of these adjustments, 
the Bank’s branch network reached 376 at the close of the reporting period (161 city and 215 outlying 
branches).

5. Information Technology and Digital Financial Banking 
During the year under review, the Bank has made significant progress on its Core Banking System 
(version-24) upgrade project. The requirement gathering and system configuration were completed 
in accordance with the defined specifications, and testing was successfully carried out. By the time 
of reporting, the CBS-24 system upgrade has been fully launched, marking a major milestone in 
the Bank’s digital transformation journey, enhancing operational efficiency, strengthening system 
integration, and supporting the introduction of innovative financial products and services. 

To further strengthen its technology infrastructure, the Bank successfully completed the colocation 
of its data center with Ethio-telecom. This strategic move has enhanced system availability, ensured 
reliable power redundancy, optimized cooling efficiency, and reinforced overall security.

In addition, the Bank expanded its digital banking services during the year. In partnership with 
Kacha Fintech, it commenced a micro digital lending service that is expected to contribute positively 
to profitability. The Bank also officially launched the Fuel Aggregator System, a transformative digital 
platform developed in collaboration with the Ministry of Transport and Logistics. This innovation 
represents a major step forward in modernizing fuel distribution across the country, enhancing 
efficiency, and ensuring seamless service delivery for businesses and consumers. To further enhance 
its digital banking services, the Bank installed 15 additional ATMs during the financial year, raising 

the total number to 183, while the number of POS reached 241 by the end of the review period.

6. Human Resources 
The total staff strength reached 5,796 employees as of June 2025, following the recruitment of 87 
permanent staff to operate new branches and fill vacant posts. Of the total staff, 64.0 percent were 
male and 36.0 percent female. 

Staff turnover declined to 5.0 percent from 6.6 percent in the previous year, indicating improved 
retention. In order to enhance operational focus, 370 non-clerical positions, mainly in security 
services were outsourced in the year 2024/25 the total reached 993.

Employee development remained a central focus. Training programs covering management, 
leadership, information technology, and technical skills were provided to 4,091 employees. A 
significant milestone was the introduction of an e-learning platform, which enabled flexible and 
accessible training opportunities. The program engaged 222 managerial staff and 1,625 non-
managerial staff, strengthening institutional capacity and contributing to higher levels of employee 
performance.

7. Building Construction Projects
During the financial year, the Bank made progress on major building initiatives. The 
Transitional Head Office Building advanced with the successful completion of the design 
bid process, culminating in contract signing with the winning firm. On the other hand, the 
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Main Head Quarter Building initial design contract was terminated following new setback 
regulations issued by the Addis Ababa City Administration. To ensure compliance with 
these requirements, the Bank has initiated a new design process and secured a lease period 
extension to facilitate the project’s reinstatement.

8. Strategic Priorities for 2025/26 FY
To ensure sustainable growth, profitability, and long-term competitiveness, the Bank will prioritize 
the following strategic directions in the upcoming financial year:

	Strengthening and diversifying deposit mobilization initiatives to secure a stable and 
growing funding base, supported by targeted marketing campaigns, branch-level 
accountability, and enhanced customer engagement strategies;

	Strengthening loan origination, monitoring, and recovery practices to minimize non-
performing loans, safeguard asset quality, and improve risk-adjusted returns;

	Significantly improving service delivery standards through employee training, process 
simplification, digital integration, and customer feedback mechanisms to ensure a 
seamless and differentiated banking experience;

	Bolstering the Bank’s capital position to meet and exceed the requirements of the 
National Bank of Ethiopia, while also ensuring sufficient buffers to support future growth 
and absorb potential shocks;

	Expanding and deepening digital banking services by operationalizing innovative 
products, enhancing mobile and internet banking platforms, and embedding emerging 
technologies for efficiency;

	Implementing advanced cyber-security frameworks, strengthening IT resilience, and 
ensuring uninterrupted service delivery to protect customer trust and institutional 
reputation;

	Progressing with the construction of the Transitional Head Office Building as per 
schedule;

	Investing in staff capacity building, performance management, and leadership 
development programs to strengthen execution capability and foster a high-performance 
culture;

	Designing and implementing tailored financial products and services to broaden financial 
access; and

	Strengthening marketing initiatives and communication strategies to position Berhan 
Bank as a trusted, innovative, and customer-centric financial partner in a competitive 
market.
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Transitional HO AR design contract signing

Support for students’ new academic year Support for Children in need

Green project and blood donation program

Renovation of Homes for Elderly People with Low Incomes

Major Events
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Financed Projects

Fikireselam General Hospital

Dagew Mekonnen Mixed use 2 basement G + 7 Building

Droga Pharmacy & Physiotherapy clinic
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EAD Exposure at Default
  
ECL Expected credit losses
  
EPS Earnings per share
  
FLI Forward-Looking-Information
  
FVOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income
  
FVTPL Fair value through profit or loss
  
LTV  Loan-to-Value
  
OCI Other comprehensive income
  
SPPI Solely payments of principal and interest
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The directors submit their report together with the financial statements for the period ended 30-
June 2025, to the members of Berhan Bank S.C (“Berhan” or the “Bank”). This report discloses the 
financial performance and state of affairs of the Bank.     
Incorporation and address     

Berhan Bank S.C was incorporated in Ethiopia in October 2009 as a privately owned financial 
institution, and is domiciled in Ethiopia.     
Principal activities     

The Bank is principally engaged in the provision of diverse range of financial products and services 
to a wholesale, retail and SME clients based in Ethiopian Market.    
Results and dividends     

The Bank’s results for the year ended 30 June 2025 are set out on the Statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. The profit for the year has been transferred to retained earnings. 

The summarised results are presented below. 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Revenue 7,946,575 4,577,533
Profit / (loss) before tax 2,511,080 1,507,785
Tax (charge) / credit (415,521) (319,573)
Profit / (loss) for the year 2,095,559 1,188,212
Other comprehensive income / (loss) net of taxes 268,058 217,056
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 2,363,617 1,405,268

      

Directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are set out in the report.
 

 

    

Ato Eligo Legesse Ato Ermias Tefera

Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer
Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

Berhan Bank S.C
Report of the Directors
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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In accordance with the Banking Business Proclamation No. 592/2008, the National Bank of Ethiopia 
(NBE) may direct the Bank to prepare financial statements in accordance with international financial 
reporting standards, whether their designation changes or they are replaced, from time to time.  

The Bank’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Commercial Code of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia 2021, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Bank is 
required keep such records as are necessary to:     

a) Exhibit clearly and correctly the state of its affairs;    

b) Explain its transactions and financial position; and    

c) Enable the National Bank to determine whether the Bank had complied with the provisions 
of the Banking Business Proclamation and regulations and directives issued for the implementation 
of the aforementioned Proclamation.     

The Bank’s Directors accepts responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been 
prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards, Banking Business 
Proclamation, Commercial Code of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia 2021 and the 
relevant Directives issued by the National Bank of Ethiopia.     

The Directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 
the financial affairs of the company and of its profit or loss. 

The Directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records that may 
be relied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as adequate systems of internal 
financial control.     

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that the company will not remain a 
going concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statement.    

Signed on behalf of the Directors by: 

 

Ato Eligo Legesse Ato Ermias Tefera
Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer

06-Oct-25 06-Oct-25

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Notes Birr’000 Birr’000
Interest income 7 6,058,457 5,112,154
Interest expense 8 (2,107,561) (1,796,517)
Net Interest Income  3,950,896 3,315,637

  

Fees and commission income 9 2,351,938 836,526
Fees and commission expense 9 (264,096) (79,807)
Net Fee and Commission Income  2,087,842 756,719

  

Other operating income 10 1,900,602 438,261
Total Operating Income  7,939,340 4,510,617

  

Loan Impairment Charge 11 22,528 144,207
Impairment Loss on other Financial Assets 11 (15,293) (77,291)
Net Operating Income  7,946,575 4,577,533

  

Personnel expenses 12 (2,407,302) (2,076,281)
Depreciation of property and equipment 21 (97,988) (79,426)
Amortisation of intangible assets 20 (4,165) (3,784)
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 19 (343,927) (317,680)
Other operating expenses 13 (2,582,113) (592,577)
Total Operating Expenses  (5,435,495) (3,069,748)

  

Profit Before Tax  2,511,080 1,507,785
  

Income tax expense 14 (415,521) (319,573)
  

Profit for the Period  2,095,559 1,188,212
  

Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) Net of Income Tax
  

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:  
  

Remeasurements of Defined Benefit Liability/Asset-Net of 
Tax

26 (57,712) (36,343)

Movement in fair value reserve (FVOCI equity instruments) 
-Net of Tax

26 325,770 253,399

  

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year, Net of 
Tax

 2,363,617 1,405,268

  

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders  2,095,559 1,188,212
  
Earnings per share of Birr 1,000  
Basic Earnings Per Share 28 546.97 350.33

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Notes Birr’000 Birr’000

ASSETS    
Cash and Balances with Banks 15 7,323,476 4,839,915
Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 15 866,669 937,387
Loans and Advances to Customers 16 34,527,985 29,202,255
Investment Securities  
           Financial Assets at amortized cost: 17 6,348,801 3,604,270
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI: 17 608,049 460,152
Other Assets 18 2,897,297 1,550,695
Inventory 18 116,106 152,044
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 18 237,671 214,641
Right-of-use assets 19 1,202,909 1,165,020
Intangible Assets 20 26,722 5,052
Property and Equipment 21 1,448,274 1,340,376
Restricted Fund Balance 15 3,354,900 2,549,700
Total Assets  58,958,859 46,021,506
  
LIABILITIES  
Due to Banks & Other Institutions 22 287,348 578,018
Deposits from Customers 22 44,454,019 36,852,193
Current Tax Liabilities 14 448,597 286,389
Margins Held on Letters of Credit 22 1,508,336 567,992
Other Liabilities 22 3,192,689 1,069,912
Provisions 22 301,061 250,027
Retirement Benefit Obligations 22 194,200 136,485
Deferred Tax Liabilities 14 32,489 67,295
Total Liabilities  50,418,739 39,808,311
  

EQUITY  
Share Capital 23 4,286,885 3,447,898
Share Premium 23 18,628 16,372
Retained Earnings 24 1,045,836 681,088
Legal Reserve 25 1,677,627 1,153,737
Other Reserve 26 382,940 310,080
Regulatory Risk Reserve 27 1,128,204 604,020
Total Equity  8,540,120 6,213,195
  
Total Liabilities and Equity  58,958,859 46,021,506

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 
06-Oct-25 and were signed on its behalf by:

Ato Eligo Legesse Ato Ermias Tefera
Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Financial Position
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Notes Birr'000 Birr'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 2,511,080      1,507,785       
Adjustment for:
Loan impairment charges 11 (22,528)              (144,207)            
Impairment losses on other assets 13 15,293                77,291                
Amortisation of Right of use assets 19 343,927             317,681               
Amortisation of intangible assets 20 4,165                  3,784                  
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 21 98,188                79,456                
Impairment Loss(Gain) Asset Held for Sale 13 170                      45                        
Allowance for Inventory Write-Down 13 -                      589                      
Gain on Disposal of Property Plant And Equipment(net) (46,322)              (172,550)             
Gain from reversal of impairment allowance (320)                    (71)                       
Interest Expense on Lease Liability 8 45,780               42,336                
Payment of Severance Benefit 22 (14,815)               (13,026)               
Gain/Loss On Lease Modification(net) (2,558)                0                          
Write off Expense 22,628               -                      
Other Non Cash Income (832)                    -                      

2,953,856      1,699,113        
Cash Flow From Operation before Changes in Working Capital
Decrease (Increase) in Loans & Advances excluding provision 16 (5,155,451)          (1,927,445)         
Decrease (Increase) in Non current asset held for sale 18 (23,200)              (156,645)            
Decrease (Increase) in Other Assets 18 (1,488,678)        (158,998)            
Decrease (Increase) in Restricted Fund Balances 15 (805,200)           (139,000)            
Increase (Decrease) in Deposits 22 7,601,826          3,069,899         
Increase  (Decrease) in Margin Held Account 22 940,344             202,719              
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities 22 2,157,769          (406,220.85)     
Decrease (Increase) Inventory 18b 36,258               (74,454)              
Decrease (Increase) Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 15 70,718                2,782,532          
Increase (Decrease) in Provision 22 51,034                184,975              
Decrease (Increase) Due to Banks & Other Institutions 22 (290,670)           (2,940,390)        
Increase  (Decrease) Retirement benefit obligations-Charge for the year 22 42,002               34,772                
Decrease in imparement provision Allowance (42,213)              -                      

Cash Generated From Operation
Withholding Tax Paid (1,730)                 (1,164)                  
 Profit tax Paid 14 (286,389)           (79,077)              
Prior Period Tax -                      (9,154)                 
Net Cash flow from Operating Activities 5,760,276      2,081,462      

Cash Flow From Investing Activities
Purchase of Property and Equipment 21 (231,874)            (260,240)           
Purchase of Intangible Assets 20 (25,835)              -                      
Acquistion of Right of use asset 21 (381,816)             (389,487)            
Investment in NBE Bills & Bonds 17 (2,744,668)       228,677             
Investment in Shares 17 (44,509)              (37,497)              
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 21 72,109                217,698              
Net Cash flow from Investing Activities (3,356,593)   (240,848)      

Cash Flow From Financing Activities
Ordinary Shares Issued 23 838,987             97,465                
Share Premium Received 23 2,256                  525                      
Dividends paid 24 (681,088)            (196,394)            
Increase  (Decrease) Borrowings 22 -                      (559,028)            
Principal Lease Payment 19 (78,549)              (75,927)              
Director's Share of Profit (1,650)                 -                      
Net Cash flow from Financing Activities 79,956            (733,358)       

Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,483,639         1,107,255           
Cash and Cash Equivalent at the Beginning of the Year 4,840,068         3,732,813           

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Cash Flows
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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1 Reporting Entity    

Berhan Bank SC (“Berhan” or the “Bank”) is a private commercial bank domiciled in Ethiopia. The 
Bank was registered and licensed by the National Bank of Ethiopia on 27 June 2009 in accordance 
with the provisions of the Commercial Code of Ethiopia of 1960 (now replaced by Proclamation No. 
1243/2021) and the Licensing and Supervision of Banking Business Proclamation No. 84/1994 (now 
replaced by Proclamation No. 1360/2025). The Bank primarily provides corporate and retail banking 
services in the country. Its registered office is located at Bole Dildiye TK International Building, Addis 
Ababa, Ethiopia.    

The Bank is principally engaged in the provision of diverse range of financial products and services 
to a wholesale, retail and SME client’s base in Ethiopian Market.    

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies    

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
2.1 Basis of preparation    

The financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2025 have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). Additional information required by National regulations is included 
where appropriate.     

The financial statements comprise the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the statement of financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows 
and the notes to the financial statements.    

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern principle under 
the historical cost concept except the following: 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit and loss, 
financial assets and financial liabilities and investment properties measured at fair value;

• Assets held for sale - measured at fair value less cost of disposal; and
• The liability for defined benefit obligations recognized at the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation less the fair value of the plan assets and plan assets measured at fair value

2.2 Functional and Presentation Currency    

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Ethiopian Birr (ETB), which is the Bank’s 
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest million, except when otherwise 
indicated.    

2.3 Going Concern         

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The management have no 
doubt that the Bank would remain in existence after 12 months.    

2.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Judgements         

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and 
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liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities, the Bank makes assumptions 
of the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
The Bank’s estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and expectation of future 
events and are reviewed periodically. Further information about key assumptions concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgement, are set out in the relevant 
disclosure notes for the following areas:

• Credit impairment

• Financial instruments measured at fair value

• Provisions for liabilities and charges

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
effects on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements are included:

• Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, determining the methodology for incorporating FLI 
into the measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models used to measure ECL.

• Classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets 
are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on 
the principal amount outstanding.

Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties    

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities, the bank makes assumptions 
of the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
The bank’s estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and expectation of future 
events and are reviewed periodically.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting 
in a material adjustment in the year ended 30 June 2025 are included in the following notes:

• Impairment of financial instruments: determining inputs into the ECL measurement model, 
including incorporation of forward-looking information.

• Determination of the fair value of financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs.

• Measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions.

• Recognition and measurement of contingencies: key assumptions about the likelihood and 
magnitude of an outflow of resources.

• Impairment of financial instruments: key assumptions used in estimating recoverable cash 
flows.

2.5 New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards that are effective for the Current 
year

i. Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current to IAS 8 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the 
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requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement?

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right.

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.     

The amendment does not have any material impact on the Bank    
ii. Amendments to IFRS 16 – Lease Liability in a Sale     

The amendment to IFRS 16 specifies the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease 
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any 
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

However, the requirements do not prevent the seller lessee from recognizing any gain or loss arising 
from the partial or full termination of a lease    

The amendment does not have any material impact on the Bank.    

2.6 New accounting standards in issue but not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods in 2025 
and beyond and earlier application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted the new 
and amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

The bank shall apply the amendments when it it is due. However, the new and amended standards 
are not expected to have a significant impact on the Bank’s consolidated financial statements.

Title Description 
Effective 
Date 

Amendments 
to IAS 21 
– Lack of 
exchangeability 

The amendments specifies how an entity should assess whether 
a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot 
exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking. 

A currency is considered to be exchangeable into another 
currency when an entity is able to obtain the other currency 
within a time frame that allows for a normal administrative 
delay and through a market or exchange mechanism in which 
an exchange transaction would create enforceable rights and 
obligations. 

If a currency is not exchangeable into another currency, an 
entity is required to estimate the spot exchange rate at the 
measurement date. An entity’s objective in estimating the spot

 The 
a m e n d m e n t s 
are effective for 
annual periods 
beginning on or 
after January 
1, 2025. Earlier 
application is 
permitted.
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exchange rate is to reflect the rate at which an orderly exchange 
transaction would take place at the measurement date between 
market participants under prevailing economic conditions.

IFRS 18 – Pre-
sentation and 
Disclosure in 
Financial State-
ments 

This standard replaces IAS 1 and introduces new subtotals 
(e.g. operating profit) and enhanced disclosure requirements. 
These amendments are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the financial statements in the period of initial 
application. 

Issued 9 April 
2024 and effec-
tive for annual 
periods begin-
ning on or after 
1 January 2027 
(early adoption 
p e r m i t t e d ) . 
The Bank has 
elected not to 
adopt IFRS 18 
early.

2.7 Foreign Currency Translation

a. Functional and presentation currency a. Functional and presentation currency    

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Bank operates (‘the functional currency’). The functional currency and 
presentation currency of the Bank is the Ethiopian Birr (ETB).    

b. Transactions and balancesb. Transactions and balances    

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Bank’s functional currency are 
recognised in profit or loss within other (loss)/income. Monetary items denominated in foreign 
currency are translated using the closing rate as at the reporting date. Mid exchange rate (which 
is the average of the selling exchange rate and the buying exchange rate) is used by the Bank in 
connection with the revaluation of foreign currency items.

2.8 Recognition of income and expenses    

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Bank and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.

The Bank, earns income from interest on loans and advances, investment in shares, deposit with 
other banks, purchase of Bills and Bonds, letter of credits, letter of guarantees and other operational 
services.    
i. Net Interest Income    

a) Effective interest ratea) Effective interest rate    

Interest income and expense were recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 
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effective interest rate was the rate that exactly discounted the estimated future cash payments and 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability (or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Bank estimated future cash flows considering all contractual terms of 
the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. Where the estimates of cash flows have been 
revised, the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability is adjusted to reflect the actual and 
revised cash flows, discounted at the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The adjustment is 
recognised as interest income or expense in the period in which the revision is made.

The calculation of the effective interest rate included transaction costs and fees and points paid 
or received that were an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs included 
incremental costs that were directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or 
financial liability.”    

Interest income for financial assets held at either fair value through other comprehensive income or 
amortised cost, and interest expense on all financial liabilities held at amortised cost is recognised in 
profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

b) Calculation of interest income and expenseb) Calculation of interest income and expense    

Interest income for financial assets held at either fair value through other comprehensive income or 
amortised cost, and interest expense on all financial liabilities held at amortised cost is recognised 
in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate of a financial asset 

or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability. In 
calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. 

The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating 
rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. 

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income 
reverts to the gross basis. For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, 

interest income is calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the asset.       

c) Amortised cost and gross carrying amountc) Amortised cost and gross carrying amount     

The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial 
asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit 
loss allowance.

The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before 
adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance.

d) Presentationd) Presentation    

Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered to be incidental to 
the Bank’s trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of 
trading assets and liabilities in net trading income. 
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Interest income and expense on other financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are presented 
in net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL.
ii) Fees and Commission    

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on 
government bills and bonds are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. Other fees 
and commission income (for example commission on purchase orders, Cash Payment Orders (CPOs) 
etc) are recognised as the related services performed.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Bank’s financial 
statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the 
case, then the Bank first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the 
scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.

Other fees and commission expenses relates mainly to transaction and service fees are expensed as 
the services are received.    
iii) Dividend Income    

This is recognised when the Bank’s right to receive the payment is established, which is generally 
when the shareholders approve and declare the dividend.      
  
iv) Foreign Exchange Revaluation Gains or Losses    

These are gains and losses arising on settlement and translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the functional currency’s exchange rate at the reporting date.  
This amount is recognised in the income statement.  

The monetary assets and liabilities include financial assets within the correspondent banks, foreign 
currency deposits received, and other liabilities held on behalf of third parties.   

During the year, the Central Bank shifted from a managed exchange rate regime to a market-based 
exchange rate system with new directives, Foreign Exchange Directive No. FXD/01/2024. This 
resulted in a foreign exchange gain on monetary assets and a loss on monetary liabilities, recognized 
in the income statement.        

2.9 Financial Instruments        

(a)  Initial recognition and measurement (a)  Initial recognition and measurement    

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is normally the transaction price, 
plus directly attributable transaction costs for financial assets which are not subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.

The bank initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated 
liabilities on the date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognized on 
the trade date, which is the date on which the bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities (deposits and debt securities) are measured at 



43Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

their amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

(b)  Subsequent measurement(b)  Subsequent measurement    

Financial assets and financial liabilities held at amortised cost are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Equity investments designated at FVOCI are subsequently carried at fair value with all unrealised 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a separate component of equity. On derecognition, the cumulative reserve is 
transferred to retained earnings and is not recycled to profit or loss.    

(C)  Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (C)  Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities     

i) Financial assetsi) Financial assets    

Financial assets which have SPPI characteristics and that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows (‘hold to collect’) are recorded 
at amortised cost. Conversely, financial assets which have SPPI characteristics but are held within 
a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets (‘hold to collect and sell’) are classified as held at FVOCI.

Both hold to collect business and a hold to collect and sell business models involve holding financial 
assets to collect the contractual cash flows. However, the business models are distinct by reference to 
the frequency and significance that asset sales play in meeting the objective under which a particular 
group of financial assets is managed. Hold to collect business models are characterised by asset sales 
that are incidental to meeting the objectives under which a group of assets is managed. Sales of assets 
under a hold to collect business model can be made to manage increases in the credit risk of financial 
assets but sales for other reasons should be infrequent or insignificant.   

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 
managed and its contractual cash flows. 

The Bank shall measure a financial asset at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated at FVTPL: 

•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). 

 A debt instrument shall be measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated at FVTPL: 

•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
SPPI. 
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Under IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally presented as follows: – the amount of change in the 
fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is presented in OCI; and the 
remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss.    

On initial recognition, an equity investment that is held for trading shall be classified at FVTPL.  
However, for equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income (OCI). This election is made on an 
investment-by-investment basis. 

All other financial assets that do not meet the classification criteria at amortised cost or FVOCI, 
above, shall be classified as measured at FVTPL. 

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise 
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.
ii) Financial liabilities    

The Bank shall classify its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, 
as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. 

A financial guarantee is an undertaking/commitment that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified party fails to meet its 
obligation when due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Financial guarantees issued by the Bank are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of: the amount of the obligation 
under the guarantee, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets; and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative 
amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

(d) Derecognition of Financial Instruments(d) Derecognition of Financial Instruments    
i) Derecognition of Financial Assets    

The bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or 
in which the bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset 
(or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest 
in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the bank is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial 
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or 
a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. 

In transactions in which the bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and 
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rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the bank continues to 
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it 
is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
ii) Derecognition of Financial Liabilities    

The bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire.
(e) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities     
i)        Financial assets     

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank shall evaluate whether the cash flows of 
the modified asset are substantially different. 

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original 
financial asset shall be deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset shall be 
derecognised and a new financial asset shall be recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction 
costs. Any fees received as part of the modification shall be accounted for as follows: 

•	 fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent 
reimbursement of eligible transaction costs shall be included in the initial measurement of the 
asset; and 

•	 Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition. 

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the 
modification is usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate 
a new asset with substantially different terms.

If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, 
then it shall first consider whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification 
takes place.

Where the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in 
derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank shall first recalculate the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting 
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received 
as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and shall 
be amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset. 

Where such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the 
gain or loss shall be presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it shall be presented 
as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method. 
ii)        Financial liabilities     

The Bank shall derecognise a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of 
the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the 
modified terms shall be recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration 
paid shall include non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including 
the new modified financial liability. 
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Where the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the 
amortised cost of the liability shall be recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the 
original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any 
costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and 
amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective 
interest rate on the instrument. 

2.10  Write-off     

Loans and debt securities shall be written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the amount in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case 
when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could 
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment shall be 
carried out at the individual asset level. 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off shall be included in ‘impairment losses on financial 
instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. 

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply 
with the Bank’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

2.11 Renegotiated Loans    

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually 
considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual 

cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a 
loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is considered credit-impaired.

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing 
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit 
deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised 
and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value.   

2.12 Collateral Valuation    

The Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible, to mitigate its risks on financial assets. The collateral 
comes in various forms such as cash, buildings, vehicles, Bank guarantees and real estate. The fair 
value of collateral is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and based on the Bank’s reporting 
schedule.

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets, held as collateral. 
Other financial assets which do not have a readily determinable market value are valued using 
models.         

2.13 Collateral Repossessed    

Repossessed collateral represents financial and non-financial assets acquired by the Bank in 
settlement of overdue loans. The Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset is best 
used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be used for internal operations 
are initially recognised at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original 
secured asset and included in the relevant assets depending on the nature and the Bank’s intention in 
respect of recovery of these assets, and are subsequently remeasured and accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policies for these categories of assets. Assets that are determined better to be 
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sold are immediately transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value at the repossession date in 
line with the Bank’s policy.    

2.14 Offsetting Financial Instruments    

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position where the Bank has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Or if 
the Bank may enter into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for 
the related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as Bankruptcy or the termination of 
a contract.

Income and expenses shall be presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains 
and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.

3 Major Elements of Financial Statements    

3.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents    

‘Cash and cash equivalents’ include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with central 
bank and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by 
the bank in the management of its short-term commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. 

3.2 Property and Equipment    

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment 
if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property and equipment are required to 
be replaced at intervals, the Bank recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives 
and depreciates them accordingly. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in income 
statement as incurred.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised.         

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost  to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:    

Asset category Years Residual val-
ues 

Remark

Building 50 50% of cost  
Motor Vehicle 10 50% of cost  

Computer and Related items 7 35% of cost

Computer and accessories are 
included Computer,  

UPS, Switch, Patch panel---
Furniture and Fitting    
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Short lived Furniture and Fit-
tings 7 45% of cost Chairs
Medium lived Furniture and 
Fittings 10 50% of cost

Included, partition, cage , counter 
-----

Long Lived Furniture and Fit-
tings 20 20% of cost Vault /strong room 
Equipment:    

Short lived Equipment 5 15% of cost

Counting Machine, photocopy, 
FCY, Display and detector,  
Printer, Scanner and electronic 
related items …

Medium lived Equipment 10 45% of cost Generator ,ATM and Others
Long lived equipment 20 25% of cost Cash safe

The Bank commences depreciation when the asset is available for use. 

Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.  They are 
disclosed when reclassified during the year.    

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in income statement when the asset is 
derecognised.

At each balance sheet date the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively if appropriate, including assessing for indicators of impairment. In the event that an 
asset’s carrying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable amount, the asset is written 
down to the recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the income statement.

The estimation of the useful lives of assets is based on management’s judgement. Any material 
adjustment to the estimated useful lives of items of property and equipment will have an impact on 
the carrying value of these items.    

3.3 Intangible Assets    

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, 
are not capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in income statement in the period in 
which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets 
with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each 
financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life, or the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, are accounted for by changing the amortisation 
period or methodology, as appropriate, which are then treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
The amortisation expenses on intangible assets with finite lives is presented as a separate line item 
in the income statement.
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Amortisation is calculated using the straight–line method as below:

Description Years Residual value 
Software 6 Nil

3.40 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets    

The Bank assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Bank estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an 
individual asset. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

The value in use of the impaired assets is considered to be close its fair value less cost of disposal 
because the assets are either fully depreciated or they will be used for shorter period than their 
respective normal useful lives. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account.   

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. 
If such indication exists, the Bank estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited 
so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement. 

3.50 Leases     

The Bank assesses whether a contract is a lease in scope of this policy by determining whether the 
contract gives it the right to use a specified underlying physical asset for a lease term greater than 12 
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.

Where the Bank is a lessee and the lease is deemed in scope, it recognises a liability equal to the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate 
applicable in the economic environment of the lease. The liability is recognised in ‘Other liabilities’. 
A corresponding right-of-use asset equal to the liability, adjusted for any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date. The lease term includes any extension options contained in the 
contract that the Bank is reasonably certain it will exercise.  

Subsequently, the Bank depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term and measures the lease liability using the effective interest method. Depreciation of the asset is 
recognised in ‘Amortization of right-of-use asset’, and interest on the lease liability is recognised in 
‘Interest expense’.

The judgements in determining lease balances are the determination of whether the Bank is 
reasonably certain that it will exercise extension options present in lease contracts. On initial 
recognition, the Bank considers a range of characteristics such as premises function, regional trends 
and the term remaining on the lease to determine whether it is reasonably certain that a contractual 
right to extend a lease will be exercised. 
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IFRS 16 requires the lease term used to measure lease liabilities to include “reasonably certain” renewal 
options, whereas previously IAS 17 required disclosure of “non-cancellable” lease commitments. The 
consequences of this are:

-> Under IFRS 16, for some leases the Bank includes lease renewal options which it is reasonably 
certain will be exercised in the measurement of lease liabilities.

-> In certain conditions, the Bank has a unilateral right to cancel building leases with notice of fewer 
than three months without incurring a significant financial penalty. Under IFRS 16 the Bank would 
only exclude these cash flows from lease measurement if it was reasonably certain the termination 
clause would be exercised

Existing lease liabilities may change in future periods due to changes in assumptions or decisions to 
exercise lease renewal or termination options, changes in payments due to renegotiations of market 
rental rates. In general the remeasurement of a lease liability under these circumstances leads to an 
equal change to the right-of-use asset balance, with no immediate effect on the income statement. 

3.60  Non-Current Assets (or disposal groups) Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is 
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, 
financial assets and investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under 
insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale and measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell when:

  a) Their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through sale

  b) They are available for immediate sale in their present condition, and

  c) Their sale is highly probable

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal 
group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value 
less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-
current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised 
while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of 
a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for 
sale are presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal 
group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as 
held for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, 
is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is 
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a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are 
presented separately in the statement of profit or loss.    

3.70 Other Assets    

Other assets are generally defined as claims held against other entities for the future receipt of money. 
The other assets in the Bank’s financial statements include the following:   
(a) Prepayment    

Prepayments are payments made in advance for services to be enjoyed in future. The amount is 
initially capitalized in the reporting period in which the payment is made and subsequently amortised 
over the period in which the service is to be enjoyed.    
(b) Other Receivables    

Other receivables are recognised upon the occurrence of event or transaction as they arise and 
cancelled when payment is received.
(c) Prepaid Staff Benefits    

The Bank gives loans to its staff members at below market rates of interest. Under IFRS 9, such loans 
must be recognised at their fair value on the inception date. The fair value is determined on inception 
date as the present value of all the future cash receipts (instalments) from the staff members using 
the prevailing market rate of interest as the discounting factor. The market rate was determined by 
reference to what the staff members would have been charged to access a similar loan facility from 
the financial market (similar in terms of currency, term, type of interest rate and other factors). The 
market rate was set by the Ethiopian Bankers Association. Accordingly for the year 2024/25, interest 
rate of 12% was used for mortgage loans, and for other loan types interest rate of 13.64%.

The difference between the fair valued amount of the loan and the original loan amount is recognised 
as employee benefit. However, IAS 19 does not give specific guidelines on the treatment of prepaid 
employee benefit so the general guidelines of conceptual framework would apply.   

Therefore, to recognise the prepaid employee benefit on inception date of the loan, the bank should 
consider the nature of the loan i.e. does the interest rate revert back to market interest rate or below 
the market interest rate when the employee leaves the bank? 

If the interest rate reverts back to market interest rate, this means that the employee benefit has 
not been earned and the bank expects future economic benefits. Therefore, the prepaid employee 
benefit would be capitalised as an asset and amortized throughout the life of the loan based on the 
conceptual framework definition of an asset.

If the interest rate still remains below the market interest rate, this means that the employee benefit 
has been fully earned and the bank does not expect future economic benefits. Therefore, the prepaid 
employee benefit would be expensed immediately.   

3.80 Inventories         

IAS 2 provides guidance for determining the cost of inventories and the subsequent recognition of 
the cost as an expense, including any write down to net realisable value. It also provides guidance on 
the cost formulas that are used to assign costs to inventories. Inventories are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.
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The cost of inventories includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion (direct labour and 
production overhead) and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.    

Inventories are assets:

   a) Held for sale in the ordinary course of business;

   b) In the process of production for such sale; or

   c) In the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering 
of services.

In the case of Berhan bank inventories, definition (c) applies. IAS 2 Inventories contains the 
requirements on how to account for most types of inventory. The standard requires inventories to 
be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV) and outlines acceptable methods 
of determining cost, including specific identification (in some cases), first-in first-out (FIFO) and 
weighted average cost. The bank use weighted average cost method for measuring its inventories.

3.90 Employee Benefits    

The Bank operates various post-employment benefit schemes, including both defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans and other long-term employee benefits.    
(a) Defined Contribution Plan    

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is 
provided and recognised as personnel expenses in profit or loss. Prepaid contributions are recognised 
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

The Bank operates two defined contribution plans;

 i)   Pension scheme in line with the provisions of Ethiopian pension of private organisation 
employee’s proclamation 715/2011.  Funding under the scheme is 7% and 11% by employees and the 
Bank respectively;

 ii)  Provident fund contribution, funding under this scheme is 1% by the Bank;

Both schemes are based on the employees’ salary. Employer’s contributions to this scheme are 
charged to profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they relate. 
(b) Defined Benefit Plan    

The Banks’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by 
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, 
discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Bank, the 
recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value 
of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the 
return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), 
are recognised immediately in OCI. The Bank determines the net interest expense (income) on the 
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net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure 
the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit 
liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the 
period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses 
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in personnel expenses in profit or loss.   
 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit 
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss. The Bank recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the 
settlement occurs.    
(c) Other Long-term Employee Benefits    

The Banks’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit 
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit 
is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.    
(d) Termination Benefits    

Termination benefits are payable to employees when employment is terminated by the Bank before 
the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits.    
(e) Short-term Employee Benefits    

The Bank recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation such as bonus payments.

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.”    
(f) Defined Benefits Liabilities    

According to IAS 19, employee benefit liability and expense shall be recognized in the period in which 
the employee gives service and should be valued. 

Accounting for defined benefit plans involves the following steps:

   Using an actuarial technique, the projected unit credit method, to make a reliable estimate 
of the ultimate cost to the entity of the benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods. This requires an entity to determine how much benefit is 
attributable to the current and prior periods and to make estimates (actuarial assumptions) about 
demographic variables (such as employee turnover and mortality) and financial variables (such as 
future increases in salaries and medical costs) that will affect the cost of the benefit. 

   Discounting that benefit in order to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
and the current service cost because they may be settled many years after the employees render 
the related service.

   Determining amounts to be recognized in profit or loss: current service cost any past service cost 
and gain or loss on settlement. 
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   Recognize the net defined benefit liability (asset) in the statement of financial position. This means 
that Berhan bank’s severance pay to its employees shall be recognized earlier than the actual 
payment. The benefits valued are the statutory severance benefits in Ethiopia, which provides a 
promised lump sum as a multiple of final weeks’ average daily wages for each year of service to 
employees on leaving the bank after a minimum of five years’ service and a retirement gratuity 
which pays a fixed multiple of salary on retirement (three months’ salary for managerial staff and 
two months’ salary for non-managerial staff).    

3.10  Provisions    

Provisions are recognised when there  is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When 
the Bank expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in income statement net of any 
reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as other operating expenses.

3.11 Income Taxation    
(a) Current Income Tax    

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in Ethiopia. Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities.
(b) Deferred Tax    

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities 
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or 
the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
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income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset when they arise in the same tax reporting group and 
where there is both the legal right and the intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.  

3.12  Structure of Share Capital    

Authorised Share Capital = the maximum value of securities that the bank can legally issue.

Issued Shares = the total of the bank´s shares that are held by shareholders.

Outstanding Shares = are those issued shares.

Ordinary Shares = any shares that are not preferred shares and do not have any predetermined 
dividend amounts. An ordinary share represents equity ownership in a company and entitles the 
owner to a vote in matters put before shareholders in proportion to their percentage ownership in 
the bank.

3.13  Fair value measurement    

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:

   In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

   In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described in Note 6.7.

4 Credit Impairment    

The Banks’s expected credit loss (ECL) calculations are outputs of complex models with a number 
of underlying assumptions. The significant judgements in determining expected credit loss include:

  The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk; and

  Development of expected credit loss models, including the choice of inputs relating to 
macroeconomic variables

The calculation of credit impairment provisions also involves expert credit judgement to be applied 
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by the credit risk management team based upon counterparty information they receive from various 
sources, including external market information.

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, which have the significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

i) Classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets are 
held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the 
principal amount outstanding,

ii) Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, 

iii) Determining methodology for incorporating forward-looking information (FLI) into 
measurement of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) and,

iv) Selection and approval of models used to measure Expected Credit Loss (ECL)
a) Impairment    

At each reporting date, the Bank shall assess whether there is objective evidence that financial assets 
(except equity investments), other than those carried at FVTPL, are impaired.

The Bank shall recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial 
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on the 
following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:–

•	 Financial assets that are debt instruments;

•	 Lease receivables;

•	 Financial guarantee contracts issued; and

•	 Letters of credit
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for 
which they are measured as 12-month ECL:

   Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; 
and

   Other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not 
increased significantly since their initial recognition. 

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument 
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 
12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’.

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 
financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not 
credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’.
b) Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

   Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of 
all cash shortfalls (i.e. The difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 
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with the contract and the cash flows that the bank expects to receive);

   Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

   Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual 
cash flows that are due to the bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that 
the bank expects to receive; and

   Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any 
amounts that the bank expects to recover.

Expected credit losses are computed as unbiased, probability-weighted amounts which are determined 
by evaluating a range of reasonably possible outcomes, the time value of money, and considering all 
reasonable and supportable information, including that which is forward-looking.

For material portfolios, the estimate of expected cash shortfalls is determined by multiplying the 
probability of default (PD) with the loss given default (LGD) with the expected exposure at the time 
of default (EAD). There may be multiple default events over the lifetime of an instrument.

Forward-looking economic assumptions are incorporated into the PD, LGD and EAD where relevant 
and where they influence credit risk, such as GDP growth rates, interest rates, house price indices 
and commodity prices, among others. 

The period over which cash shortfalls are determined is generally limited to the maximum contractual 
period for which the Bank is exposed to credit risk. However, for certain revolving credit facilities, 
which include overdrafts, the Bank’s exposure to credit risk is not limited to the contractual period. 
For these instruments, the Bank estimates an appropriate life based on the period that the Bank 
is exposed to credit risk, which includes the effect of credit risk management actions such as the 
withdrawal of undrawn facilities.

For credit-impaired financial instruments, the estimate of cash shortfalls may require the use of 
expert credit judgement.

The estimate of expected cash shortfalls on a collateralized financial instrument reflects the amount 
and timing of cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the collateral less the costs of obtaining 
and selling the collateral, regardless of whether foreclosure is deemed probable.
c) Recognition of ECL    
12 months expected credit losses (stage 1)

Expected credit losses are recognised at the time of initial recognition of a financial instrument 
and represent the lifetime cash shortfalls arising from possible default events up to 12 months into 
the future from the balance sheet date. Expected credit losses continue to be determined on this 
basis until there is either a significant increase in the credit risk of an instrument or the instrument 
becomes credit impaired. If an instrument is no longer considered to exhibit a significant increase in 
credit risk, expected credit losses will revert to being determined on a 12-month basis.”  
Significant increase in credit risk (stage 2)

If a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition, 
an expected credit loss provision is recognised for default events that may occur over the lifetime of 
the asset.
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Significant increase in credit risk is assessed by comparing the risk of default of an exposure at the 
reporting date to the risk of default at origination (after taking into account the passage of time). 
Significant does not mean statistically significant nor is it assessed in the context of changes in 
expected credit loss. Whether a change in the risk of default is significant or not is assessed using a 
number of quantitative and qualitative factors, the weight of which depends on the type of product 
and counterparty. Financial assets that are 30 or more days past due and not credit-impaired will 
always be considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.  

Quantitative factors include an assessment of whether there has been significant increase in the 
forward-looking probability of default (PD) since origination. A forward-looking PD is one that is 
adjusted for future economic conditions to the extent that these are correlated to changes in credit 
risk. We compare the residual lifetime PD at the balance sheet date to the residual lifetime PD that was 
expected at the time of origination for the same point in the term structure and determine whether 
both the absolute and relative change between the two exceeds predetermined thresholds. To the 
extent that the differences between the measures of default outlined exceed the defined thresholds, 
the instrument is considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk. Qualitative 
factors assessed include those linked to current credit risk management processes, such as lending 
placed on non-purely precautionary early alert (and subject to closer monitoring). 
Credit-impaired (or defaulted) exposures (stage 3)

Financial assets that are credit-impaired (or in default) represent those that are at least 90 days past 
due in respect of principal and/or interest. Financial assets are also considered to be credit-impaired 
where the obligors are unlikely to pay on the occurrence of one or more observable events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset. It may not be possible to 
identify a single discrete event but instead the combined effect of several events may cause financial 
assets to become credit-impaired.”    

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

   Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower

   Breach of contract such as default or a past due event

   For economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, the 
lenders of the borrower have granted the borrower concession/s that lenders would not 
otherwise consider. This would include forbearance actions.

   Pending or actual bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation to avoid or delay discharge of 
the borrower’s obligation/s

   The disappearance of an active market for the applicable financial asset due to financial 
difficulties of the borrower

   Purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects incurred credit 
losses

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition shall be 
considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual 
cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a 
retail loan that is overdue for 90 days or more shall be considered credit-impaired even when the 
regulatory definition of default is different. 
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d) Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position   

Loss allowances for ECL shall be presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

•	 For financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying 
amount of the assets; 

•	 for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; 

•	 Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and 
the Bank cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from 
those on the drawn component: the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both 
components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying 
amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of 
the drawn component is presented as a provision; and 

•	 For debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement 
of financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. 
However, the loss allowance shall be disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve. 

 e) Restructured financial assets     

Where the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is 
replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then the Bank shall assess 
whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:

  -> If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 
expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash 
shortfalls from the existing asset 

  -> If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected 
fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the 
time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing 
financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date 
using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 

5 Contingent liabilities and commitments    

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be 
confirmed only by uncertain future events or present obligations arising from past events that are 
not recognised because either an outflow of economic benefits is not probable or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are not recognised but information 
about them is disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow of economic benefits in settlement is 
remote.

Where the Bank undertakes to make a payment on behalf of its customers for guarantees issued 
such as for performance bonds or as irrevocable letters of credit as part of the Banks’s Transaction 
Banking business, for which an obligation to make a payment has not arisen at the reporting date, 
those are included in these financial statements as contingent liabilities.

Other contingent liabilities primarily include revocable letters of credit and bonds issued on behalf of 
customers to customs officials, for bids or offers and as shipping guarantees.

Commitments are where the Bank has confirmed its intention to provide funds to a customer or on 
behalf of a customer in the form of loans, overdrafts, future guarantees, whether cancellable or not, 
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or letters of credit, and the Bank has not made payments at the balance sheet date; those instruments 
are included in these financial statement as commitments. Commitments and contingent liabilities 
are generally considered on demand as the Bank may have to honour them, or client may draw down 
at any time.

Capital commitments are contractual commitments the Bank has entered into to purchase non-
financial assets.    

6 Financial Risk Management       

6.1 Introduction       

Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities, but is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. Risk Management provides 
a comprehensive and dynamic framework for identifying, measuring, monitoring and managing 
financial and non-financial risks. When the quantitative data disclosed at the reporting date is 
not representative of the Bank’s exposure to risk during the period, further information that is 
representative must be assisted in qualitative disclosures. This process of risk management is critical 
to the Bank’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk 
exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Bank is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. It is also subject to country risk and various operating risks.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the 
environment, technology and industry. The Bank’s policy is to monitor those business risks through 
the Bank’s strategic planning process.       

6.1.1  Risk Management Structure       

The Bank’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Bank’s risk management framework. The Board of Directors has established the Bank Asset and 
Liability Management Committee (ALCO), which is responsible for approving and monitoring Bank 
risk management policies.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 
Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

The risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Bank’s activities. The Bank, through its training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Bank Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Bank’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Bank Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role 
by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and adhoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Bank Audit Committee.

6.1.2 Risk Measurement and Reporting Systems     

The Bank uses international standards of measurements and practices as well as the NBE Directives, 
guidelines and their derivatives to assess credit, liquidity, market and operational risks. The Bank 
also uses its own internal policies and procedures to assess risks.   
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6.1.3 Risk Mitigation       

Risk controls and mitigants, identified and approved for the Bank, are documented for existing and 
new processes and systems. The adequacy of these mitigants is tested on a periodic basis through 
administration of control self-assessment questionnaires, using an operational risk management 
tool which requires risk owners to confirm the effectiveness of established controls. These are 
subsequently audited as part of the review process.     

6.2 Financial Instruments by Category       

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 
managed and its contractual cash flows.

Financial instruments are classified in the statement of financial position in accordance with their 
legal form and substance.        

The Bank’s classification of its financial assets is summarised in the table below: 

 30 June 2025

Notes
FVOCI

Birr’000

Amortized 
Cost

Birr’000

Total

Birr’000
     

Cash and Balances with Banks 17a - 7,323,476 7,323,476
Loans and Advances to Customers 18 - 34,527,985 34,527,985
Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 19b - 866,669 866,669
Investment Securities
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI: 19b 608,049 - 608,049
           Financial Assets at amortized cost: 19a - 6,348,801 6,348,801
Other Assets 20 - 2,897,297 2,897,297

Total Financial Assets 608,049 51,964,228 52,572,277

30 June 2024 Notes
FVOCI

Birr’000

Amor-
tized Cost
Birr’000

Total
Birr’000

    
Cash and Balances with Banks 17a - 4,839,915 4,839,915
Loans and Advances to Customers 18 - 29,202,255 29,202,255
Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 19b - 937,387 937,387
Investment Securities  
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI: 19b 460,152 - 460,152
           Financial Assets at amortized cost: 19a - 3,604,270 3,604,270
Other Assets 20 - 1,550,695 1,550,695
  
Total Financial Assets  460,152 40,134,522 40,594,674

6.3 Credit Risk       

Credit risk is the most important risk for the Bank’s business defined as current or future risk on the 
financial result and capital arising from a counter party’s failure to meet the terms of any contract 
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with the Bank or otherwise fail to perform as agreed. The exposure to this risk arises principally 
from retail and corporate lending activities, as well as activities related to off-balance sheet financial 
instruments (loan commitments, Letter of Guarantees and Letter of Credit). 

Exposure to credit risk is managed through periodic analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to determine their capacity to meet principal and interest thereon, and restructuring 
such limits as appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated, in part, by obtaining collateral, 
commercial and personal guarantees.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk 
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to term of the financial instrument 
and economic sectors.

The National Bank of Ethiopia (NBE) sets credit risk limit for a single borrower, one related party 
and all related parties to not exceed 25%, 15% and 35% of Bank’s total capital amount as of the 
reporting quarterly period respectively.

Credit management is conducted as per the risk management policy and guideline approved by the 
board of directors and the Risk Management Committees. Such policies are reviewed and modified 
periodically based on changes and expectations of the markets where the Bank operates, regulations, 
and other factors.

Boards of Directors are regularly informed of the credit risk that the Bank is exposed to. The 
Bank has an internal system of classification of customers whose main aim is determining their 
creditworthiness and evaluation of the acceptable level of credit risk in starting lending.

Classification of customers to which the Bank is exposed are reviewed at least annually. The Bank has 
implemented a system of early warning signals in order to timely identify any deterioration in the 
creditworthiness of the client and take appropriate action to mitigate credit risk.

The Bank employs a range of practices to mitigate credit risk. Common practice is accepting suitable 
collateral for approved loans. The main collateral types for loans and other credit exposures are:

   - Mortgages over residential properties;

   - Charges over business assets such as premises and inventory;

   - Charges over financial instruments such as equity securities;

   - Pledges over movables, such as cars, equipment and other,

The Bank monitors compliance with the legally and internally established limits and controls 
concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk limits towards different types of borrowers, industry sectors 
and type of collateral.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted subject 
to at least an annual review. In addition, the exposure concentration risk by sectors and activities is 
regularly monitored on the basis of set limits.

6.3.1 Management of Credit Risk       

The Board of Directors created the Bank Credit Committee for the oversight of credit risk. A separate 
Bank Credit department, reporting to the Bank Credit Committee, is responsible for managing the 
Bank’s credit risk, including the following:
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•	 Formulating credit policies, covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk 
grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory 
and statutory requirements.

•	 Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. 
•	 Reviewing and assessing credit risk: assesses all credit exposures, before facilities are 

committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review 
process.

•	 Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for 
loans and advances, financial guarantees and similar exposures).    
  

•	 Developing and maintaining the Bank’s processes for measuring ECL: This includes 
processes for:

o Initial approval, regular validation and back-testing of the models used;
o Determining and monitoring significant increase in credit risk; and
o Incorporation of forward-looking information (FLI).

•	 Regular reports on the credit quality of portfolios are provided, which may require 
appropriate corrective action to be taken. These include reports containing estimates of 
ECL allowances.

•	 Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice 
throughout the Bank in the management of credit risk.

In measuring credit risk of loans and receivables to various counterparties, the Bank considers the 
character and capacity of the obligor to pay or meet contractual obligations, current exposures to the 
counter party/obligor and its likely future developments, credit history of the counterparty/obligor; 
and the likely recovery ratio in case of default obligations-value of collateral and other ways out. Our 
credit exposure comprises wholesale and retail loans and advances which are developed to reflect 
the needs of our customers. The Bank’s policy is to lend principally on the basis of our customer’s 
repayment capacity through quantitative and qualitative evaluation. However we ensure that our 
loans are backed by collateral to reflect the risk of the obligors and the nature of the facility.

In the estimation of credit risk, the Bank estimate the following parameters:   
(a) Probability of Default (PD)       

The approach adopted in deriving the probability of default is the transition matrix approach. The 
transition matrix records all data about transitions from one state to the other, i.e. from pass to 
special mention all through to non-performing. The initial step in this approach is to split up the 
total value of loans outstanding in a given month into the various loan classification buckets. For the 
purpose of this Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model, the buckets to be used are:

•	 Pass
•	 Special mention
•	 Non-performing (Sub-standard, Doubtful and Loss) 
•	 Paid/ settled

An analysis will then be done to estimate the movement of loan amounts from one bucket to the 
next between two subsequent time periods. This results in a matrix that indicates the proportionate 
movement of loans across the buckets. This is done considering the loan values. An average of all 
transitions obtained over the 60 month period is then obtained to form the general transition matrix 
to be applied.
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The Bank uses computation of PD by amount       
(b) Loss Given Default (LGD)       

The loss given default (LGD) that measures how much (in form of a percentage) the bank is expected 
to lose in the event that default occurs from a customer. This is estimated by considering two scenarios 
in the Bank that is, using collateral in instances whether the customer has collateral against the 
debt instrument that they have undertaken with the Bank and/or an analysis of the historical cash 
collections after the default event, for cases that the debt instrument is not supported by any security.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters 
based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 
consider the structure, collateral, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is 
integral to the financial asset.  They are calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective 
interest rate as the discounting factor.
(c) Exposure at Default (EAD)       

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the 
current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the 
contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at 
the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that may be 
drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking 
forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed exposure when 
the financial guarantee becomes payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modelling 
the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical 
techniques. Its estimation includes the drawn amount and expected utilisation of the undrawn 
commitment at default.       
Significant increase in credit risk       

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that is 

relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 
information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical experience and expert credit assessment 

and including forward-looking information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred 
for an exposure by comparing:

•	 the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with
•	 the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of 

initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment 
expectations).

•	 the Bank uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk:

o quantitative test based on movement in PD;
o qualitative indicators; and
o a backstop of 30 days past due,
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Definition of default       

The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:

•	 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by 
the Bank to actions such as realising security (if any is held);

•	 the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Bank.
•	 Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised 

limit or been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding; or
•	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy 

due to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank considers indicators that are:

•	 qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant;
•	 quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same 

issuer to the Bank; and
•	 Based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.
•	 Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their 

significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.
Incorporation of forward-looking information      

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit 
risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement 

of ECL.

For each segment, the Bank formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median 
scenario, and two less likely scenarios, one upside and one downside. For each sector, the base case is 
aligned with the macroeconomic model’s information value output, a measure of the predictive power 
of the model, as well as base macroeconomic projections for identified macroeconomic variables 
for each sector. The upside and downside scenarios are based on a combination of a percentage 
error factor of each sector model as well as simulated optimistic and pessimistic macroeconomic 
projections based on a measure of historical macroeconomic volatilities.

External information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by an external and 
independent macroeconomic data body. This is in addition to industry – level, semi – annual NPL 
trends across statistically comparable sectors.

Periodically, the Bank carries out stress testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate its determination 
of the upside and downside representative scenarios. A comprehensive review is performed at 
least annually on the design of the scenarios by a panel of experts that advises the Bank’s senior 
management.

The Bank has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio 
of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between 
macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses.

The key drivers for credit risk for each of the Bank’s economic sectors is summarized below: 
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Sector Macroeconomic factor(s)
Cluster 1 M2, USD
Agriculture Nominal GDP, USD (PPP), % y-o-y
Consumer Loans STER, Economic Growth
Overdraft  
Cluster 2 Savings per capita, LCU
Domestic Trade Services Nominal GDP, LCU
Transport Transport & communications nominal GVA, LCU
Health Broad money (% of GDP) - Sovereign Scorecard
Merchandise Legacy STPR, Policy Continuity
Financial Services Legacy Long-Term Political Risk Index
Cluster 3 PR, Security Risk
Building and Construction M1, % of GDP
Hotel and Tourism Consumer price index inflation, 2010=100, eop
Manufacturing and Production Total employment
Industry M2, % of GDP
Real Estate Real GDP growth, % y-o-y
Housing and Construction Foreign reserves ex gold, EUR
Cluster 4 Political Risk Index
Export Lending rate, %, ave
Import Central bank policy rate, %, eop
Advance against Import Bills M1, USD

The economic scenarios used as at 30 June 2025 included the following key indicators for Ethiopia 
for the years 2023, 2024 and 2025 

Indicator 30-Jun-23 30-Jun-24 30-Jun-25
Consumer price index inflation, 2010=100, ave 763.82 959.96 1,131.52
Exports of goods and services, USD 10,163.16 9,435.45 7,190.30
Government domestic debt, LCU 1,711,834.87 2,095,039.47 2,425,405.02
Nominal GDP, LCU 7,328,259.08 9,765,072.05 12,050,982.17
Private final consumption, LCU 5,727,253.20 7,799,889.06 9,755,080.10
Total domestic demand, LCU 7,845,345.56 10,393,227.73 12,862,804.41
Savings, LCU 1,385,282.44 2,086,867.44 2,442,686.12
Population 124.94 128.11 131.32
Consumer price index inflation, 2010=100, eop 766.97 941.15 1,076.88
M1, LCU 518,230.82 583,000.41 659,488.15
M2, LCU 1,665,828.13 1,926,860.26 2,240,723.49
Current expenditure, LCU 548,963.66 616,751.84 790,988.13
Goods imports, USD 16,010.83 16,138.52 17,587.94
Goods exports, USD 3,711.59 3,672.11 4,361.86
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Current account balance, USD (4,970,521,099.44) (4,599,280,813.34) (4,141,870,833.33)
Import cover months 0.63 0.88 1.35
Total household spending, LCU 5,529,948.12 7,514,793.45 9,371,209.76
Nominal GDP, USD 137,853.99 144,927.85 113,766.06
Real GDP, LCU (2010 prices) 1,042,657.89 1,112,745.44 1,189,776.91
Real GDP, USD (2010 prices) 72,358.56 77,222.51 82,568.35
Real GDP per capita, USD (2010 prices) 579.13 602.77 628.76
Nominal GDP, USD (PPP) 374,678.95 409,756.75 443,051.80
Private final consumption, USD 107,737.00 115,761.68 92,091.83
Private final consumption per capita, USD 862.29 903.59 701.28
Government final consumption, LCU 499,796.37 606,562.84 717,917.21
Government final consumption, USD 9,401.81 9,002.27 6,777.42
Exports of goods and services, LCU 540,269.49 635,749.74 761,652.05
Exports of goods and services per capita, USD 81.34 73.65 54.75
Imports of goods and services, LCU 1,174,311.47 1,330,983.64 1,573,370.11
Imports of goods and services, USD 22,090.31 19,753.73 14,853.24
Total domestic demand, USD 147,581.05 154,250.60 121,429.98
Total domestic demand per capita, USD 1,181.18 1,204.02 924.69
Unemployment, % of labour force, ave 3.49 3.37 3.22
Real effective exchange rate index 27.66 15.90 7.42
Total revenue, LCU 637,726.67 791,545.69 1,021,869.42
Total revenue, USD 11,996.46 11,747.69 9,646.85
Total expenditure, LCU 855,217.12 1,025,425.24 1,327,659.92
Total expenditure, USD 16,087.73 15,218.80 12,533.64
Current expenditure, USD 10,326.71 9,153.49 7,467.24
Budget balance, LCU (216,720,442,067.66) (233,713,193,754.65) (305,432,803,680.29)
Budget balance, USD (4,076,790,443.84) (3,468,643,288.24) (2,883,406,958.41)
Services imports, USD 7,541.96 7,895.97 8,468.47
Services exports, USD 7,195.79 7,756.70 8,609.65
Total reserves ex gold, USD 1,232.59 1,758.28 2,928.57
Total external debt stock, USD 31,935.96 37,352.61 43,600.93

Long-term external debt stock, USD 31,548.30 35,913.35 39,271.68
Public external debt stock, USD 30,446.77 34,659.41 39,271.68
Total government debt, USD 60,346.92 54,840.89 44,573.15
Total debt service, USD 1,775.59 1,954.54 2,507.64
M2, USD 124.94 128.11 131.32

Nominal GDP, USD (PPP), % y-o-y 124.94 128.11 131.32
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STER, Economic Growth 30,480.84 22,948.56 16,877.63
Savings per capita, LCU 11.51 9.32 8.12
Transport & communications nominal GVA, 
LCU 33.17 17.32 10.00

Broad money (% of GDP) - Sovereign Score-
card 0.01 0.02 0.02

PR, Security Risk 7,328,259.08 9,765,072.05 12,050,982.17
M1, % of GDP 278,272.35 356,111.53 484,703.56
M2, % of GDP 22.73 19.73 18.59

Real GDP growth, % y-o-y 79.07 78.85 78.54
Foreign reserves ex gold, EUR 7.07 5.97 5.47
Political Risk Index 766.97 941.15 1,076.88
Lending rate, %, ave 22.73 19.73 18.59
Central bank policy rate, %, eop 5.92 6.72 6.92
M1, USD 1,135.37 1,641.05 2,739.51

Predicted relationships between the key indicators and default rates on various portfolios of financial 
assets have been developed based on analysing semi – annual historical data over the past 7 years.

Summary of scenario weightings

Scenario Base Downturn 
(downside)

Optimistic (up-
side)

Cluster 1 73.33% 6.67% 20.00%
Cluster 2 73.33% 13.33% 13.33%
Cluster 3 66.67% 13.33% 20.00%
Cluster 4 66.67% 13.33% 20.00%

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such 
as the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are 
not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no adjustment have been made the ECL for such 
factors. This is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on an annual basis  
Modified financial assets       

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing 
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit 
deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised 
and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out.

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, 
the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison 
of its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with the remaining 
lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original contractual terms.

When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognised and allocated to Stage 1 
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(assuming it is not credit-impaired at that time).

The Bank renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance 
activities’) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Bank’s 
forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default 
on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable 
efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the 
revised terms.

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments 
and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the 
forbearance policy. The Bank Credit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities.

For financial assets modified as part of the Bank’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects 
whether the modification has improved or restored the Bank’s ability to collect interest and principal 
and the Bank’s previous experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this process, the Bank 
evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms and considers 
various behavioural indicators.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an 
expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired. A customer 
needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure 
is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in default or the PD is considered to have decreased 
such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to Stage 1.  
Generating the term structure of PD        

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for 
exposures. The Bank collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures by 
type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. 

The Bank employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate estimates of the 
remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage 
of time. 
Measurement of ECL       

Expected credit losses are determined for all financial debt instruments that are classified at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, undrawn commitments and 
financial guarantees.

An expected credit loss represents the present value of expected cash shortfalls over the residual term 
of a financial asset, undrawn commitment or financial guarantee.

A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the contractual 
terms of the instrument and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive over the contractual life 
of the instrument.”       

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

•	 Probability of Default (PD);
•	 Loss Given Default (LGD); and
•	 Exposure at Default (EAD).
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ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime 
ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed above under the heading ‘Generating the term 
structure of PD’.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters 
based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 
consider the structure, collateral, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is 
integral to the financial asset.       

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the 
current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the 
contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at 
the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that may be 
drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking 
forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed exposure when 
the financial guarantee becomes payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modelling 
the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical 
techniques.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, 
the Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period 
(including any borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit 
risk management purposes, the Bank considers a longer period. 

The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Bank has the right to require 
repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

However, for overdrafts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Bank 
measures ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Bank’s contractual 
ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Bank’s exposure 
to credit losses to the contractual notice period. These facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment 
structure and are managed on a collective basis. The Bank can cancel them with immediate effect 
but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day management, but only when the 
Bank becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated 
taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Bank expects to take, and that serve 
to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits, cancellation of the facility and/or turning the 
outstanding balance into a loan with fixed repayment terms. 

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 
grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include:

•	 instrument type;
•	 credit risk grading;
•	 collateral type;
•	 LTV ratio for retail mortgages(the ratio of the gross amount of the loan – or the amount 

committed for loan commitments – to the value of the collateral);
•	 date of initial recognition;
•	 remaining term to maturity; and
•	 industry
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The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain 
appropriately homogeneous.

For portfolios in respect of which the Bank has limited historical data, external benchmark information 
is used to supplement the internally available data.     
Loans with renegotiated terms       

Loans with renegotiated terms are defined as loans that have been restructured due to a deterioration 
in the borrower’s financial position, for which the Bank has made concessions by agreeing to terms 
and conditions that are more favourable for the borrower than the Bank had provided initially 
and that it would not otherwise consider. A loan continues to be presented as part of loans with 
renegotiated terms until maturity, early repayment or write-off.   
Loans that were past due but not impaired      

Loans that were ‘past due but not impaired’ are those for which contractual interest or principal 
payments were past due but the Bank believed that impairment was not appropriate on the basis of 
the level of security or collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Bank.

6.3.2 Credit Related Commitment Risks 

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of bank guarantees 
and property. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of 
borrowing, and generally updated when a loan is individually assessed as impaired.   

6.3.3 Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk before Collateral Held or Credit 
Enhancements 

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024 respectively, is 
represented by the net carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   
Cash and Balances with Banks             7,323,476 4,839,915 
Loans and Advances to Customers            34,527,985 29,202,255 
Investment Securities   
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI:               608,049 460,152 
           Financial Assets at amortized cost:             6,348,801 3,604,270 
Other Assets            2,897,297 1,550,695 
       51,705,608 39,657,287 
Credit Risk Exposures Relating to Off balance 
Sheets :  

 

Loan commitments                310,000 250,000 
Guarantees issued and outstanding           13,223,743 6,644,301 
Letter of credit and other credit related obligations             1,939,037 100,495 
           15,472,780 6,994,796 
Total maximum exposure        67,178,387 46,652,083 
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 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   
Pass 33,229,348 28,382,110 
Special mention                  

452,345 
                   434,237 

Substandard                  
281,936 

                    
223,351 

Doubtful                  397,553                   228,670 
Loss               1,612,758                  1,550,121 
 35,973,941          30,818,490 

Gross loans and advances to customers per sector is analysed as follows:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Agriculture 130,128 152,534
Transport 458,255 457,443
Hotel and Tourism 463,718 458,343
Health and Education Service 837,151 279,992
Import 4,505,287 3,285,482
Export 3,949,405 2,543,950
Manufacturing 4,964,293 3,708,946
Domestic trade and services 7,159,306 7,129,317
Building and construction 7,095,054 6,060,526
Personal loan 3,647,405 3,545,660
Staff loan 2,763,941 3,196,297
 35,973,941 30,818,490 

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure of the Bank as at the reporting 
dates without taking in to account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. The 
exposures are based on gross carrying amounts.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and effectively manage the credit risk 
exposure in the Bank’s loan and advances portfolio.
6.3.6 Credit Quality Analysis      

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at 
amortised cost and FVOCI debt investments. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the 
amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. 

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the 
amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively 
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In Birr’000 2025 2024
Loans and advances to 
customers at amortised 
cost

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Total
Stage 1 – Pass 33,229,348 - - 33,229,348 28,382,110
Stage 2 – Special mention - 452,345 - 452,345 434,237

Stage 3 - Non performing - - 2,292,248 2,292,248 2,002,143
Total gross exposure 33,229,348 452,345 2,292,248 35,973,941 30,818,490
Loss allowance (200,841) (1,140) (695,042) (897,022) (919,550)
Interest in suspense - - (120,292) (120,292) (84,462)
Staff Loan Market Interest Adjust-
ment

(428,642) - - (428,642) (612,223)

 Net carrying amount 32,599,865 451,205 1,476,914 34,527,985 29,202,255

In Birr’000 2025

Other financial assets (debt 
instruments)   Gross 

exposure 
 Loss 

allowance 

 Net 
carrying 
amount 

Cash and balances with banks  12 Month ECL 4,933,263 (231) 4,933,032
Investment securities (debt 
instruments)  12 Month ECL 6,349,118 (317) 6,348,801

Other receivables and financial 
assets  Lifetime ECL 2,523,877 (288,584) 2,235,293

Totals  13,806,258 (289,132) 13,517,126

In Birr’000 2024 2023
Loans and advances to 
customers at amortised 
cost

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

Stage 1 – Pass 28,382,110 - - 28,382,110 26,018,430
Stage 2 – Special mention - 434,237 - 434,237 712,583

Stage 3 - Non performing - - 2,002,143 2,002,143 2,160,032
Total gross exposure 28,382,110 434,237 2,002,143 30,818,490 28,891,045
Loss allowance (219,151) (1,357) (699,042) (919,550) (1,063,757)
Interest in suspense - - (84,462) (84,462) (69,921)
Staff Loan Market Interest 
Adjustment (612,223) - - (612,223) (411,309)

 Net carrying amount 27,550,736 432,880 1,218,639 29,202,255 27,346,057
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In Birr’000 2024
Other financial assets 
(debt instruments)   Gross 

exposure 
 Loss 

allowance 
 Net carrying 

amount 
Cash and balances with banks  12 Month ECL 3,108,343 (153) 3,108,190
Investment securities (debt 
instruments)  12 Month ECL 3,604,450 (180) 3,604,270

Other receivables and financial 
assets  Lifetime ECL 1,062,305 (294,259) 768,046

Totals  7,775,098 (294,592) 7,480,506

ECL Movement     

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Totals
ECL at 1 July 2024 219,151 1,357 699,042 919,550
Transfer to Stage 1 8,786 (635) (8,150) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (809) 3,135 (2,326) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (4,159) (135) 4,294 -
Net remeasurement (162,627) 291 133,010 (29,325)
ECL on new loans 186,685 430 15,109 202,223
ECL on derecognised loans (46,186) (3,303) (145,936) (195,426)
ECL at 30 June 2025 200,841 1,140 695,042 897,023

 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Totals
ECL at 1 July 2023 194,483 4,364 864,911 1,063,757
Transfer to Stage 1 146,914 (2,406) (144,508) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (564) 712 (148) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (1,860) (683) 2,543 -
Net remeasurement (147,316) 217 (24,720) (171,819)
ECL on new loans 178,321 251 4,224 182,796
ECL on derecognised loans (150,826) (1,098) (3,259) (155,184)
ECL at 30 June 2024 219,151 1,357 699,042 919,550

(a) Credit quality of cash and cash equivalents

The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments  that were neither past 
due nor impaired as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024 have been classified as  non-rated as there 
are no credit rating agencies in Ethiopia.        
(b) Credit quality of loans and advances

The nonperforming (NPL) ratio of the bank is 6% as of June 30, 2025, by considering both principal 
and interest. But the NPL ratio of the bank is 4.78% when considering the total portfolio against the 
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principal amount. 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
30 June 2025 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Agriculture 118,271 - 11,856 130,128
Transport 385,296 1,428 71,531 458,255
Hotel and tourism 435,017 3,464 25,236 463,718
Health and Education Service 822,503 12,991 1,658 837,151
Import 4,433,050 36,968 35,269 4,505,287
Export 3,740,019 5,188 204,197 3,949,405
Manufacturing 4,902,785 18,564 42,943 4,964,293
Domestic trade and services 6,072,137 257,118 830,051 7,159,306
Building and construction 6,098,407 17,085 979,561 7,095,054
Personal loans 3,560,973 45,410 41,022 3,647,405
Staff loan 2,660,889 54,130 48,922 2,763,941
Gross 33,229,348 452,345 2,292,248 35,973,941
Less: 
Impairment allowance  (note 
16a) (200,841) (1,140) (695,042) (897,022)
Interest in suspense - - (120,292) (120,292)
Staff Loan Market Interest 
Adjustment (428,642) - - (428,642)
Net Loans and Advance 32,599,865 451,205 1,476,914 34,527,985

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
30 June 2024 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
     
Agriculture 141,221 3,197 8,116 152,534
Transport 372,224 - 85,218 457,443
Hotel and tourism 430,605 10,683 17,056 458,343
Health and Education Service 269,585 - 10,407 279,992
Import 3,214,838 12,631 58,013 3,285,482
Export 2,418,570 20,298 105,082 2,543,950
Manufacturing 3,566,312 71,840 70,794 3,708,946
Domestic trade and services 6,326,398 123,544 679,374 7,129,317
Building and construction 5,108,750 42,125 909,651 6,060,526
Personal loans 3,449,555 70,703 25,402 3,545,660
Staff loan 3,084,053 79,215 33,028 3,196,297
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Gross 28,382,110 434,237 2,002,143 30,818,490
Less: 
Impairment allowance  (note 
18a) (219,151) (1,357) (699,042) (919,550)
Interest in suspense - - (84,462) (84,462)
Staff Loan Market Interest 
Adjustment (612,223) - - (612,223)

Net Loans and Advance 27,550,736 432,880 1,218,639 29,202,255

(i) Loans and advances - neither past due nor impaired    
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired 
can be assessed by reference to the customer’s ability to pay based on loss experience.  Loans and 
advances in this category are loans past due for less than 30 (thirty) days.

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Neither past due nor impaired 33,229,348 28,382,110
Collective impairment (200,841) (219,151)
Loan and advances (net) 33,028,507 28,162,959

(ii) Loans and advances - past due but not impaired
 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Past due up to 30 days                    452,345                434,237 
Collective impairment                       (1,140)                   (1,357)
Loan and advances (net)                  451,205            432,880 

(iii) Loans and advances - Impaired loans

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Impaired loans                2,292,248                  2,002,143 
Individual impairment                  (695,042)                   (699,042)
Net Carrying Amount              1,597,206                1,303,101 

(iv)  Allowance for loan impairment

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
IFRS Loan impairment charge                       897,022 919,550 

Total allowance for impairment                     897,022 919,550 
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6.3.7 Statement of Prudential Adjustments      

Provisions under prudential guidelines are determined using the time based provisioning prescribed 
by the National Bank of Ethiopia (NBE) Directives. This is at variance with the expected credit loss 
model required by IFRS 9. As a result of the differences in the methodology/provision, there will be 
variances in the impairments allowances required under the two methodologies.

The proclamation ‘Financial Reporting Proclamation No.847/2014 stipulates that Banks would be 
required to make provisions for loans as prescribed in the relevant IFRS Standards when IFRS is 
adopted.

However, Banks would be required to comply with the following:

(a) Provisions for loans recognised in the income statement should be determined based on the 
requirements of IFRS. However, the IFRS provision should be compared with provisions determined 
under the NBE directives and the expected impact/changes in Regulatory Risk Reserve should be 
treated as follows:

>If prudential provisions is greater than IFRS provisions; the excess provisions resulting should be 
transferred from Retained Earnings account to Regulatory Risk Reserve Account.

>If prudential provisions is less than IFRS provisions; the excess provision is charged to the statement 
of profit or loss. The cumulative balance in the regulatory risk reserve is thereafter reversed to the 
Retained Earnings account.

(b) The non-distributable reserve should be classified under Tier 1 as part of the core capital. 
 
  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   

Total impairment based on IFRS 897,022 919,550
Total impairment based on NBE Directives (1,075,249) (991,647)
Excess(Shortage) Prudential Adjustments (178,227) (72,097)

6.3.8 Credit concentrations       
The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by economic sector. An analysis of concentrations 
of credit risk at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024. The Bank concentrates all its financial assets in 
Ethiopia.

30 June 2025 

  

 Public 
Enterprise

Birr’000

 Cooperative
Birr’000

  Private 
Birr’000

Association 
Birr’000

     
Short term Investments - - - -
Loans and advances - 72,049 35,901,925 -
Investment securities 6,349,118 - - -
Investment in Equity - - 608,049 -
Loan commitments - - 310,000 -
 6,349,118 72,049 36,819,974 -



78 Annual Report 2024/25Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

30 June 2024  Public 
Enterprise

Birr’000
 Cooperative

Birr’000
  Private 

Birr’000

  
Association 

Birr’000
Short term Investments - - - -
Loans and advances - 50,303 30,768,187 -
Investment securities 3,604,450 - - -
Investment in Equity - - 460,152 -
Loan commitments - - 250,000 -
 3,604,450 50,303 31,478,339 -

6.3.9 Nature of security in respect of loans and advances 

 30 June 2025
 Building 

Birr’000

 Building 
&Vehicle 

Birr’000

 Share 
Certificate 

Birr’000

 Vehicle 

Birr’000

 Others 

Birr’000
      

Agriculture 113,444 3,360 - 13,324 -
Building, Construction & 
Real Estate

4,239,554 462,636 - 572,686 1,820,177

Domestic Trade and Ser-
vices

4,795,547 1,245,870 21,383 913,134 183,372

Export 2,448,894 211,348 235,172 390,041 663,950
Health & Education 673,353 - 35,427 128,370 -
Hotel And Tourism 424,209 15,626 - 23,882 -
Import 3,303,668 318,078 193,636 457,447 232,458
Manufacturing 2,272,393 517,145 3,933 196,589 1,974,232
Personal 2,903,561 5,344 3,123 593,420 141,957
Transport & Communica-
tion

38,674 31,783 962 386,836 -

Other(Staff) 2,284,586 - - 170,834 308,521
 23,497,884 2,811,191 493,636 3,846,563 5,324,667

  Building 
 Building 
&Vehicle 

 Share 
Certificate  Vehicle  Others 

30 June 2024 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
  

    

Agriculture 92,012 4,434 43,577 10,723 1,789
Building, Construction & 
Real Estate

3,882,473 371,035 1,382 555,177 1,250,460

Domestic Trade and Services 5,422,107 700,017 23,171 907,703 73,103
Export 1,174,338 206,822 225,917 362,550 574,323
Health & Education 265,818 - - 14,174 -
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Hotel And Tourism 415,999 18,052 - 24,292 -
Import 2,379,846 186,052 273,580 283,659 162,345
Manufacturing 2,661,422 238,697 8,617 108,135 692,075
Personal 2,793,144 5,630 6,534 572,718 167,634
Transport & Communication 60,687 26,688 - 369,109 959
Other(Staff) 2,321,412 2,131 - 189,203 683,551
 21,469,258 1,759,558 582,778 3,397,442 3,606,239

6.3.10 Collateral held and their financial effect      
The general creditworthiness of a customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality 
of a loan extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the Bank generally 
requests that borrowers provide it. Staff loans are secured to the extent of the employee’s continued 
employment in the Bank and against the buildings or vehicles purchased.

The Bank may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, liens and guarantees. The 
Bank does not sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the owner of the collateral. 
In addition to the Bank’s focus on creditworthiness, the Bank aligns with its credit policy guide to 
periodically update the validation of collaterals held against all loans to customers. 

The fair value of the collaterals are based on the last revaluations carried out by the Bank’s in-house 
engineers. The valuation technique adopted for properties is in line with the Bank’s valuation manual 
and the revalued amount is similar to fair values of properties with similar size and location.

The fair value of collaterals other than properties such as share certificates, cash, NBE bills etc.  as 
disclosed at the carrying amount as management is of the opinion that the cost of the process of 
establishing the fair value of the collateral exceeds benefits accruable from the exercise.   

At 30 June 2025, the net carrying amount of credit-impaired loans and advances to customers 
amounted to ETB1.62 billion and the value of identifiable collateral held against those loans and 
advances amounted to ETB 2.4 billion. For each loan, the value of disclosed collateral is capped at 
the nominal amount of the loan that it is held against.      

6.4 Liquidity Risk       

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank cannot meet its maturing obligations when they become due, at 
reasonable cost and in a timely manner. Liquidity risk management in the Bank is solely determined 
by Asset Liability Management Committee, which bears the overall responsibility for liquidity risk. 
The main objective of the Bank’s liquidity risk framework is to maintain sufficient liquidity in order 
to ensure that we meet our maturing obligations.       

6.4.1 Management of Liquidity Risk       

Cash flow forecasting is performed by Treasury and Investment Department. The department 
monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational 
needs. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies that sufficient cash is maintained and that sufficient 
funding is available to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risk damage to the Bank’s reputation.   
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6.4.2 Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities      

The table below analyses the Bank’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The 
cash flows presented are the undiscounted amounts to be settled in future.

 
0 - 30 
days

31 - 90 
days

91 - 180 
days

181 - 365 
days Over 1 year Total

 30 June 2025 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
       
Deposits from customers 4,000,862 889,080 1,333,621 1,778,161 36,452,296 44,454,019
Due to Banks & Other 
Institutions 287,348 - - - - 287,348

Current tax liabilities - - 448,597 - - 448,597
Margins held on letters 
of credit - 1,508,336 - - - 1,508,336

Provisions - 204,721 15,053 21,074 60,212 301,061
Retirement benefit 
obligations 971 1,942 2,913 3,884 184,490 194,200

Other liabilities 175,598 638,538 1,328,159 727,933 322,462 3,192,689
Deferred Tax Liabilities - - - - 32,489 32,489
Total financial liabilities 4,464,779 3,242,618 3,128,342 2,531,052 37,051,949 50,418,739
   

 
0 - 30 
days

31 - 90 
days

91 - 180 
days

181 - 365 
days Over 1 year Total

 30 June 2024 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
       

Deposits from customers 3,316,697 737,044 1,105,566 1,474,088 30,218,798 36,852,193
Due to Banks & Other 
Institutions 578,018 - - - - 578,018

Current tax liabilities - - 286,389 - - 286,389
Margins held on letters of 
credit - 567,992 - - - 567,992

Borrowings - - - - - -
Provisions - 170,018 12,501 17,502 50,005 250,027
Retirement benefit 
obligations 682 1,365 2,047 2,730 129,661 136,485

Other liabilities 58,845 213,982 445,083 243,940 108,061 1,069,912
Deferred Tax Liabilities - - - - 67,295 67,295
Total financial liabilities 3,954,243 1,690,401 1,851,586 1,738,259 30,573,820 39,808,311

6.5 Market Risk       

Market risk is defined as the risk of loss that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market risk factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
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equity prices, credit spreads and their volatilities. Market risk can arise in conjunction with trading 
and non-trading activities of a financial institutions. 

The Bank does not ordinarily engage in trading activities as there are no active markets in Ethiopia. 

6.5.1 Management of Market Risk       

The main objective of Market Risk Management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. Market risk is monitored by 
the risk management department regularly to identify any adverse movement in the underlying 
variables.       
(i) Interest Rate Risk       

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will be affected by changes in 
market interest rates. Borrowings obtained at variable rates give rise to interest rate risk. 

The Bank’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Bank’s 
obligations and financial assets with floating interest rates. The Bank is also exposed on fixed rate 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The Bank’s investment portfolio is comprised of treasury 
bills, Ethiopian government bonds, money market operation and cash deposits. 

The table below sets out information on the exposures to fixed and variable interest instruments.

30 June 2025 Fixed Floating
Non-interest 

bearing Total
Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 1,757,634 - 5,565,842 7,323,476
Loans and advances 34,182,705 - 345,280 34,527,985
Investment securities 6,348,801 - - 6,348,801
Total 42,289,140 - 5,911,122 48,200,262

30 June 2024 Fixed Floating Non-interest 
bearing Total

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Assets     
Cash and balances with banks 1,161,580 - 3,678,335 4,839,915
Loans and advances 28,910,232 - 292,023 29,202,255
Investment securities 3,604,270 - - 3,604,270
Total 33,676,082 - 3,970,358 37,646,440

(ii) Foreign Exchange Risk       

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to the changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Bank is exposed to exchange rate risks to the extent of balances and transactions denominated in 
a currency other than the Ethiopian Birr. The Bank’s foreign currency bank accounts act as a natural 
hedge for these transactions. Management has set up a policy to manage the Bank’s foreign exchange 
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risk against its functional currency.

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of 10% on equity and profit or loss 
arising from the Bank’s foreign denominated cash and bank balances.

The total foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities exposed to risk as at 30 June 2025 was 
Birr 1.06bill and 30 June 2024 Birr 145.6million.      

Foreign currency denominated balances   
  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cash and bank balances 2,597,748 310,819
Deposits/Liabilities 1,532,108 456,485
Net Foreign currency denominated balances 1,065,640 (145,666)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk      
 

The sensitivity analysis for currency rate risk shows how changes in the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market rates at the reporting date.

The sensitivity of the Bank’s earnings to fluctuations in exchange rates is reflected by varying the 
exchange rates at 15% and 5% as shown below:

  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
USD cash at Foreign and Cash Balances 2,597,748 310,819
15% appreciation of Dollar 389,662 46,623
5% Depreciation of Dollar (129,887) (15,541)
 259,775 31,082

         

6.6 Capital Management       

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by the 
National Bank of Ethiopia, safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, and to maintain a 
strong capital base  so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business.         
6.6.1 Capital Adequacy Ratio       

According to the Licensing & Supervision of Banking Business Directive No SBB/78/2021 of the 
National Bank of Ethiopia, the Bank has to maintain capital to risk weighted assets ratio of 8% at 
all times, the risk weighted assets being calculated as per the provisions of Directive No SBB/9/95 
issued on August 18, 1995.       

The capital adequacy ratio is the quotient of the capital base of the Bank and the Bank’s risk weighted 
asset base.       

Capital includes capital contribution, legal reserve and other reserves to be approved by the National 
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Bank of Ethiopia.

  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Capital   
Capital contribution 4,286,885 3,447,898
Share Premium 18,628 16,372
Legal reserve 1,677,626 1,153,737
Regulatory Risk Reserve 1,128,204 604,020
 7,111,344 5,222,027
Risk weighted assets
Risk weighted balance for on-balance sheet items 36,045,302 26,889,096

Credit equivalents for off-balance Sheet Items 8,002,363 3,949,158
Total risk weighted assets 44,047,665 30,838,254
 

Risk-weighted Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) 16% 17%

Minimum required capital 8% 8%

Excess 8% 9%
 
6.7 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

IFRS 13 requires an entity to classify measured or disclosed fair values according to a hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of observable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, which comprises of three levels as described below, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.
6.7.1 Valuation Models
IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable input reflect market data obtained from 
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) .This category includes 
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted 
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active, or other 
valuation technique in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market 
data.
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In conclusion, this category is for valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). This category includes all assets and liabilities for which the valuation technique includes 
inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the asset 
or liability’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for 
similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to 
reflect differences between the instruments.      
6.7.2 Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value - Fair value Hierarchy

The following table summarises the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting 
date by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised.  

30 June 2025
Gross Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Financial assets      
Cash & balances with banks 7,323,707 - 7,323,707 - 7,323,707
Loans and advances 35,076,919 - 35,076,919 - 35,076,919
Investment securities 6,491,781 - - 6,491,781 6,491,781
Total 48,892,407 - 42,400,626 6,491,781 48,892,407
      
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 44,454,019 - 44,454,019 - 44,454,019
Other liabilities 3,192,689 - 3,192,689 - 3,192,689
Total 47,646,708 - 47,646,708 - 47,646,708

            

30 June 2024
Gross Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Financial assets      
Cash and balances with 
banks 4,840,068 - 4,840,068 - 4,840,068
Loans and advances 29,898,940 - 29,898,940 - 29,898,940
Investment securities 3,702,604 - - 3,702,604 3,702,604
Total 38,441,612 - 34,739,007.96 3,702,604.00 38,441,611.96
 
Financial liabilities
Deposits from 
customers

36,852,193 - 36,852,193 -
36,852,193

Other liabilities 1,069,912 - 1,069,912 - 1,069,912
Total 37,922,105 - 37,922,105 - 37,922,105

6.7.3 Transfers between the Fair Value Hierarchy Categories
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During the reporting periods covered by these annual financial statements, there were no movements 
between levels as a result of significant inputs to the fair valuation process becoming observable or 
unobservable.       
6.8 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

There are no offsetting arrangements. Financial assets and liabilities are settled and disclosed on a 
gross basis. 

7 Interest Income

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Interest on loans and advances 5,363,807 4,707,404
Interest on investment securities 415,149 284,135
Interest on deposits due from banks 259,431 120,615
Interest on short term Securities 20,070 -
 6,058,457 5,112,154

8 Interest Expense

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Interest on Demand deposits (6,594) (15,027)
Interest on Saving deposits (1,289,693) (1,151,210)
Interest on Time deposits (570,549) (521,216)
Interest on borrowings from domestic banks (194,945) (66,728)
Interest expense – Lease (45,780) (42,336)
 (2,107,561) (1,796,517)

9 Fees and Commission Income

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Commission on letters of credit 305,328 164,607
Commission on CPOs, Cheques and FTs 1,933 1,365
Commission on guarantees 628,731 267,391
Fees Income 1,201,585 366,296
Commission on PO issuance 214,361 36,867
 2,351,938 836,526

 

Fee and commission expense :
Fee and commission Expense (264,096) (79,807)
 (264,096) (79,807)
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Net fees and commission income 2,087,842 756,719

10 Other Operating Income

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
 Other income  192,788 236,728
 Gain on foreign exchange  1,707,814 201,533
 1,900,602 438,261

11 Impairment losses on Financial Instruments

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

Loan Impairment Charge 22,528 144,207
Impairment Loss-Other Financial Assets (15,293) (77,291)

 7,235 66,916

12 Personnel Expenses

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   
Short term employee benefits :   
Salaries (1,379,710) (1,220,871)
Staff allowances (431,228) (357,324)
Overtime (23,111) (23,033)
Bonus (209,213) (174,152)
Training and Education (43,786) (21,295)
Leave Payment (15,731) (15,751)
Pension costs – Defined contribution plan (150,973) (133,539)
Provident Fund – Defined contribution plan (13,727) (12,140)
Other staff expenses (91,182) (83,404)
 (2,365,301) (2,041,509)
Long term employee benefits :

Defined benefit plans-Severance (42,002) (34,772)
 (2,407,303) (2,076,281)

13 Other Operating Expenses

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Utilities (21,526) (12,598)
Advertisement and promotions (25,384) (42,222)
Software Maintenance Fee (65,248) (43,049)
Sponsorship expenses (2,875) (3,742)
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Communication expense (32,227) (21,680)
Postage and stamps (569) (368)
Stationery and office expenses (44,094) (63,212)
Legal and professional fees (7,602) (3,002)
Audit fees (538) (538)
Repairs and maintenance (49,226) (28,877)
Travelling expenses (10,876) (16,881)
Donations (13,120) (132)
Insurance (135,884) (132,102)
Entertainment (7,068) (6,113)
Fuel and lubricant (2,979) (8,570)
Miscellaneous expenses (44,729) (32,399)
License fees (845) (845)
Director fees (1,225) (1,220)
Fines and penalty (2,239) (2,784)
Loss on foreign exchange (2,034,522) (135,746)

Write-off expense (22,628) -
Outsource Service expense (53,398) (33,238)
Loss on Revaluation or Disposal (2,941) (2,595)

Impairment Loss - Property (200) (30)
Inventory Write-Down Expense - (589)

Impairment Loss on Assets Held for 
Sale (170) (45)
 (2,582,113) (592,577)

Security Services of birr 33.3 mill, Electricity - Generator Fuel (birr 2.7 mill) and Short-SMS Charge 
(birr 5.6mill) reclassified from miscellaneous expenses to Outsource service expense, Utilities and 
Communication expense for the year 2024 respectively.
14 Company Income and Deferred Tax      
14a Reconciliation of effective tax to statutory tax     
 

The tax on the Bank’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the statutory income tax rate as follows: 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Current income tax   
Charge for the year: 450,326 287,553
Prior year (over)/ under provision - -
Deferred income tax/(credit) to profit 
or loss (34,806) 32,020

Total charge to profit or loss 415,521 319,573
Tax (credit) on other comprehensive 
income (114,882) (93,024)
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Total tax in statement of compre-
hensive income 300,639 226,549

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   
Profit before tax 2,511,079 1,507,785
Add :   Disallowed Expenses
Entertainment 7,068 6,113
Donation 120 132
Sponsorship 2,875 3,742
Penalty 2,239 2,784
Awards 5,414 1,592
Accrued Leave Expense 15,731 15,751
Amortization of Right of Use asset 343,927 317,681
Interest Expense on Lease Liability 45,780 42,336

Impairment Loss - Property 200 30
Impairment Loss on Assets Held for Sale 170 45

Inventory Write-Down Expense - 589
Provision for loans  & other financial assets as per IFRS (7,235) (66,916)
Severance Expense 42,002 34,772

Net Gain on disposal of PPE-IFRS (46,322) (172,550)
Net Gain on disposal of PPE-Tax 61,528 194,263

Depreciation for IFRS accounting purpose 97,988 79,426
Amortization for IFRS accounting purpose 4,165 3,784
Cash Indemnity Allowance 12,679 13,378

Employee Interest rate Benefit-IFRS (20,893) (34,040)
Employee Interest rate Benefit-Tax 166,061 174,052

Loss On Lease Modification 407 4
Property Tax 260 -
Write off Expense 22,628 -
Sport Related 160 -
 756,951 616,968
Less  : 
Depreciation for tax purpose 259,014 246,215
Amortization of Prepaid Rent and Lease 374,489 340,421
Provision for loans & other financial assets for tax NBE 
80% 397,156 132,705
Severance Paid 14,815 13,026
Leave Paid 6,399 4,927

Interest income taxed at source- foreign 46,534 7,580
Dividend income taxed at source 40,360 18,063

Interest income exempted-NBE Bills and T-Bills 415,149 284,135
Interest income taxed at source-Local Deposit 212,897 113,035

Gain from reversal of impairment allowance 320 71
Cash Indemnity Allowance Paid 4,600 7,325
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Gain On Lease Modification 2,965 4
 1,774,698 1,167,508

 

Taxable profit 1,493,332 957,245
Current tax at 30% 448,000 287,174
5% on interest on foreign deposits 2,327 379
Total tax in statement of comprehensive income 450,326 287,553

Average Effective Tax Rate: 17.93 19.07

The average effective tax rate is the tax expense divided by accounting profit.
14b Current income tax liability 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Current income tax liability Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 286,389 79,077
Charge for the year 450,326 287,553
Prior year (over)/ under provision -
WHT Notes utilised (1,730) (1,164)
Payment during the year (286,389) (79,077)
Balance at the end of the year 448,597 286,389

14c       

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
The analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is 
as follows:   
To be recovered after more than 12 months (32,489) (67,295)
To be recovered within 12 months - -
 (32,489) (67,295)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities, deferred income tax charge/(credit) in profit or loss 
(“P/L), in equity and other comprehensive income are attributable to the following items:

Deferred income tax assets/(liabili-
ties):

 At 1 July 
 2024 

 Credit/ 
(charge) to 

P/L 

 Credit/ 
(charge) to 

equity 
 30 June 

2025 
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

     

Property, plant and equipment 108,240 (17,491) - 90,749
Provisions - - - -
Unrealised exchange gain - - - -
Tax losses charged to profit or loss - - - -

Post-employment benefit obligation (40,946) (17,315) - (58,260)
Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 67,295 (34,806) - 32,489
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Deferred income tax assets/(liabili-
ties):

At 1 July 
 2023

Credit/ 
(charge) 

to P/L

Credit/ 
(charge) to 

equity
30 June 

2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
 

Property, plant and equipment 65,813 42,427 - 108,240
Provisions - - - -
Unrealised exchange gain - - - -
Tax losses charged to profit or loss - - - -

Post-employment benefit obligation (30,539) (10,407) - (40,946)
Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 35,275 32,020 - 67,295

15 Cash and Cash Equivalents
15a  Cash and balances with banks

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cash in hand local currency 1,690,665 1,707,309
Cash in hand foreign currency 215,097 24,416
Placement with other Institutions 1,644,421 1,478,983
Deposits with foreign banks 2,382,651 286,403
Balance held with National Bank of Ethiopia 385,120 1,342,957
Money Market Operations 1,005,753 -
Gross amount 7,323,707 4,840,068
Less : -
Allowance for Impairment- Bank Balances (231) (153)

 7,323,476 4,839,915

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Current 3,968,807 2,290,368

Non-Current 3,354,900 2,549,700
 7,323,707 4,840,068

 
15b  Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

ATM Settlement-Off Us 33,735 255,951
Cheque Clearance-Outward 6,449 2,655

Foreign Currency Receivable 709,999 191,831
Mobile Fund Transfer-Off Us 116,486 486,950

 866,669 937,387
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

15c Restricted Fund Balance            3,354,900             2,549,700 

The restricted fund balance represents 7% of deposit balance maintained with National Bank of 
Ethiopia.
16 Loans and Advances
16a Loans and advances to customers

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Agriculture 130,128 152,534
Building and construction 6,303,311 5,640,130
Domestic trade and services 6,213,821 6,272,772
Export 1,195,655 1,426,388
Hotel and Tourism 398,571 410,348
Health and Education Service 672,637 245,060
Import 3,095,892 1,897,053
Manufacturing 4,237,549 2,822,610
Merchandise Loans 11,007 135,205
Overdrafts 4,176,372 3,651,249
Personal loan 3,647,405 3,545,679

Pre-Shipment 2,686,914 994,823
Staff loan 2,763,940 3,196,297
Transport 440,739 428,342
Gross amount 35,973,941 30,818,490
Less: Impairment allowance  
Collective impairment   
Stage 1 (200,841) (219,151)
Stage 2 (1,140) (1,357)
Stage 3 (695,042) (699,042)
 35,076,919 29,898,940
Less : 
Interest in suspense (120,292) (84,462)
Staff Loan Market Interest Adjustment (428,642) (612,223)
Net Loan Balance 34,527,985 29,202,255

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Current 11,151,922 9,553,732

Non-Current 24,822,019 21,264,758
 35,973,941 30,818,490
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16b Impairment Allowance for Loans and Advances     
IFRS 9 key guidance on segmentation 

(IFRS 9 B5.5.5) For the purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and recognizing a 
loss allowance on a collective basis, an entity can group financial instruments on the basis of shared 
credit risk characteristics with the objective of facilitating an analysis that is designed to enable 
significant increases in credit risk to be identified on a timely basis.

In addition, common considerations that a Bank may consider before selection of a segmentation 
criteria include, but are not limited to: 

•	 Customer grading methodologies and whether this is reflective of the proposed segmentation 
criteria; 

•	 How a Bank sets portfolio credit concentration limits;
•	 Management’s experience with regards to historical default trends; 
•	 Regulatory guidance on credit reporting; and
•	 Financial statement disclosures and current credit reporting structures.

Based on the above facts the bank recognize the loss allowance by segmenting its portfolios into the 
following clusters:

1) Agriculture 
2) Construction and Building (Including Hotel and Tourism)
3) Domestic Trade and Services (Including Transport and Communication, Health & Education 

Service) 
4) Export and Imports
5) Manufacturing
6) Personal Loans (Including Staff Loans and Diaspora Loans)

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for loans and advances by class, is as 
follows:      

Collective allowance for impairment

 As at 
30 June 

2024 

Charge 
for the 

year
30 June 

2025
Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Allowance For Impairment - Agriculture (794) (324) (1,118)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Building And 
Construction (584,161) 41,190 (542,971)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - DTS (118,830) (24,137) (142,967)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Export and Imports (35,186) 7,521 (27,665)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Manufacturing (7,909) 1,334 (6,575)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Personal (15,293) (1,147) (16,440)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - merchandise loans (779) 712 (67)
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Allowance For Loan Impairment - Preshipment loans (54,252) (11,024) (65,276)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Overdrafts (102,324) 8,381 (93,943)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Emergency staff loans (23) 23 -

Total - Collective Impairment (919,551) 22,529 (897,022)

Collective allowance for impairment
 As at 30 

June 2023 

Charge 
for the 

year
30 June 

2024
Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Allowance For Impairment - Agriculture (661) (133) (794)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Building And 
Construction (630,992) 46,831 (584,161)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - DTS (164,711) 45,881 (118,830)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Export and Imports (118,486) 83,300 (35,186)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Manufacturing (4,832) (3,077) (7,909)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Personal (6,695) (8,598) (15,293)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - merchandise loans (177) (602) (779)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Preshipment loans (49,245) (5,007) (54,252)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Overdrafts (87,939) (14,385) (102,324)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Emergency staff 
loans (18) (5) (23)

Total - Collective Impairment (1,063,756) 144,205 (919,551)
 
17 Investment Securities
17a Financial Assets at amortized cost:

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

Bonds and Bills 6,349,118 3,604,450
Less: 

Allowance for impairment - Bills & Bonds (317) (180)
Net Bond and Bills 6,348,801 3,604,270

17b Financial Assets at FVTOCI:

Equity Investments 142,663 98,154
Fair Value Adjustment – Equity Investments 465,386 361,998
Net Equity Investments 608,049 460,152
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Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Current 6,348,801 3,604,270
Non-Current 608,049 460,152
 6,956,850 4,064,422

The Bank holds equity investments in Ethswitch S.C, Berhan Insurance S.C., Premier Switch 
Solution S.C and Debo Micro Finance S.C. The percentage shareholding for each equity investments 
is summarized as follows:

30 June 2025 
Birr’000 

 Number of 
shares 

 % owned 
as per the 

Bank 

 Amount 
invested in 

‘000 

 Fair Value 
as per IFRS 

9  
Ethswitch S.C. 100,000 3.90% 100,000 525,268.71
Berhan Insurance S.C. 26,449 5.00% 26,449 44,081.46
Premier Switch Solution S.C 11,531 3.28% 11,531 31,303.60
Debo Micro Finance S.C. 4,683 4.68% 4,683 7,395.30

Total Equity Investments 608,049

30 June 2024 
Birr’000 

 Number of 
shares 

 % owned 
as per the 

Bank 

 Amount 
invested in 

‘000 

 Fair Value 
as per IFRS 

9  
Ethswitch S.C. 68,379 3.88% 68,379 388,979.80
Berhan Insurance S.C. 18,259 5.40% 18,259 26,033.43
Premier Switch Solution S.C 9,849 4.08% 9,849 43,620.42
Debo Micro Finance S.C. 1,667 2.19% 1,667 1,518.09

Total Equity Investments 460,152

18 Other assets

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

Financial assets
Other Receivables 2,523,877 1,062,305

2,523,877 1,062,305
Non-financial assets
Prepayments 103,182 61,139
Prepaid Staff Benefits 558,822 721,510

662,004 782,649
Gross amount 3,185,881 1,844,954

Less :
Impairment allowance for Other assets 288,584 294,259
Net amount 2,897,297 1,550,695
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Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Current 869,189 465,209
Non-Current 2,028,108 1,085,487

 2,897,297 1,550,695
18a Impairment Allowance on Other Assets

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for other assets is as follows: 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 294,259 217,235
Write off during the year (20,426) -
(Reversal)/charge for the year 14,750 77,024
Balance at the end of the year 288,584 294,259

18b Inventory 

A breakdown of the items included within inventory is as follows:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Sundry materials 31,011 49,178
Check books 8,220 9,469
Stationary 15,594 19,232
Printed materials 60,438 73,619
Draft and CPO 1,107 1,143
Revenue stamp 80 67
Gross amount 116,450 152,708
Less: 

Allowance for Inventory Write-Down (344) (664)
 116,106 152,044

18c Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Assets Held for Sale 238,381 215,181
Less:
Allowance for Impairment Assets Held for Sale (710) (540)
 237,671 214,641

The non-current assets held for sale comprises repossessed collaterals. The buildings are not impaired 
while the vehicles showed decrease in value as indicated by the fair value assessment. 
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19 IFRS 16 – Leases

The Bank leases a number of branch and office premises. The leases typically run for a period of 5 to 
10 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. For some leases, payments are renegotiated 
every five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are 
based on changes in local price indices.      

For short-term and/or leases of low-value items, the Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities for these leases.       

Most leases of office premises contain extension options exercisable by the Bank before the end of the 
non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Bank seeks to include extension options in 
new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the 
Bank and not by the lessors. The Bank assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably 
certain to exercise the extension options. The Bank reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in circumstances within its 
control.

i)  Right-of-use asset

  Land  Buildings   Total 
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cost:    
As at 01 July 2024 153,379 2,036,557 2,189,936
Additions 65,987 344,904 410,890
Disposals (2,488) (67,216) (69,704)
As at 30 June 2025 216,878 2,314,244 2,531,122

 

Accumulated amortization 
As at 01 July 2024 11,573 1,013,343 1,024,916
Charge for the year 6,504 337,423 343,927
Disposals (401) (40,228) (40,629)
As at 30 June 2025 17,676 1,310,537 1,328,213

ii) Lease Liabilities

  Land  Buildings   Total 
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
    

As at 01 July 2024 92,553 416,292 508,846
Additions - 126,854 126,854
Interest Expense 10,300 35,480 45,780
Payment (3,326) (75,222) (78,549)
Adjustment - (29,899) (29,899)
As at 30 June 2025 99,527 473,505 573,032

 

The bank reclassified Right of use asset and amortization of ROU previously included in Property, 
Plant and Equipment (PPE) and Depreciation of property and equipment as a separate item to better 
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reflect the nature of those assets. Comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year’s presentation. This change had no impact on previously reported Profit or equity. 

20 Intangible Assets

 Computer software
 Birr’000
Cost:  
As at 1 July 2023 25,098
Acquisitions -
Disposal -
As at 30 June 2024 25,098
 

As at 1 July 2024 25,098
Acquisitions 25,835
Disposal -
As at 30 June 2025 50,933
 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
As at 1 July 2023 16,263
Amortisation for the year 3,784
Impairment losses
As at 30 June 2024 20,046
 

As at 1 July 2024 20,046
Amortisation for the year 4,165
Impairment losses
As at 30 June 2025 24,211
 
Net book value
As at 30 June 2024 5,052
As at 30 June 2025 26,722

21  Property and equipment

 

 Buildings  
 Motor 

vehicles 

 Office 
and other 

equipment 

 Furniture 
and 

fittings 

 Computer 
and

accessories  Total 

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cost:       
As at 01 July 2023 70,614 501,258 473,085 322,124 273,532 1,640,614
Additions 132,633 49,754 77,853 260,240
Disposals (12,950) (50,791) (12,908) (5,783) (6,074) (88,508)
Reclassification - - - - - -

As at 30 June 2024 57,664 450,466 592,809 366,096 345,311 1,812,346
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Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses    
       

As at 01 July 2023 4,222 78,666 173,004 82,814 97,241 435,947
Charge for the year 643 22,797 29,909 9,219 16,858 79,426
Impairment Loss (16) (55) 30 (42)
Disposals (940) (24,557) (10,092) (3,262) (4,508) (43,360)
As at 30 June 2024 3,925 76,905 192,804 88,715 109,621 471,970
       
As at 01 July 2024 57,664 450,466 592,809 366,096 345,311 1,812,346
Additions 28,214 61,023 21,633 13,765 107,239 231,874
Disposals - (33,531) (4,975) (3,014) (5,397) (46,917)
Reclassification - - - - - -
As at 30 June 2025 85,878 477,959 609,467 376,847 447,153 1,997,303

       

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses    
As at 01 July 2024 3,925 76,905 192,804 88,715 109,621 471,970
Charge for the year 794 21,753 36,451 12,787 26,204 97,988
Impairment Loss - - 2 74 123 200
Disposals - (12,603) (3,040) (1,312) (4,175) (21,130)
As at 30 June 2025 4,719 86,055 226,217 100,265 131,773 549,029

 

Net book value
As at 30 June 2024 53,739 373,561 400,006 277,380 235,690 1,340,376
As at 30 June 2025 81,160 391,903 383,250 276,582 315,380 1,448,274

The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated still in use are as follows:

 Motor 
vehicles 

 Office 
and other 

equipment 

 Furniture and 
fittings 

 Computer and 
accessories 

As at 30 June 2025 1,972 677 663.7 250.13
As at 30 June 2024 4,145 712 747.3 296.89

22 Liabilities
22a Due to Banks & Other Institutions

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cheque Clearance-Inward 7,067 7,905
ATM Settlement-On Us 177,375 103,839
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Mobile Fund Transfer-On Us 102,906 466,274
 287,348 578,018

22b Deposits from Customers

 
30 June 2025

Birr’000
30 June 2024

Birr’000
Demand deposits 13,248,870 12,078,453
Savings deposits 27,399,146 20,979,921
Time deposits 3,806,003 3,793,819
 44,454,019 36,852,193

 
30 June 2025

Birr’000
30 June 2024

Birr’000
Margins held on letters of credit 1,508,336 567,992

22c Other Liabilities

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Financial Liabilities   
Banking instruments payables 98,059 71,754
Unearned Income 96,525 72,370
Lease liability 573,032 508,846
Total Financial Liabilities 767,616 652,970

Non-Financial Liabilities
Tax and Other Obligations 98,225 54,474
Sundry payables 2,326,848 362,468
Total Non-Financial Liabilities 2,425,073 416,942

   

Total Financial and Non-Financial Liabilities 3,192,689 1,069,912

Breakdown of Tax and Other Obligations:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Employer Pension Cont 7,159 6,533
Income Tax Payable 24,739 21,760
Stamp Duty Charges 4,501 12,798
Income Tax on Savings Interest 7,315 6,651
Withholding Tax-Local 1,110 1,392
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Value Added Tax-Vat Payable 46,369 589
Withholding Tax -Technical Service-Abroad 1,016 101
Cost Sharing Expense Payable 3 9
Reverse Taxation Payable 1,016 512
Employee Pension Cont 4,487 4,129
Share Premium Tax Payable 510 -
 98,225 54,474

22d Provisions

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Leave Pay 85,208 75,876
Bonus Payable 215,853 174,151

 301,061 250,027

22e Retirement Benefit Obligations

  
30 June 

2025
30 June 

2024
  Birr’000 Birr’000
Defined benefits liabilities:    
Severance pay Note 22 (f) 194,200 136,485
Liability in the statement of financial position 194,200 136,485

 

Income statement charge included in personnel expenses:
Severance costs Note 22(f) 42,002 34,772
Total defined benefit expenses  42,002 34,772
Remeasurements for:  
Remeasurement gains/(losses) Note 22(f) (30,528) (12,944)
  (30,528) (12,944)

The income statement charge included within personnel expenses includes current service cost, 
interest cost, past service costs on the defined benefit schemes.

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

 
  

Current 16,377 16,378
Non-Current 177,823 120,107

 194,200 136,485
22f Severance Pay      
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The Bank operates an unfunded severance pay plan for its employees who have served the Bank for 
5 years and above and are below the retirement age (i.e. has not met the requirement to access the 
pension fund or Provident Fund). The final pay-out is determined by reference to current benefit’s 
level (monthly salary) and number of years in service and is calculated as 1 month salary for the first 
year in employment plus 1/3 of monthly salary for each subsequent in employment to a maximum of 
12 months final monthly salary.      

Below are the details of movements and amounts recognised in the financial statements:  

  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  Birr’000 Birr’000
A Liability recognised in the financial position 194,200 136,485

  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
B Amount recognised in the profit or loss Birr’000 Birr’000
 Current service cost 15,050 12,557
 Interest cost 26,952 22,215
  42,002 34,772

22g Retirement Benefit Obligations (Contd)

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income: 
 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on economic assumptions Birr’000 Birr’000
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on experience 4,407.00 4,148.00
 30,528 12,944

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the years is as follows:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

(Liability)/Asset at beginning of period 136,485 101,795
(Expense)/Income recognised in OCI 4,407 4,148
(Expense)/Income recognised in Profit and Loss 42,002 34,772
Remeasurement (gains)/ losses 26,121 8,796
Benefits paid -14,815 -13,026
At the end of the year 194,200 136,485

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:
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i)          Financial Assumption Long term Average

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Discount rate (p.a) 14.40% 18.70%
Inflation Rate 12.20% 14.30%
Long term salary Increase rate (p.a) 14.20% 16.30%

ii) Pre-retirement Mortality      

Mortality rates are commonly set with reference to standard tables published by reputable institutions 
(such as the Actuarial Society of South Africa and the Ethiopian Insurers Association) who have 
access to statistically significant data from which to derive mortality rates.

In determining an appropriate mortality table to use for the valuations, we have used the same 
approach as for the previous valuation, by considering the mortality rates published in Demographic 
and Health Survey (“DHS”) 2016 report compiled by the CSA. The DHS report provides male and 
female mortality rates for 5-year age bands from age 15 to age 49. Since the rates are provided in 
5-year bands, we have used the rates provided per band as the mortality rate for the age in the middle 
of each band, and interpolated linearly for rates in between these ages. 

No more recent or credible Ethiopian based adult mortality studies are available; so we have 
maintained the DHS 2016 table.

Age
Mortality rate

Male Female
20 0.31% 0.22%
25 0.30% 0.23%
30 0.36% 0.31%
35 0.41% 0.28%
40 0.52% 0.32%
45 0.45% 0.43%
50 0.63% 0.63%
55 0.98% 0.98%
60 1.54% 1.54%

22h Retirement Benefit Obligations (Contd)
iii) Withdrawal from Service      

The withdrawal rates are as summarised below:

Age Resignation rates per annum
20 15.00%
25 12.50%
30 10.00%
35 7.50%
40 5.00%
45 2.50%

50+ 0.00%
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23 Ordinary Share Capital

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Authorised:   
Ordinary shares of Birr 1,000 each 4,286,885 3,447,898
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of Birr 1,000 each 4,286,885 3,447,898

 

Share Premium (Net of tax) 18,628 16,372

As at 30 June 2025, the authorised share capital of the Bank comprised of 4,286,885 ordinary shares 
with a par value of Birr 1000. Issued and fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of Birr 
1000, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividend.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at General Meetings of the Bank.

24 Retained Earnings

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
At the beginning of the year 681,088 196,394
Profit / (loss) for the year 2,095,559 1,188,212
Transfer to legal reserve (523,890) (297,053)
Dividend provided for / paid (681,088) (196,394)
Director’s Share of Profit (1,650) -
Prior Period Tax Expense - (9,154)
Transfer to Regulatory Risk Reserve (524,184) (213,470)
Transfer from Regulatory Risk Reserve - 12,553
At the end of the year 1,045,836 681,088

25 Legal Reserve

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

At the beginning of the year 1,153,737 856,684
Transfer from profit or loss 523,890 297,053
At the end of the year 1,677,626 1,153,737

The NBE Directive No. SBB/4/95 requires the Bank to transfer annually 25% of its annual net profit 
to its legal reserve account until such account equals its capital. When the legal reserve account 
equals the capital of the Bank, the amount to be transferred to the legal reserve account will be 10% 
(ten percent) of the annual net profit.
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26 Other Reserves:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Other comprehensive income :   

   

Remeasurement Gain or Loss on Defined Benefit Plans (82,446) (51,918)
Movement in fair value reserve-equity instruments 465,386 361,998

 382,940 310,080

Income tax relating to Other comprehensive income :
Remeasurement Gain or Loss on Defined Benefit Plans (24,734) (15,575)
 -24,734 -15,575

Net Other comprehensive income :
Remeasurement Gain or Loss on Defined Benefit Plans (57,712) (36,343)
 (57,712) (36,343)

 

Income tax relating to Other comprehensive income :
Movement in fair value reserve-equity instruments 139,616 108,599

 139,616 108,599
 

Net Other comprehensive income :
Movement in fair value reserve (equity instruments) 325,770 253,399
 325,770 253,399

27 Regulatory Risk Reserves:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   
At the beginning of the Year 604,020 403,104
Transfer from/to Retained Earning-Loan Provision 106,129 72,097
Transfer from/to Retained Earning-Receivable Provision 15,935 141,373
Transfer from/to Retained Earning-Off balance sheet 360,371 -
Net regulatory risk reserve-Suspended Interest 41,749 (12,553)
 
At the end of the  Year 1,128,204 604,020

The Regulatory risk reserve is a non-distributable reserves required by the regulations of the National 
Bank of Ethiopia to be kept for impairment losses on loans and receivables in excess of IFRS charge 
as derived using the Expected Credit Loss Model.

Where the loan loss impairment determined using the National Bank of Ethiopia guidelines is higher 
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than the loan loss impairment determined using the Expected Credit Loss Model under IFRS, the 
difference is transferred to regulatory risk reserve and it is non-distributable to the owners of the 
Bank.

Where the loan loss impairment determined using the National Bank of Ethiopia guidelines is lower 
than the loan loss impairment determined using the Expected Credit Loss Model under IFRS, the 
difference is transferred from regulatory risk reserve to retained earnings to the extent of the non-
distributable reserve previously recognized.

In addition the suspended interest from non-performing loans which is recognized as income under 
IFRS is transferred to regulatory risk reserve and it is non-distributable to the owners of the Bank.

28 Earnings per Share 

 Notes 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  Birr’000 Birr’000

    

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders  2,095,559 1,188,212
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  3,831,194 3,391,670

  
Basic Earnings per share of Birr 1,000  546.97 350.33

  

Retained earnings balance available for distribution 
 to ordinary equity holders 27 1,045,836 681,088
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  3,831,194 3,391,670
  
Net Basic Earnings per share of Birr 1,000  272.98 200.81

            
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year.

The net Basic earnings per share is calculated after deducting legal reserve and regulatory reserves 
from the net profit for the year  and dividing it by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.

29 Related Party Transactions       

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one other 
party controls both.

There are companies which are related to Berhan Bank through common shareholdings or common 
directorships.

In the normal course of business, a number of banking transactions are entered into with related 
parties i.e. staff, directors, their associates and companies associated with directors. These include 
loans, deposits and foreign currency transactions.  Loans and advances to customers include loans 
and advances to staff and to companies associated with directors.  Contingent liabilities include 
guarantees and letters of credit for companies associated with directors. 
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A number of transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. 
These are disclosed below: 

29a Loans and Advances 

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

Companies associated with directors

At the beginning of the year 244,471 239,125
Net movement during the year (238,355) 5,346
At the end of the year 6,116 244,471

Guarantees and letters of credit to companies associated with direc-
tors - -

The above outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business and are substantially on 
the same terms, including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions with third-party 
counterparties. 

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

Directors and key management personnel

At the beginning of the year 97,055 83,411
Net movement during the year 14,310 13,644
At the end of the year 111,365 97,055

Guarantees and letters of credit to directors  - -

These loans and advances are performing and are adequately secured.
29b Key management compensation       

Key management has been determined to be the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management of the Bank.  The compensation paid or payable to key management is shown.  There 
were no sales or purchase of goods and services between the Bank and key management personnel as 
at 30 June 2025. 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 81,193 44,371
Post-employment benefits - -

Termination benefits - -
Sitting allowance 4,569 3,146



107Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

Other expenses 159.65 58
 85,921 47,575

Compensation of the Bank’s key management personnel includes salaries, non-cash benefits and 
contributions to the post-employment defined benefits plans.
29c Directors and Employees

i) The average number of persons (excluding directors) employed by the Bank during the year was 
as follows:           

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  In Number  In Number 

   

Professionals and High Level Supervisors 27 24
Clerical 53 321

Non-Clerical 2 64
                             82                         409 

ii) The table below shows the number of employees (excluding directors), who earned over Birr 
25,000 as emoluments in the year and were within the bands stated.

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  In Number  In Number 

   

25,000 - 40,000 716 539
40,001 - 60,000 259 276
60,001 - 100,000 222 123

Above 100,000 19 6
                    1,216                       944 

 
30 Contingent Liabilities       
30a Claims and litigation       

The Bank is a party to numerous legal actions brought by different organizations and individuals 
arising from its normal business operations. The maximum outflow and inflow of exposure of the 
Bank to these legal cases as at 30 June 2025 is Birr 327.4 million and 182mill respectively. Appropriate 
Provision has been held in the financial statements. In addition, the bank has claimed by the tax 
authority related to dividend tax and the bank appeal to the Federal High Court and the maximum 
exposure of the bank is 194.5mill.       
Claims by the bank       

The bank has instituted suits against third parties arising from the normal course of business. There 
is no possible claim arising from settlement of these cases as at 30 June 2025.   
30b Contingent liabilities and commitments

The Bank conducts business involving performance bonds and guarantees. These instruments are 
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given as a security to support the performance of a customer to third parties. As the Bank will only 
be required to meet these obligations in the event of the customer’s default, the cash requirements of 
these instruments are expected to be considerably below their nominal amounts.

The table below summarises the fair value amount of contingent liabilities for the account of 
customers:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Guarantees issued and outstanding 13,223,743 6,644,301
Commitments on letter of credit net of margin paid 1,939,037 100,495
Loans approved but not disbursed 310,000 250,000
 15,472,780 6,994,796

31 Commitments       

The Bank has commitments, not provided for in these financial statements, as of 30 June 2025 Birr 
115 million (30 June 2024: Birr 78.5 million) for purchase of various capital items.   
   
32 Events after reporting period       

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant post balance sheet events which could have 
a material effect on the state of affairs of the Bank as at 30 June 2025 and on the profit for the period 
ended on that date, which have not been adequately provided for or disclosed.    
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Message from the Board Chairperson
Dear Esteemed Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Berhan Bank, it is with great pride and optimism that 
I present to you the Annual Performance Report and Audited Financial Statements for the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2025, during our 16th General Assembly of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting.

This year marks a defining moment in Berhan Bank’s journey. We have achieved a 
remarkable milestone, delivering outstanding financial results that reflect our unwavering 
commitment to excellence, strategic foresight, and operational resilience. Our profit has 
surged to over Birr 2.5 billion after provisions—an impressive increase from Birr 1.51 billion 
in the previous fiscal year. This exceptional growth, alongside a continued decline in non-
performing loans, underscores the strength of our business model and our dedication to 
delivering value to our shareholders.

The success we celebrate today is the result of the relentless dedication, innovation, and hard 
work of our management and staff. The Board of Directors extends its deepest gratitude to 
every member of the Berhan Bank team for their tireless efforts and pursuit of excellence, 
which have propelled us to new heights.

Looking ahead, we are filled with confidence and ambition. Together with our management 
and staff, the Board remains committed to sustaining this momentum, navigating industry 
challenges, and capitalizing on emerging opportunities to further elevate Berhan Bank’s 
position in the market. Our focus remains firmly on driving long-term growth and creating 
enduring value for our shareholders.

We are also pleased to present the External Auditor’s Report for the fiscal year 2024/2025, 
offering a comprehensive account of our financial performance. We invite you to review this 
report and join us in celebrating the progress we have made together.

To our loyal customers and shareholders, thank you for your continued trust and support. 
Your partnership inspires us to aim higher, and we look forward to building an even brighter 
future together.

 

                Sincerely, 

                

             Eligo Legesse

Chairperson, Board of Directors
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Message from the Chief Executive Officer
Dear Shareholders,

The 2024/2025 fiscal year has been a truly inspiring chapter for Berhan Bank, defined by 
resilience, meaningful progress, and outstanding financial achievements. In a year shaped 
by global and local challenges, including shifting economic conditions and transformative 
reforms in Ethiopia’s financial sector, our Bank has thrived, delivering strong returns to our 
shareholders while strengthening our role as a trusted Bank in the industry.

Our profit before provision reached Birr 2.5 billion, a 66.5% increase from the previous 
year. Total income grew by 61.4% to Birr 10.3 billion, driven by a 233.6% rise in non-interest 
income and an 18.5% increase in interest income. Our asset base expanded by 28.1% to 
Birr 58.9 billion, supported by a 16.7% growth in loans and advances to Birr 34.5 billion 
and a 20.6% rise in deposits to Birr 44.5 billion. We maintained strong asset quality, with 
our non-performing loan (NPL) ratio improving to 4.78%, well within the NBE’s threshold. 
Additionally, our capital grew by 37.5% to Birr 8.5 billion, with paid-up capital increasing 
by 24.3% to Birr 4.3 billion.

Our digital transformation journey reached new milestones with the successful rollout of 
the Core Banking System (CBS-24) upgrade, enhancing efficiency and enabling innovative 
financial solutions. Through partnerships with Kacha FinTech for Micro Digital Lending 
and the Ministry of Transport and Logistics for the Fuel Aggregator System, we’ve taken 
bold steps to modernize our services.

Our staff are the heart of our achievements. With a dedicated workforce of 5,796 employees, 
we reduced staff turnover to 5.0% and empowered 4,091 staff members through training 
programs, including our new e-learning platform, fostering leadership and technical 
expertise. These efforts, combined with our focus on sustainability and collaboration with 
stakeholders, have positioned Berhan Bank to meet the evolving needs of our customers 
and communities.

Looking forward, we are filled with optimism for 2025/2026. With renewed energy, we 
will pursue an ambitious agenda to transform our digital banking services, channeling 
maximum effort into expanding innovative digital platforms, enhancing customer 
experiences, and ensuring seamless, secure, and accessible financial solutions. We will also 
aggressively strengthen our capital base to enhance our competitiveness. By reinforcing risk 
management, investing in our people, and aligning with Ethiopia’s economic goals, we aim 
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to sustain profitable growth and seize emerging opportunities. Our revised Strategic Plan 
will guide us in embracing these priorities with creativity, teamwork, and an ever-growing 
customer base.

Finally, we extend our deepest gratitude to our shareholders, customers, employees, the 
Board of Directors, the National Bank of Ethiopia, and Federal and Regional Government 
Offices for their steadfast support and trust. Together, we have built a strong foundation 
for continued success, and we are excited to shape a future where Berhan Bank remains a 
beacon of innovation and resilience in Ethiopia’s financial landscape.

   With warm regards,

        Ermias Tefera

Chief Executive Officer
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Performance Highlights
1. Major Macroeconomic Highlights of 2024/25 FY
Global economic developments in 2024/25 were marked by both progress and persistent challenges, 
as growth remained moderate amid shifting monetary, geopolitical, and structural conditions (World 
Bank, 2025). This moderation reflected the lingering impact of tight monetary policies pursued in 
advanced economies, where central banks maintained elevated interest rates to consolidate gains 
against inflation (IMF, 2025). Although global inflation eased compared to 2024 levels falling from 
about 3.7% to a projected 2.9% by mid-2025, it remained above pre-pandemic targets in many 
economies, compelling policymakers to sustain restrictive financial conditions.

In this context, borrowing costs stayed high, global trade volumes stagnated, and investor sentiment 
remained cautious. For emerging markets, these dynamics translated into subdued capital inflows, 
constrained access to international credit markets, and heightened exposure to fluctuations in 
commodity prices (IMF, 2025; World Bank, 2025). The situation was further complicated by the 
Israel–Palestine war, which disrupted Red Sea shipping. Suez Canal transits fell by about 42% raising 
transport costs, oil price volatility (with Brent briefly ~10% higher in Jan 2025), and inflationary 
pressures for energy-importing countries (UNCTAD, 2025; World Bank, 2025).

Across Africa, economic activity displayed a relatively stronger performance but remained uneven. 
The African Development Bank (AfDB, 2025) projected continental growth at 3.9 percent, a modest 
improvement supported by resilient agriculture, infrastructure spending, and a gradual recovery in 
services. East Africa once again emerged as the fastest-growing sub-region, reflecting investments in 
energy, transport, and digital infrastructure (AfDB, 2025). Nevertheless, persistent challenges weighed 
heavily on the region. High public debt burdens, foreign exchange shortages, and climate-related shocks, 
particularly droughts and floods, continued to place significant pressure on fiscal balances and external 
accounts (UNECA, 2025). At the same time, Donald Trump’s return to the U.S. presidency in 2025 
introduced fresh uncertainty to global trade policy, aid commitments, and international cooperation, 
with possible spillovers for African economies (World Bank, 2025; IMF, 2025).

Ethiopia’s economy maintained its position as one of the most dynamic in Sub-Saharan Africa during 
2024/25, recording growth estimated between 6.1 and 7.0 percent (National Bank of Ethiopia (NBE), 
2025; IMF, 2025). The expansion was largely supported by strong agricultural production, sustained 
service sector activity, and major public infrastructure projects. A key macroeconomic development 
during the period was the marked reduction in inflation, which had previously been one of the country’s 
most pressing challenges. Inflation moderated to around 13 percent by mid-2025, down from levels 
exceeding 20 percent in the prior year, and projections indicate a further decline to approximately 
10 percent in 2025/26 (NBE, 2025). This improvement was attributable to tighter monetary policy, 
greater exchange rate stability, and measures aimed at addressing supply-side constraints. For banks, 
the moderation in inflation enhanced the real value of deposits and encouraged households and firms 
to increase their savings, thereby improving liquidity in the financial system.

Equally significant was Ethiopia’s progress in foreign exchange reform. The gradual transition 
toward a market-based exchange rate system reduced the parallel market premium and improved 
transparency in foreign currency transactions (World Bank, 2025). Reserves increased considerably 
following these adjustments, creating a more stable foundation for external trade and finance. The 
banking industry directly benefited from these changes, as the availability of foreign exchange for 
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trade financing and external obligations improved, while greater transparency reduced operational 
distortions that had previously constrained sector performance.

The financial sector also experienced a historic shift during the fiscal year with the enactment of 
legislation opening Ethiopia’s banking market to foreign participation (NBE, 2025). This reform, 
accompanied by the establishment of the Ethiopian Securities Exchange (ESX) in 2025, is set to 
fundamentally reshape the financial landscape by introducing new competition, diversifying 
financing options, and enhancing capital market activities. For domestic banks, the entry of foreign 
institutions presents both a challenge and an opportunity. It necessitates improved efficiency, stronger 
governance, and accelerated investment in digital transformation, but it also offers prospects for 
partnerships, knowledge transfer, and product diversification.

Support from international development partners further underpinned Ethiopia’s macroeconomic 
performance. The International Monetary Fund approved a $3.4 billion Extended Credit Facility 
(IMF, 2025), while the World Bank committed $1.5 billion in grants and concessional loans (World 
Bank, 2025). These inflows stabilized the macroeconomic framework, eased fiscal pressures, and 
reduced reliance on direct central bank financing. The resulting stability in turn improved confidence 
in the financial system, allowing commercial banks to pursue credit expansion more aggressively in 
key sectors of the economy. 

However, the domestic environment was also affected by social and political challenges. Uncertainty 
over international aid flows following the re-election of U.S. President Donald Trump raised concerns 
about the continuity of social services and humanitarian programs (UNECA, 2025). Meanwhile, 
the ongoing conflicts in certain regions, especially in Northern Ethiopia remained unresolved, with 
recurring instability, displacement, and humanitarian needs continuing to affect local economies, 
agricultural output, and the operations of banks in affected areas (NBE, 2025).

Overall, the macroeconomic highlights of 2024/25 illustrate an environment of cautious but tangible 
progress for Ethiopia. Strong growth, declining inflation, and structural reforms are gradually 
reshaping the country’s economic trajectory. Yet external shocks from the Israel–Palestine conflict 
to shifts in U.S. aid and donor policies following Trump’s re-election combined with the ongoing 
conflict in the Northern Ethiopia region, underscore the complexity of the environment. For the 
banking sector, these developments create an environment of both opportunity and heightened 
responsibility. The capacity of banks to mobilize deposits, expand credit responsibly, and adapt to 
an increasingly competitive and liberalized financial market will determine their ability to translate 
macroeconomic improvements into sustainable institutional growth.

In line with these national developments, Berhan Bank recorded encouraging performance in 2024/25. 
The Bank expanded its deposits and loan portfolio, strengthened foreign exchange mobilization, and 
achieved higher profitability compared to its previous years. These results reflect its resilience in 
navigating a challenging environment while aligning its growth with Ethiopia’s ongoing economic 
reforms and the financial sector liberalization.

2. Operational Performance

2.1  Deposit Mobilization
At the end of June 2025, the Bank recorded a significant growth in deposit levels, with total deposits 
reaching Birr 44.5 billion. This amount reflects an increase of Birr 7.6 billion (20.6 percent) compared 
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to the previous year. Savings deposits continued to form the cornerstone of the deposit structure, 
accounting for 61.6 percent of the total, while demand deposits constituted 29.8 percent and fixed 
time deposits represented the remaining 8.6 percent. 

Alongside the growth in deposit value, the Bank also achieved significant progress in its depositor 
base. The number of depositors increased to 2.9 million, marking a rise of 311,400 or 12.0 percent 
from the level attained in June 2024.

Deposit by Type in millions of Birr
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2.2  Loan and Advances 
The Bank’s loan and advance portfolio grew steadily during the reporting year, reaching Birr 35.97 
billion as of June 2025. This represented an increase of 16.7 percent compared with the prior year. 
The largest proportion of the loan and advances was directed towards the building and construction 
sector, domestic trade and services, as well as manufacturing.

The overall performance of the loan portfolio remained within regulatory requirements, 
with the ratio of non-performing loans (NPL) standing at 4.78 percent. This was an 
improvement from 4.98 percent recorded in June 2024 and remains below the maximum 
threshold of 5.0 percent set by the National Bank of Ethiopia. The result reflects the Bank’s 
careful management of its loan portfolio and strict adherence to prudential standards.
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2.3   International Banking
During the review period, the Bank successfully mobilized USD 195.8 million in foreign currency, 
surpassing the same period last year by 40.0 percent. The FCY regime change is the key driver of this 
foreign currency mobilization, wherein the Bank also apprehended the opportunities effectively like 
the FCY auction conducted by the central bank on top of the performance leap in export proceed over 
the prior year by USD 38.7 million. The largest share, representing 59.5 percent, was generated from 

incoming foreign transfers, while cash purchases accounted for 2.6 percent of the total.

3. Financial Performance 

3.1  Assets
By the end of June 2025, total assets reached Birr 58.9 billion. This represents annual growth of 
28.1 percent compared with Birr 46.0 billion in June 2024. The expansion was driven by balanced 
growth across key asset categories. Cash and balances with banks rose to Birr 7.3 billion, while loans 
and advances (net) increased by 18.2 percent to Birr 34.5 billion. Investments in bonds and bills 
increased by 76.1 percent, reaching Birr 6.3 billion and other assets recording an increase of 86.8 
percent. 

The overall balance sheet expansion reflects prudent financial management and effective deployment 

of resources of the Bank.

Asset (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change % age

Cash and Balances with Banks 7,323,476 4,839,915 2,483,561 51.3

Due from Banks & Other Financial 
Institutions 866,669 937,387 (70,718) (7.5)

Loans and Advances to Customers (net) 34,527,985 29,202,255 5,325,730 18.2

Equity Investments 608,049 460,152 147,897 32.1

Bonds and Bills 6,348,801 3,604,270 2,744,531 76.1

Other Assets 2,897,297 1,550,695 1,346,602 86.8

Inventory 116,106 152,044 (35,938) (23.6)

Right-of-use assets 237,671 214,641 23,030 10.7

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 1,202,909 1,165,020 37,889 3.3

Intangible Assets 26,722 5,052 21,670 429.0

Property and Equipment 1,448,274 1,340,376 107,899 8.0

Restricted Fund Balance 3,354,900 2,549,700 805,200 31.6

Total Assets 58,958,859 46,021,506 12,937,353 28.1
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3.2  Capital
As of June 2025, the Bank’s total capital reached Birr 8.5 billion, indicating a growth of 37.5 percent 
from the June 2024 figure of Birr 6.2 billion. Additionally, the paid-up capital stood at Birr 4.3 billion, 
signifying a 24.3 percent increase from the previous year. The capital growth strategy implementation 
and the cascading of target to branches and head office organs reinforced the realization of this capital 

growth.

     

Capital in millions of Birr
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Capital in millions of Birr

The shareholder base expanded to over 20 thousand during the reporting year, reflecting 
sustained progress towards meeting regulatory capital requirements.

Capital (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change %

Share Capital 4,286,885 3,447,898 838,987 24.3
Share Premium 18,628 16,372 2,256 13.8

Retained Earnings 1,045,836 681,088 364,747 53.6

Legal Reserve 1,677,627 1,153,737 523,890 45.4
Other Reserve 382,940 310,080 72,860 23.5

Regulatory Risk Reserve 1,128,204 604,020 524,184 86.8

Total Capital 8,540,120 6,213,195 2,326,924 37.5

3.3 Income
The Bank generated total income of Birr 10.3 billion in the 2024/25 fiscal year, which represents an 
increase of 61.4 percent when compared with the preceding years Birr 6.39 billion. Interest income 
amounted to Birr 6.1 billion, rising by 18.5 percent and accounting for 58.8 percent of the total. Non-
interest income reached Birr 4.3 billion, an expansion of 233.6 percent, and contributed 41.2 percent 

of total income. 
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Composition of Income in millions of Birr
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This growth was supported by Fee and commission income, which increased by 181.2 percent, and 

by other operating income, which recorded an increase of 333.7 percent.

Income (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change %

Interest income 6,058,457 5,112,154 946,303 18.5
Non-interest income 4,252,540 1,274,787 2,977,753 233.6

Fees and commission income 2,351,938 836,526 1,515,412 181.2
Other operating income 1,900,602 438,261 1,462,341 333.7

Total Income 10,310,997 6,386,941 3,924,056 61.4

3.4 Expenses
The total expenses during the reviewed period amounted to Birr 7.8 billion reflecting an increase of 
59.9 percent when compared with last year’s Birr 4.9 billion. Interest expenses grew by 17.3 percent, 
while non-interest expenses increased by 84.7 percent. 

Composition of Expenses in millions of Birr
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Personnel expenses rose by 15.9 percent, whereas general expenses increased by 206.8 percent. 
Impairment charges decreased by Birr 7.2 million. Despite higher operating costs, the Bank maintained 

sound financial stability through disciplined cost control and improved portfolio performance.

Expense (Birr in ‘000)

Particular 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 Change % age

Interest Expense 2,107,561 1,796,517 311,044 17.3

Non-interest Expense 5,692,357 3,082,639 2,609,718 84.7

Personnel expenses 2,407,302 2,076,281 331,022 15.9

General Expense 3,292,289 1,073,274 2,219,015 206.8

Impairment Expense (7,235) (66,916) (59,681) (89.2)

Total Expense 7,799,918 4,879,156 2,920,762 59.9

3.5 Profit
Profit before tax for the year ended June 2025 amounted to Birr 2.5 billion. This represents an 
annual increase of 66.5 percent when compared with the prior year. The result was achieved through 
improved earnings, effective cost containment, and efficient utilization of resources. 

Composition of Profit in millions of Birr
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4. Branch Expansion 
During the fiscal year, the Bank undertook a rationalization of its branch network in order to enhance 
operational efficiency and optimize resource allocation. 18 branches that consistently recorded low 
performance were consolidated with nearby locations, thereby reducing redundancy and ensuring 
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more effective service delivery. The Bank, on the other hand, pursued a measured expansion strategy 
by opening 11 additional branches (1 city and 10 outlying branches). As a result of these adjustments, 
the Bank’s branch network reached 376 at the close of the reporting period (161 city and 215 outlying 
branches).

5. Information Technology and Digital Financial Banking 
During the year under review, the Bank has made significant progress on its Core Banking System 
(version-24) upgrade project. The requirement gathering and system configuration were completed 
in accordance with the defined specifications, and testing was successfully carried out. By the time 
of reporting, the CBS-24 system upgrade has been fully launched, marking a major milestone in 
the Bank’s digital transformation journey, enhancing operational efficiency, strengthening system 
integration, and supporting the introduction of innovative financial products and services. 

To further strengthen its technology infrastructure, the Bank successfully completed the colocation 
of its data center with Ethio-telecom. This strategic move has enhanced system availability, ensured 
reliable power redundancy, optimized cooling efficiency, and reinforced overall security.

In addition, the Bank expanded its digital banking services during the year. In partnership with 
Kacha Fintech, it commenced a micro digital lending service that is expected to contribute positively 
to profitability. The Bank also officially launched the Fuel Aggregator System, a transformative digital 
platform developed in collaboration with the Ministry of Transport and Logistics. This innovation 
represents a major step forward in modernizing fuel distribution across the country, enhancing 
efficiency, and ensuring seamless service delivery for businesses and consumers. To further enhance 
its digital banking services, the Bank installed 15 additional ATMs during the financial year, raising 

the total number to 183, while the number of POS reached 241 by the end of the review period.

6. Human Resources 
The total staff strength reached 5,796 employees as of June 2025, following the recruitment of 87 
permanent staff to operate new branches and fill vacant posts. Of the total staff, 64.0 percent were 
male and 36.0 percent female. 

Staff turnover declined to 5.0 percent from 6.6 percent in the previous year, indicating improved 
retention. In order to enhance operational focus, 370 non-clerical positions, mainly in security 
services were outsourced in the year 2024/25 the total reached 993.

Employee development remained a central focus. Training programs covering management, 
leadership, information technology, and technical skills were provided to 4,091 employees. A 
significant milestone was the introduction of an e-learning platform, which enabled flexible and 
accessible training opportunities. The program engaged 222 managerial staff and 1,625 non-
managerial staff, strengthening institutional capacity and contributing to higher levels of employee 
performance.

7. Building Construction Projects
During the financial year, the Bank made progress on major building initiatives. The 
Transitional Head Office Building advanced with the successful completion of the design 
bid process, culminating in contract signing with the winning firm. On the other hand, the 
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Main Head Quarter Building initial design contract was terminated following new setback 
regulations issued by the Addis Ababa City Administration. To ensure compliance with 
these requirements, the Bank has initiated a new design process and secured a lease period 
extension to facilitate the project’s reinstatement.

8. Strategic Priorities for 2025/26 FY
To ensure sustainable growth, profitability, and long-term competitiveness, the Bank will prioritize 
the following strategic directions in the upcoming financial year:

	Strengthening and diversifying deposit mobilization initiatives to secure a stable and 
growing funding base, supported by targeted marketing campaigns, branch-level 
accountability, and enhanced customer engagement strategies;

	Strengthening loan origination, monitoring, and recovery practices to minimize non-
performing loans, safeguard asset quality, and improve risk-adjusted returns;

	Significantly improving service delivery standards through employee training, process 
simplification, digital integration, and customer feedback mechanisms to ensure a 
seamless and differentiated banking experience;

	Bolstering the Bank’s capital position to meet and exceed the requirements of the 
National Bank of Ethiopia, while also ensuring sufficient buffers to support future growth 
and absorb potential shocks;

	Expanding and deepening digital banking services by operationalizing innovative 
products, enhancing mobile and internet banking platforms, and embedding emerging 
technologies for efficiency;

	Implementing advanced cyber-security frameworks, strengthening IT resilience, and 
ensuring uninterrupted service delivery to protect customer trust and institutional 
reputation;

	Progressing with the construction of the Transitional Head Office Building as per 
schedule;

	Investing in staff capacity building, performance management, and leadership 
development programs to strengthen execution capability and foster a high-performance 
culture;

	Designing and implementing tailored financial products and services to broaden financial 
access; and

	Strengthening marketing initiatives and communication strategies to position Berhan 
Bank as a trusted, innovative, and customer-centric financial partner in a competitive 
market.
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Transitional HO AR design contract signing

Support for students’ new academic year Support for Children in need

Green project

Renovation of Homes for Elderly People with Low Incomes

Major Events

Before After
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Financed Projects

Fikireselam General Hospital

Dagew Mekonnen Mixed use 2 basement G + 7 Building

Droga Pharmacy & Physiotherapy clinic
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EAD Exposure at Default
  
ECL Expected credit losses
  
EPS Earnings per share
  
FLI Forward-Looking-Information
  
FVOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income
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OCI Other comprehensive income
  
SPPI Solely payments of principal and interest
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The directors submit their report together with the financial statements for the period ended 30-
June 2025, to the members of Berhan Bank S.C (“Berhan” or the “Bank”). This report discloses the 
financial performance and state of affairs of the Bank.     
Incorporation and address     

Berhan Bank S.C was incorporated in Ethiopia in October 2009 as a privately owned financial 
institution, and is domiciled in Ethiopia.     
Principal activities     

The Bank is principally engaged in the provision of diverse range of financial products and services 
to a wholesale, retail and SME clients based in Ethiopian Market.    
Results and dividends     

The Bank’s results for the year ended 30 June 2025 are set out on the Statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. The profit for the year has been transferred to retained earnings. 

The summarised results are presented below. 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Revenue 7,946,575 4,577,533
Profit / (loss) before tax 2,511,080 1,507,785
Tax (charge) / credit (415,521) (319,573)
Profit / (loss) for the year 2,095,559 1,188,212
Other comprehensive income / (loss) net of taxes 268,058 217,056
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 2,363,617 1,405,268

      

Directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are set out in the report.
 

 

    

Ato Eligo Legesse Ato Ermias Tefera

Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer
Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

Berhan Bank S.C
Report of the Directors
For the period ended 30 June 2025



30 Annual Report 2024/25Berhan Bank S.C.

In accordance with the Banking Business Proclamation No. 592/2008, the National Bank of Ethiopia 
(NBE) may direct the Bank to prepare financial statements in accordance with international financial 
reporting standards, whether their designation changes or they are replaced, from time to time.  

The Bank’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Commercial Code of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia 2021, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Bank is 
required keep such records as are necessary to:     

a) Exhibit clearly and correctly the state of its affairs;    

b) Explain its transactions and financial position; and    

c) Enable the National Bank to determine whether the Bank had complied with the provisions 
of the Banking Business Proclamation and regulations and directives issued for the implementation 
of the aforementioned Proclamation.     

The Bank’s Directors accepts responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been 
prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards, Banking Business 
Proclamation, Commercial Code of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia 2021 and the 
relevant Directives issued by the National Bank of Ethiopia.     

The Directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 
the financial affairs of the company and of its profit or loss. 

The Directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records that may 
be relied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as adequate systems of internal 
financial control.     

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that the company will not remain a 
going concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statement.    

Signed on behalf of the Directors by: 

 

Ato Eligo Legesse Ato Ermias Tefera
Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer

06-Oct-25 06-Oct-25

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Notes Birr’000 Birr’000
Interest income 7 6,058,457 5,112,154
Interest expense 8 (2,107,561) (1,796,517)
Net Interest Income  3,950,896 3,315,637

  

Fees and commission income 9 2,351,938 836,526
Fees and commission expense 9 (264,096) (79,807)
Net Fee and Commission Income  2,087,842 756,719

  

Other operating income 10 1,900,602 438,261
Total Operating Income  7,939,340 4,510,617

  

Loan Impairment Charge 11 22,528 144,207
Impairment Loss on other Financial Assets 11 (15,293) (77,291)
Net Operating Income  7,946,575 4,577,533

  

Personnel expenses 12 (2,407,302) (2,076,281)
Depreciation of property and equipment 21 (97,988) (79,426)
Amortisation of intangible assets 20 (4,165) (3,784)
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 19 (343,927) (317,680)
Other operating expenses 13 (2,582,113) (592,577)
Total Operating Expenses  (5,435,495) (3,069,748)

  

Profit Before Tax  2,511,080 1,507,785
  

Income tax expense 14 (415,521) (319,573)
  

Profit for the Period  2,095,559 1,188,212
  

Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) Net of Income Tax
  

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:  
  

Remeasurements of Defined Benefit Liability/Asset-Net of 
Tax

26 (57,712) (36,343)

Movement in fair value reserve (FVOCI equity instruments) 
-Net of Tax

26 325,770 253,399

  

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year, Net of 
Tax

 2,363,617 1,405,268

  

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders  2,095,559 1,188,212
  
Earnings per share of Birr 1,000  
Basic Earnings Per Share 28 546.97 350.33

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Notes Birr’000 Birr’000

ASSETS    
Cash and Balances with Banks 15 7,323,476 4,839,915
Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 15 866,669 937,387
Loans and Advances to Customers 16 34,527,985 29,202,255
Investment Securities  
           Financial Assets at amortized cost: 17 6,348,801 3,604,270
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI: 17 608,049 460,152
Other Assets 18 2,897,297 1,550,695
Inventory 18 116,106 152,044
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 18 237,671 214,641
Right-of-use assets 19 1,202,909 1,165,020
Intangible Assets 20 26,722 5,052
Property and Equipment 21 1,448,274 1,340,376
Restricted Fund Balance 15 3,354,900 2,549,700
Total Assets  58,958,859 46,021,506
  
LIABILITIES  
Due to Banks & Other Institutions 22 287,348 578,018
Deposits from Customers 22 44,454,019 36,852,193
Current Tax Liabilities 14 448,597 286,389
Margins Held on Letters of Credit 22 1,508,336 567,992
Other Liabilities 22 3,192,689 1,069,912
Provisions 22 301,061 250,027
Retirement Benefit Obligations 22 194,200 136,485
Deferred Tax Liabilities 14 32,489 67,295
Total Liabilities  50,418,739 39,808,311
  

EQUITY  
Share Capital 23 4,286,885 3,447,898
Share Premium 23 18,628 16,372
Retained Earnings 24 1,045,836 681,088
Legal Reserve 25 1,677,627 1,153,737
Other Reserve 26 382,940 310,080
Regulatory Risk Reserve 27 1,128,204 604,020
Total Equity  8,540,120 6,213,195
  
Total Liabilities and Equity  58,958,859 46,021,506

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 
06-Oct-25 and were signed on its behalf by:

Ato Eligo Legesse Ato Ermias Tefera
Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Financial Position
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Notes Birr'000 Birr'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 2,511,080      1,507,785       
Adjustment for:
Loan impairment charges 11 (22,528)              (144,207)            
Impairment losses on other assets 13 15,293                77,291                
Amortisation of Right of use assets 19 343,927             317,681               
Amortisation of intangible assets 20 4,165                  3,784                  
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 21 98,188                79,456                
Impairment Loss(Gain) Asset Held for Sale 13 170                      45                        
Allowance for Inventory Write-Down 13 -                      589                      
Gain on Disposal of Property Plant And Equipment(net) (46,322)              (172,550)             
Gain from reversal of impairment allowance (320)                    (71)                       
Interest Expense on Lease Liability 8 45,780               42,336                
Payment of Severance Benefit 22 (14,815)               (13,026)               
Gain/Loss On Lease Modification(net) (2,558)                0                          
Write off Expense 22,628               -                      
Other Non Cash Income (832)                    -                      

2,953,856      1,699,113        
Cash Flow From Operation before Changes in Working Capital
Decrease (Increase) in Loans & Advances excluding provision 16 (5,155,451)          (1,927,445)         
Decrease (Increase) in Non current asset held for sale 18 (23,200)              (156,645)            
Decrease (Increase) in Other Assets 18 (1,488,678)        (158,998)            
Decrease (Increase) in Restricted Fund Balances 15 (805,200)           (139,000)            
Increase (Decrease) in Deposits 22 7,601,826          3,069,899         
Increase  (Decrease) in Margin Held Account 22 940,344             202,719              
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities 22 2,157,769          (406,220.85)     
Decrease (Increase) Inventory 18b 36,258               (74,454)              
Decrease (Increase) Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 15 70,718                2,782,532          
Increase (Decrease) in Provision 22 51,034                184,975              
Decrease (Increase) Due to Banks & Other Institutions 22 (290,670)           (2,940,390)        
Increase  (Decrease) Retirement benefit obligations-Charge for the year 22 42,002               34,772                
Decrease in imparement provision Allowance (42,213)              -                      

Cash Generated From Operation
Withholding Tax Paid (1,730)                 (1,164)                  
 Profit tax Paid 14 (286,389)           (79,077)              
Prior Period Tax -                      (9,154)                 
Net Cash flow from Operating Activities 5,760,276      2,081,462      

Cash Flow From Investing Activities
Purchase of Property and Equipment 21 (231,874)            (260,240)           
Purchase of Intangible Assets 20 (25,835)              -                      
Acquistion of Right of use asset 21 (381,816)             (389,487)            
Investment in NBE Bills & Bonds 17 (2,744,668)       228,677             
Investment in Shares 17 (44,509)              (37,497)              
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 21 72,109                217,698              
Net Cash flow from Investing Activities (3,356,593)   (240,848)      

Cash Flow From Financing Activities
Ordinary Shares Issued 23 838,987             97,465                
Share Premium Received 23 2,256                  525                      
Dividends paid 24 (681,088)            (196,394)            
Increase  (Decrease) Borrowings 22 -                      (559,028)            
Principal Lease Payment 19 (78,549)              (75,927)              
Director's Share of Profit (1,650)                 -                      
Net Cash flow from Financing Activities 79,956            (733,358)       

Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,483,639         1,107,255           
Cash and Cash Equivalent at the Beginning of the Year 4,840,068         3,732,813           

Berhan Bank S.C
Statement of Cash Flows
For the period ended 30 June 2025
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Financial Statements
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1 Reporting Entity    

Berhan Bank SC (“Berhan” or the “Bank”) is a private commercial bank domiciled in Ethiopia. The 
Bank was registered and licensed by the National Bank of Ethiopia on 27 June 2009 in accordance 
with the provisions of the Commercial Code of Ethiopia of 1960 (now replaced by Proclamation No. 
1243/2021) and the Licensing and Supervision of Banking Business Proclamation No. 84/1994 (now 
replaced by Proclamation No. 1360/2025). The Bank primarily provides corporate and retail banking 
services in the country. Its registered office is located at Bole Dildiye TK International Building, Addis 
Ababa, Ethiopia.    

The Bank is principally engaged in the provision of diverse range of financial products and services 
to a wholesale, retail and SME client’s base in Ethiopian Market.    

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies    

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
2.1 Basis of preparation    

The financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2025 have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). Additional information required by National regulations is included 
where appropriate.     

The financial statements comprise the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the statement of financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows 
and the notes to the financial statements.    

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern principle under 
the historical cost concept except the following: 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit and loss, 
financial assets and financial liabilities and investment properties measured at fair value;

• Assets held for sale - measured at fair value less cost of disposal; and
• The liability for defined benefit obligations recognized at the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation less the fair value of the plan assets and plan assets measured at fair value

2.2 Functional and Presentation Currency    

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Ethiopian Birr (ETB), which is the Bank’s 
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest million, except when otherwise 
indicated.    

2.3 Going Concern         

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The management have no 
doubt that the Bank would remain in existence after 12 months.    

2.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Judgements         

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and 
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liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities, the Bank makes assumptions 
of the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
The Bank’s estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and expectation of future 
events and are reviewed periodically. Further information about key assumptions concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgement, are set out in the relevant 
disclosure notes for the following areas:

• Credit impairment

• Financial instruments measured at fair value

• Provisions for liabilities and charges

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
effects on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements are included:

• Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, determining the methodology for incorporating FLI 
into the measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models used to measure ECL.

• Classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets 
are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on 
the principal amount outstanding.

Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties    

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities, the bank makes assumptions 
of the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
The bank’s estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and expectation of future 
events and are reviewed periodically.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting 
in a material adjustment in the year ended 30 June 2025 are included in the following notes:

• Impairment of financial instruments: determining inputs into the ECL measurement model, 
including incorporation of forward-looking information.

• Determination of the fair value of financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs.

• Measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions.

• Recognition and measurement of contingencies: key assumptions about the likelihood and 
magnitude of an outflow of resources.

• Impairment of financial instruments: key assumptions used in estimating recoverable cash 
flows.

2.5 New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards that are effective for the Current 
year

i. Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current to IAS 8 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the 
requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:
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• What is meant by a right to defer settlement?

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right.

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.     

The amendment does not have any material impact on the Bank    
ii. Amendments to IFRS 16 – Lease Liability in a Sale     

The amendment to IFRS 16 specifies the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease 
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any 
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

However, the requirements do not prevent the seller lessee from recognizing any gain or loss arising 
from the partial or full termination of a lease    

The amendment does not have any material impact on the Bank.    

2.6 New accounting standards in issue but not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods in 2025 
and beyond and earlier application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted the new 
and amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

The bank shall apply the amendments when it it is due. However, the new and amended standards 
are not expected to have a significant impact on the Bank’s consolidated financial statements.

Title Description 
Effective 
Date 

Amendments 
to IAS 21 
– Lack of 
exchangeability 

The amendments specifies how an entity should assess whether 
a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot 
exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking. 

A currency is considered to be exchangeable into another 
currency when an entity is able to obtain the other currency 
within a time frame that allows for a normal administrative 
delay and through a market or exchange mechanism in which 
an exchange transaction would create enforceable rights and 
obligations. 

If a currency is not exchangeable into another currency, an 
entity is required to estimate the spot exchange rate at the 
measurement date. An entity’s objective in estimating the spot

 The 
a m e n d m e n t s 
are effective for 
annual periods 
beginning on or 
after January 
1, 2025. Earlier 
application is 
permitted.
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exchange rate is to reflect the rate at which an orderly exchange 
transaction would take place at the measurement date between 
market participants under prevailing economic conditions.

IFRS 18 – Pre-
sentation and 
Disclosure in 
Financial State-
ments 

This standard replaces IAS 1 and introduces new subtotals 
(e.g. operating profit) and enhanced disclosure requirements. 
These amendments are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the financial statements in the period of initial 
application. 

Issued 9 April 
2024 and effec-
tive for annual 
periods begin-
ning on or after 
1 January 2027 
(early adoption 
p e r m i t t e d ) . 
The Bank has 
elected not to 
adopt IFRS 18 
early.

2.7 Foreign Currency Translation

a. Functional and presentation currency a. Functional and presentation currency    

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Bank operates (‘the functional currency’). The functional currency and 
presentation currency of the Bank is the Ethiopian Birr (ETB).    

b. Transactions and balancesb. Transactions and balances    

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Bank’s functional currency are 
recognised in profit or loss within other (loss)/income. Monetary items denominated in foreign 
currency are translated using the closing rate as at the reporting date. Mid exchange rate (which 
is the average of the selling exchange rate and the buying exchange rate) is used by the Bank in 
connection with the revaluation of foreign currency items.

2.8 Recognition of income and expenses    

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Bank and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.

The Bank, earns income from interest on loans and advances, investment in shares, deposit with 
other banks, purchase of Bills and Bonds, letter of credits, letter of guarantees and other operational 
services.    
i. Net Interest Income    

a) Effective interest ratea) Effective interest rate    

Interest income and expense were recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 
effective interest rate was the rate that exactly discounted the estimated future cash payments and 
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receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability (or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Bank estimated future cash flows considering all contractual terms of 
the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. Where the estimates of cash flows have been 
revised, the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability is adjusted to reflect the actual and 
revised cash flows, discounted at the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The adjustment is 
recognised as interest income or expense in the period in which the revision is made.

The calculation of the effective interest rate included transaction costs and fees and points paid 
or received that were an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs included 
incremental costs that were directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or 
financial liability.”    

Interest income for financial assets held at either fair value through other comprehensive income or 
amortised cost, and interest expense on all financial liabilities held at amortised cost is recognised in 
profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

b) Calculation of interest income and expenseb) Calculation of interest income and expense    

Interest income for financial assets held at either fair value through other comprehensive income or 
amortised cost, and interest expense on all financial liabilities held at amortised cost is recognised 
in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate of a financial asset 
or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability. In 
calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. 
The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate 
instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. 

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the 
gross basis. For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is 
calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset.  
     

c) Amortised cost and gross carrying amountc) Amortised cost and gross carrying amount     

The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial 
asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit 
loss allowance.

The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before 
adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance.

d) Presentationd) Presentation    

Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered to be incidental to 
the Bank’s trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of 
trading assets and liabilities in net trading income. 
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Interest income and expense on other financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are presented 
in net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL.
ii) Fees and Commission    

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on 
government bills and bonds are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. Other fees 
and commission income (for example commission on purchase orders, Cash Payment Orders (CPOs) 
etc) are recognised as the related services performed.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Bank’s financial 
statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the 
case, then the Bank first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the 
scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.

Other fees and commission expenses relates mainly to transaction and service fees are expensed as 
the services are received.    
iii) Dividend Income    

This is recognised when the Bank’s right to receive the payment is established, which is generally 
when the shareholders approve and declare the dividend.      
  
iv) Foreign Exchange Revaluation Gains or Losses    

These are gains and losses arising on settlement and translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the functional currency’s exchange rate at the reporting date.  
This amount is recognised in the income statement.  

The monetary assets and liabilities include financial assets within the correspondent banks, foreign 
currency deposits received, and other liabilities held on behalf of third parties.   

During the year, the Central Bank shifted from a managed exchange rate regime to a market-based 
exchange rate system with new directives, Foreign Exchange Directive No. FXD/01/2024. This 
resulted in a foreign exchange gain on monetary assets and a loss on monetary liabilities, recognized 
in the income statement.        

2.9 Financial Instruments        

(a)  Initial recognition and measurement (a)  Initial recognition and measurement    

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is normally the transaction price, 
plus directly attributable transaction costs for financial assets which are not subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.

The bank initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated 
liabilities on the date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognized on 
the trade date, which is the date on which the bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities (deposits and debt securities) are measured at 
their amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
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A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

(b)  Subsequent measurement(b)  Subsequent measurement    

Financial assets and financial liabilities held at amortised cost are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Equity investments designated at FVOCI are subsequently carried at fair value with all unrealised 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a separate component of equity. On derecognition, the cumulative reserve is 
transferred to retained earnings and is not recycled to profit or loss.    

(C)  Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (C)  Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities     

i) Financial assetsi) Financial assets    

Financial assets which have SPPI characteristics and that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows (‘hold to collect’) are recorded 
at amortised cost. Conversely, financial assets which have SPPI characteristics but are held within 
a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets (‘hold to collect and sell’) are classified as held at FVOCI.

Both hold to collect business and a hold to collect and sell business models involve holding financial 
assets to collect the contractual cash flows. However, the business models are distinct by reference to 
the frequency and significance that asset sales play in meeting the objective under which a particular 
group of financial assets is managed. Hold to collect business models are characterised by asset sales 
that are incidental to meeting the objectives under which a group of assets is managed. Sales of assets 
under a hold to collect business model can be made to manage increases in the credit risk of financial 
assets but sales for other reasons should be infrequent or insignificant.   

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 
managed and its contractual cash flows. 

The Bank shall measure a financial asset at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated at FVTPL: 

•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). 

 A debt instrument shall be measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated at FVTPL: 

•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
SPPI. 

Under IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally presented as follows: – the amount of change in the 
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fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is presented in OCI; and the 
remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss.    

On initial recognition, an equity investment that is held for trading shall be classified at FVTPL.  
However, for equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income (OCI). This election is made on an 
investment-by-investment basis. 

All other financial assets that do not meet the classification criteria at amortised cost or FVOCI, 
above, shall be classified as measured at FVTPL. 

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise 
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.
ii) Financial liabilities    

The Bank shall classify its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, 
as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. 

A financial guarantee is an undertaking/commitment that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified party fails to meet its 
obligation when due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Financial guarantees issued by the Bank are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of: the amount of the obligation 
under the guarantee, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets; and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative 
amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

(d) Derecognition of Financial Instruments(d) Derecognition of Financial Instruments    
i) Derecognition of Financial Assets    

The bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or 
in which the bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset 
(or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest 
in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the bank is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial 
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or 
a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. 

In transactions in which the bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the bank continues to 
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recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it 
is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
ii) Derecognition of Financial Liabilities    

The bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire.
(e) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities     
i)        Financial assets     

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank shall evaluate whether the cash flows of 
the modified asset are substantially different. 

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original 
financial asset shall be deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset shall be 
derecognised and a new financial asset shall be recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction 
costs. Any fees received as part of the modification shall be accounted for as follows: 

•	 fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent 
reimbursement of eligible transaction costs shall be included in the initial measurement of the 
asset; and 

•	 Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition. 

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the 
modification is usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate 
a new asset with substantially different terms.

If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, 
then it shall first consider whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification 
takes place.

Where the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in 
derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank shall first recalculate the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting 
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received 
as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and shall 
be amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset. 

Where such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the 
gain or loss shall be presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it shall be presented 
as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method. 
ii)        Financial liabilities     

The Bank shall derecognise a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of 
the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the 
modified terms shall be recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration 
paid shall include non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including 
the new modified financial liability. 

Where the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the 
amortised cost of the liability shall be recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the 
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original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any 
costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and 
amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective 
interest rate on the instrument. 

2.10  Write-off     

Loans and debt securities shall be written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the amount in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case 
when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could 
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment shall be 
carried out at the individual asset level. 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off shall be included in ‘impairment losses on financial 
instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. 

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply 
with the Bank’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

2.11 Renegotiated Loans    

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually 
considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual 
cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a 
loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is considered credit-impaired.

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing 
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit 
deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised 
and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value.   

2.12 Collateral Valuation    

The Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible, to mitigate its risks on financial assets. The collateral 
comes in various forms such as cash, buildings, vehicles, Bank guarantees and real estate. The fair 
value of collateral is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and based on the Bank’s reporting 
schedule.

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets, held as collateral. 
Other financial assets which do not have a readily determinable market value are valued using 
models.         

2.13 Collateral Repossessed    

Repossessed collateral represents financial and non-financial assets acquired by the Bank in 
settlement of overdue loans. The Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset is best 
used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be used for internal operations 
are initially recognised at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original 
secured asset and included in the relevant assets depending on the nature and the Bank’s intention in 
respect of recovery of these assets, and are subsequently remeasured and accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policies for these categories of assets. Assets that are determined better to be 
sold are immediately transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value at the repossession date in 
line with the Bank’s policy.    
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2.14 Offsetting Financial Instruments    

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position where the Bank has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Or if 
the Bank may enter into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for 
the related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as Bankruptcy or the termination of 
a contract.

Income and expenses shall be presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains 
and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.

3 Major Elements of Financial Statements    

3.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents    

‘Cash and cash equivalents’ include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with central 
bank and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by 
the bank in the management of its short-term commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. 

3.2 Property and Equipment    

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment 
if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property and equipment are required to 
be replaced at intervals, the Bank recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives 
and depreciates them accordingly. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in income 
statement as incurred.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised.         

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost  to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:    

Asset category Years Residual val-
ues 

Remark

Building 50 50% of cost  
Motor Vehicle 10 50% of cost  

Computer and Related items 7 35% of cost

Computer and accessories are 
included Computer,  
UPS, Switch, Patch panel---

Furniture and Fitting    
Short lived Furniture and Fit-
tings 7 45% of cost Chairs



48 Annual Report 2024/25Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

Medium lived Furniture and 
Fittings 10 50% of cost

Included, partition, cage , counter 
-----

Long Lived Furniture and Fit-
tings 20 20% of cost Vault /strong room 
Equipment:    

Short lived Equipment 5 15% of cost

Counting Machine, photocopy, 
FCY, Display and detector,  
Printer, Scanner and electronic 
related items …

Medium lived Equipment 10 45% of cost Generator ,ATM and Others
Long lived equipment 20 25% of cost Cash safe

The Bank commences depreciation when the asset is available for use. 

Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.  They are 
disclosed when reclassified during the year.    

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in income statement when the asset is 
derecognised.

At each balance sheet date the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively if appropriate, including assessing for indicators of impairment. In the event that an 
asset’s carrying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable amount, the asset is written 
down to the recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the income statement.

The estimation of the useful lives of assets is based on management’s judgement. Any material 
adjustment to the estimated useful lives of items of property and equipment will have an impact on 
the carrying value of these items.    

3.3 Intangible Assets    

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, 
are not capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in income statement in the period in 
which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets 
with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each 
financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life, or the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, are accounted for by changing the amortisation 
period or methodology, as appropriate, which are then treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
The amortisation expenses on intangible assets with finite lives is presented as a separate line item 
in the income statement.
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Amortisation is calculated using the straight–line method as below:

Description Years Residual value 
Software 6 Nil

3.40 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets    

The Bank assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Bank estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an 
individual asset. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

The value in use of the impaired assets is considered to be close its fair value less cost of disposal 
because the assets are either fully depreciated or they will be used for shorter period than their 
respective normal useful lives. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account.   

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. 
If such indication exists, the Bank estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited 
so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement. 

3.50 Leases     

The Bank assesses whether a contract is a lease in scope of this policy by determining whether the 
contract gives it the right to use a specified underlying physical asset for a lease term greater than 12 
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.

Where the Bank is a lessee and the lease is deemed in scope, it recognises a liability equal to the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate 
applicable in the economic environment of the lease. The liability is recognised in ‘Other liabilities’. 
A corresponding right-of-use asset equal to the liability, adjusted for any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date. The lease term includes any extension options contained in the 
contract that the Bank is reasonably certain it will exercise.  

Subsequently, the Bank depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term and measures the lease liability using the effective interest method. Depreciation of the asset is 
recognised in ‘Amortization of right-of-use asset’, and interest on the lease liability is recognised in 
‘Interest expense’.

The judgements in determining lease balances are the determination of whether the Bank is 
reasonably certain that it will exercise extension options present in lease contracts. On initial 
recognition, the Bank considers a range of characteristics such as premises function, regional trends 
and the term remaining on the lease to determine whether it is reasonably certain that a contractual 
right to extend a lease will be exercised. 
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IFRS 16 requires the lease term used to measure lease liabilities to include “reasonably certain” renewal 
options, whereas previously IAS 17 required disclosure of “non-cancellable” lease commitments. The 
consequences of this are:

-> Under IFRS 16, for some leases the Bank includes lease renewal options which it is reasonably 
certain will be exercised in the measurement of lease liabilities.

-> In certain conditions, the Bank has a unilateral right to cancel building leases with notice of fewer 
than three months without incurring a significant financial penalty. Under IFRS 16 the Bank would 
only exclude these cash flows from lease measurement if it was reasonably certain the termination 
clause would be exercised

Existing lease liabilities may change in future periods due to changes in assumptions or decisions to 
exercise lease renewal or termination options, changes in payments due to renegotiations of market 
rental rates. In general the remeasurement of a lease liability under these circumstances leads to an 
equal change to the right-of-use asset balance, with no immediate effect on the income statement. 

3.60  Non-Current Assets (or disposal groups) Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is 
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, 
financial assets and investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under 
insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale and measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell when:

  a) Their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through sale

  b) They are available for immediate sale in their present condition, and

  c) Their sale is highly probable

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal 
group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value 
less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-
current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised 
while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of 
a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for 
sale are presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal 
group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as 
held for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, 
is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is 
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a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are 
presented separately in the statement of profit or loss.    

3.70 Other Assets    

Other assets are generally defined as claims held against other entities for the future receipt of money. 
The other assets in the Bank’s financial statements include the following:   
(a) Prepayment    

Prepayments are payments made in advance for services to be enjoyed in future. The amount is 
initially capitalized in the reporting period in which the payment is made and subsequently amortised 
over the period in which the service is to be enjoyed.    
(b) Other Receivables    

Other receivables are recognised upon the occurrence of event or transaction as they arise and 
cancelled when payment is received.
(c) Prepaid Staff Benefits    

The Bank gives loans to its staff members at below market rates of interest. Under IFRS 9, such loans 
must be recognised at their fair value on the inception date. The fair value is determined on inception 
date as the present value of all the future cash receipts (instalments) from the staff members using 
the prevailing market rate of interest as the discounting factor. The market rate was determined by 
reference to what the staff members would have been charged to access a similar loan facility from 
the financial market (similar in terms of currency, term, type of interest rate and other factors). The 
market rate was set by the Ethiopian Bankers Association. Accordingly for the year 2024/25, interest 
rate of 12% was used for mortgage loans, and for other loan types interest rate of 13.64%.

The difference between the fair valued amount of the loan and the original loan amount is recognised 
as employee benefit. However, IAS 19 does not give specific guidelines on the treatment of prepaid 
employee benefit so the general guidelines of conceptual framework would apply.   

Therefore, to recognise the prepaid employee benefit on inception date of the loan, the bank should 
consider the nature of the loan i.e. does the interest rate revert back to market interest rate or below 
the market interest rate when the employee leaves the bank? 

If the interest rate reverts back to market interest rate, this means that the employee benefit has 
not been earned and the bank expects future economic benefits. Therefore, the prepaid employee 
benefit would be capitalised as an asset and amortized throughout the life of the loan based on the 
conceptual framework definition of an asset.

If the interest rate still remains below the market interest rate, this means that the employee benefit 
has been fully earned and the bank does not expect future economic benefits. Therefore, the prepaid 
employee benefit would be expensed immediately.   

3.80 Inventories         

IAS 2 provides guidance for determining the cost of inventories and the subsequent recognition of 
the cost as an expense, including any write down to net realisable value. It also provides guidance on 
the cost formulas that are used to assign costs to inventories. Inventories are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.
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The cost of inventories includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion (direct labour and 
production overhead) and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.    

Inventories are assets:

   a) Held for sale in the ordinary course of business;

   b) In the process of production for such sale; or

   c) In the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering 
of services.

In the case of Berhan bank inventories, definition (c) applies. IAS 2 Inventories contains the 
requirements on how to account for most types of inventory. The standard requires inventories to 
be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV) and outlines acceptable methods 
of determining cost, including specific identification (in some cases), first-in first-out (FIFO) and 
weighted average cost. The bank use weighted average cost method for measuring its inventories.

3.90 Employee Benefits    

The Bank operates various post-employment benefit schemes, including both defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans and other long-term employee benefits.    
(a) Defined Contribution Plan    

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is 
provided and recognised as personnel expenses in profit or loss. Prepaid contributions are recognised 
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

The Bank operates two defined contribution plans;

 i)   Pension scheme in line with the provisions of Ethiopian pension of private organisation 
employee’s proclamation 715/2011.  Funding under the scheme is 7% and 11% by employees and the 
Bank respectively;

 ii)  Provident fund contribution, funding under this scheme is 1% by the Bank;

Both schemes are based on the employees’ salary. Employer’s contributions to this scheme are 
charged to profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they relate. 
(b) Defined Benefit Plan    

The Banks’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by 
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, 
discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Bank, the 
recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value 
of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the 
return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), 
are recognised immediately in OCI. The Bank determines the net interest expense (income) on the 



53Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure 
the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit 
liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the 
period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses 
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in personnel expenses in profit or loss.   
 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit 
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss. The Bank recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the 
settlement occurs.    
(c) Other Long-term Employee Benefits    

The Banks’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit 
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit 
is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.    
(d) Termination Benefits    

Termination benefits are payable to employees when employment is terminated by the Bank before 
the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits.    
(e) Short-term Employee Benefits    

The Bank recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation such as bonus payments.

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.”    
(f) Defined Benefits Liabilities    

According to IAS 19, employee benefit liability and expense shall be recognized in the period in which 
the employee gives service and should be valued. 

Accounting for defined benefit plans involves the following steps:

   Using an actuarial technique, the projected unit credit method, to make a reliable estimate 
of the ultimate cost to the entity of the benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods. This requires an entity to determine how much benefit is 
attributable to the current and prior periods and to make estimates (actuarial assumptions) about 
demographic variables (such as employee turnover and mortality) and financial variables (such as 
future increases in salaries and medical costs) that will affect the cost of the benefit. 

   Discounting that benefit in order to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
and the current service cost because they may be settled many years after the employees render 
the related service.

   Determining amounts to be recognized in profit or loss: current service cost any past service cost 
and gain or loss on settlement. 
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   Recognize the net defined benefit liability (asset) in the statement of financial position. This means 
that Berhan bank’s severance pay to its employees shall be recognized earlier than the actual 
payment. The benefits valued are the statutory severance benefits in Ethiopia, which provides a 
promised lump sum as a multiple of final weeks’ average daily wages for each year of service to 
employees on leaving the bank after a minimum of five years’ service and a retirement gratuity 
which pays a fixed multiple of salary on retirement (three months’ salary for managerial staff and 
two months’ salary for non-managerial staff).    

3.10  Provisions    

Provisions are recognised when there  is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When 
the Bank expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in income statement net of any 
reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 
rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as other operating expenses.

3.11 Income Taxation    
(a) Current Income Tax    

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in Ethiopia. Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities.
(b) Deferred Tax    

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities 
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or 
the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
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income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset when they arise in the same tax reporting group and 
where there is both the legal right and the intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.  

3.12  Structure of Share Capital    

Authorised Share Capital = the maximum value of securities that the bank can legally issue.

Issued Shares = the total of the bank´s shares that are held by shareholders.

Outstanding Shares = are those issued shares.

Ordinary Shares = any shares that are not preferred shares and do not have any predetermined 
dividend amounts. An ordinary share represents equity ownership in a company and entitles the 
owner to a vote in matters put before shareholders in proportion to their percentage ownership in 
the bank.

3.13  Fair value measurement    

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:

   In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

   In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described in Note 6.7.

4 Credit Impairment    

The Banks’s expected credit loss (ECL) calculations are outputs of complex models with a number 
of underlying assumptions. The significant judgements in determining expected credit loss include:

  The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk; and

  Development of expected credit loss models, including the choice of inputs relating to 
macroeconomic variables

The calculation of credit impairment provisions also involves expert credit judgement to be applied 
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by the credit risk management team based upon counterparty information they receive from various 
sources, including external market information.

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, which have the significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

i) Classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets are 
held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the 
principal amount outstanding,

ii) Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, 

iii) Determining methodology for incorporating forward-looking information (FLI) into 
measurement of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) and,

iv) Selection and approval of models used to measure Expected Credit Loss (ECL)
a) Impairment    

At each reporting date, the Bank shall assess whether there is objective evidence that financial assets 
(except equity investments), other than those carried at FVTPL, are impaired.

The Bank shall recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial 
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on the 
following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:–

•	 Financial assets that are debt instruments;

•	 Lease receivables;

•	 Financial guarantee contracts issued; and

•	 Letters of credit
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for 
which they are measured as 12-month ECL:

   Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; 
and

   Other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not 
increased significantly since their initial recognition. 

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument 
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 
12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’.

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 
financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not 
credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’.
b) Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

   Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of 
all cash shortfalls (i.e. The difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 
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with the contract and the cash flows that the bank expects to receive);

   Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

   Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual 
cash flows that are due to the bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that 
the bank expects to receive; and

   Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any 
amounts that the bank expects to recover.

Expected credit losses are computed as unbiased, probability-weighted amounts which are determined 
by evaluating a range of reasonably possible outcomes, the time value of money, and considering all 
reasonable and supportable information, including that which is forward-looking.

For material portfolios, the estimate of expected cash shortfalls is determined by multiplying the 
probability of default (PD) with the loss given default (LGD) with the expected exposure at the time 
of default (EAD). There may be multiple default events over the lifetime of an instrument.

Forward-looking economic assumptions are incorporated into the PD, LGD and EAD where relevant 
and where they influence credit risk, such as GDP growth rates, interest rates, house price indices 
and commodity prices, among others. 

The period over which cash shortfalls are determined is generally limited to the maximum contractual 
period for which the Bank is exposed to credit risk. However, for certain revolving credit facilities, 
which include overdrafts, the Bank’s exposure to credit risk is not limited to the contractual period. 
For these instruments, the Bank estimates an appropriate life based on the period that the Bank 
is exposed to credit risk, which includes the effect of credit risk management actions such as the 
withdrawal of undrawn facilities.

For credit-impaired financial instruments, the estimate of cash shortfalls may require the use of 
expert credit judgement.

The estimate of expected cash shortfalls on a collateralized financial instrument reflects the amount 
and timing of cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the collateral less the costs of obtaining 
and selling the collateral, regardless of whether foreclosure is deemed probable.
c) Recognition of ECL    
12 months expected credit losses (stage 1)

Expected credit losses are recognised at the time of initial recognition of a financial instrument 
and represent the lifetime cash shortfalls arising from possible default events up to 12 months into 
the future from the balance sheet date. Expected credit losses continue to be determined on this 
basis until there is either a significant increase in the credit risk of an instrument or the instrument 
becomes credit impaired. If an instrument is no longer considered to exhibit a significant increase in 
credit risk, expected credit losses will revert to being determined on a 12-month basis.”  
Significant increase in credit risk (stage 2)

If a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition, 
an expected credit loss provision is recognised for default events that may occur over the lifetime of 
the asset.
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Significant increase in credit risk is assessed by comparing the risk of default of an exposure at the 
reporting date to the risk of default at origination (after taking into account the passage of time). 
Significant does not mean statistically significant nor is it assessed in the context of changes in 
expected credit loss. Whether a change in the risk of default is significant or not is assessed using a 
number of quantitative and qualitative factors, the weight of which depends on the type of product 
and counterparty. Financial assets that are 30 or more days past due and not credit-impaired will 
always be considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.  

Quantitative factors include an assessment of whether there has been significant increase in the 
forward-looking probability of default (PD) since origination. A forward-looking PD is one that is 
adjusted for future economic conditions to the extent that these are correlated to changes in credit 
risk. We compare the residual lifetime PD at the balance sheet date to the residual lifetime PD that was 
expected at the time of origination for the same point in the term structure and determine whether 
both the absolute and relative change between the two exceeds predetermined thresholds. To the 
extent that the differences between the measures of default outlined exceed the defined thresholds, 
the instrument is considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk. Qualitative 
factors assessed include those linked to current credit risk management processes, such as lending 
placed on non-purely precautionary early alert (and subject to closer monitoring). 
Credit-impaired (or defaulted) exposures (stage 3)

Financial assets that are credit-impaired (or in default) represent those that are at least 90 days past 
due in respect of principal and/or interest. Financial assets are also considered to be credit-impaired 
where the obligors are unlikely to pay on the occurrence of one or more observable events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset. It may not be possible to 
identify a single discrete event but instead the combined effect of several events may cause financial 
assets to become credit-impaired.”    

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

   Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower

   Breach of contract such as default or a past due event

   For economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, the 
lenders of the borrower have granted the borrower concession/s that lenders would not 
otherwise consider. This would include forbearance actions.

   Pending or actual bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation to avoid or delay discharge of 
the borrower’s obligation/s

   The disappearance of an active market for the applicable financial asset due to financial 
difficulties of the borrower

   Purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects incurred credit 
losses

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition shall be 
considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual 
cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a 
retail loan that is overdue for 90 days or more shall be considered credit-impaired even when the 
regulatory definition of default is different. 
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d) Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position   

Loss allowances for ECL shall be presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

•	 For financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying 
amount of the assets; 

•	 for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; 

•	 Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and 
the Bank cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from 
those on the drawn component: the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both 
components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying 
amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of 
the drawn component is presented as a provision; and 

•	 For debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement 
of financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. 
However, the loss allowance shall be disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve. 

 e) Restructured financial assets     

Where the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is 
replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then the Bank shall assess 
whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:

  -> If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 
expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash 
shortfalls from the existing asset 

  -> If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected 
fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the 
time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing 
financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date 
using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 

5 Contingent liabilities and commitments    

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be 
confirmed only by uncertain future events or present obligations arising from past events that are 
not recognised because either an outflow of economic benefits is not probable or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are not recognised but information 
about them is disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow of economic benefits in settlement is 
remote.

Where the Bank undertakes to make a payment on behalf of its customers for guarantees issued 
such as for performance bonds or as irrevocable letters of credit as part of the Banks’s Transaction 
Banking business, for which an obligation to make a payment has not arisen at the reporting date, 
those are included in these financial statements as contingent liabilities.

Other contingent liabilities primarily include revocable letters of credit and bonds issued on behalf of 
customers to customs officials, for bids or offers and as shipping guarantees.

Commitments are where the Bank has confirmed its intention to provide funds to a customer or on 
behalf of a customer in the form of loans, overdrafts, future guarantees, whether cancellable or not, 
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or letters of credit, and the Bank has not made payments at the balance sheet date; those instruments 
are included in these financial statement as commitments. Commitments and contingent liabilities 
are generally considered on demand as the Bank may have to honour them, or client may draw down 
at any time.

Capital commitments are contractual commitments the Bank has entered into to purchase non-
financial assets.    

6 Financial Risk Management       

6.1 Introduction       

Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities, but is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. Risk Management provides 
a comprehensive and dynamic framework for identifying, measuring, monitoring and managing 
financial and non-financial risks. When the quantitative data disclosed at the reporting date is 
not representative of the Bank’s exposure to risk during the period, further information that is 
representative must be assisted in qualitative disclosures. This process of risk management is critical 
to the Bank’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk 
exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Bank is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. It is also subject to country risk and various operating risks.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the 
environment, technology and industry. The Bank’s policy is to monitor those business risks through 
the Bank’s strategic planning process.       

6.1.1  Risk Management Structure       

The Bank’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Bank’s risk management framework. The Board of Directors has established the Bank Asset and 
Liability Management Committee (ALCO), which is responsible for approving and monitoring Bank 
risk management policies.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 
Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

The risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Bank’s activities. The Bank, through its training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Bank Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Bank’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Bank Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role 
by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and adhoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Bank Audit Committee.

6.1.2 Risk Measurement and Reporting Systems     

The Bank uses international standards of measurements and practices as well as the NBE Directives, 
guidelines and their derivatives to assess credit, liquidity, market and operational risks. The Bank 
also uses its own internal policies and procedures to assess risks.   
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6.1.3 Risk Mitigation       

Risk controls and mitigants, identified and approved for the Bank, are documented for existing and 
new processes and systems. The adequacy of these mitigants is tested on a periodic basis through 
administration of control self-assessment questionnaires, using an operational risk management 
tool which requires risk owners to confirm the effectiveness of established controls. These are 
subsequently audited as part of the review process.     

6.2 Financial Instruments by Category       

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 
managed and its contractual cash flows.

Financial instruments are classified in the statement of financial position in accordance with their 
legal form and substance.        

The Bank’s classification of its financial assets is summarised in the table below: 

 30 June 2025

Notes
FVOCI

Birr’000

Amortized 
Cost

Birr’000

Total

Birr’000
     

Cash and Balances with Banks 17a - 7,323,476 7,323,476
Loans and Advances to Customers 18 - 34,527,985 34,527,985
Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 19b - 866,669 866,669
Investment Securities
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI: 19b 608,049 - 608,049
           Financial Assets at amortized cost: 19a - 6,348,801 6,348,801
Other Assets 20 - 2,897,297 2,897,297

Total Financial Assets 608,049 51,964,228 52,572,277

30 June 2024 Notes
FVOCI

Birr’000

Amor-
tized Cost
Birr’000

Total
Birr’000

    
Cash and Balances with Banks 17a - 4,839,915 4,839,915
Loans and Advances to Customers 18 - 29,202,255 29,202,255
Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions 19b - 937,387 937,387
Investment Securities  
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI: 19b 460,152 - 460,152
           Financial Assets at amortized cost: 19a - 3,604,270 3,604,270
Other Assets 20 - 1,550,695 1,550,695
  
Total Financial Assets  460,152 40,134,522 40,594,674

6.3 Credit Risk       

Credit risk is the most important risk for the Bank’s business defined as current or future risk on the 
financial result and capital arising from a counter party’s failure to meet the terms of any contract 
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with the Bank or otherwise fail to perform as agreed. The exposure to this risk arises principally 
from retail and corporate lending activities, as well as activities related to off-balance sheet financial 
instruments (loan commitments, Letter of Guarantees and Letter of Credit). 

Exposure to credit risk is managed through periodic analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to determine their capacity to meet principal and interest thereon, and restructuring 
such limits as appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated, in part, by obtaining collateral, 
commercial and personal guarantees.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk 
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to term of the financial instrument 
and economic sectors.

The National Bank of Ethiopia (NBE) sets credit risk limit for a single borrower, one related party 
and all related parties to not exceed 25%, 15% and 35% of Bank’s total capital amount as of the 
reporting quarterly period respectively.

Credit management is conducted as per the risk management policy and guideline approved by the 
board of directors and the Risk Management Committees. Such policies are reviewed and modified 
periodically based on changes and expectations of the markets where the Bank operates, regulations, 
and other factors.

Boards of Directors are regularly informed of the credit risk that the Bank is exposed to. The 
Bank has an internal system of classification of customers whose main aim is determining their 
creditworthiness and evaluation of the acceptable level of credit risk in starting lending.

Classification of customers to which the Bank is exposed are reviewed at least annually. The Bank has 
implemented a system of early warning signals in order to timely identify any deterioration in the 
creditworthiness of the client and take appropriate action to mitigate credit risk.

The Bank employs a range of practices to mitigate credit risk. Common practice is accepting suitable 
collateral for approved loans. The main collateral types for loans and other credit exposures are:

   - Mortgages over residential properties;

   - Charges over business assets such as premises and inventory;

   - Charges over financial instruments such as equity securities;

   - Pledges over movables, such as cars, equipment and other,

The Bank monitors compliance with the legally and internally established limits and controls 
concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk limits towards different types of borrowers, industry sectors 
and type of collateral.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted subject 
to at least an annual review. In addition, the exposure concentration risk by sectors and activities is 
regularly monitored on the basis of set limits.

6.3.1 Management of Credit Risk       

The Board of Directors created the Bank Credit Committee for the oversight of credit risk. A separate 
Bank Credit department, reporting to the Bank Credit Committee, is responsible for managing the 
Bank’s credit risk, including the following:
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•	 Formulating credit policies, covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk 
grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory 
and statutory requirements.

•	 Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. 
•	 Reviewing and assessing credit risk: assesses all credit exposures, before facilities are 

committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review 
process.

•	 Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for 
loans and advances, financial guarantees and similar exposures).    
  

•	 Developing and maintaining the Bank’s processes for measuring ECL: This includes 
processes for:
o Initial approval, regular validation and back-testing of the models used;
o Determining and monitoring significant increase in credit risk; and
o Incorporation of forward-looking information (FLI).

•	 Regular reports on the credit quality of portfolios are provided, which may require 
appropriate corrective action to be taken. These include reports containing estimates of 
ECL allowances.

•	 Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice 
throughout the Bank in the management of credit risk.

In measuring credit risk of loans and receivables to various counterparties, the Bank considers the 
character and capacity of the obligor to pay or meet contractual obligations, current exposures to the 
counter party/obligor and its likely future developments, credit history of the counterparty/obligor; 
and the likely recovery ratio in case of default obligations-value of collateral and other ways out. Our 
credit exposure comprises wholesale and retail loans and advances which are developed to reflect 
the needs of our customers. The Bank’s policy is to lend principally on the basis of our customer’s 
repayment capacity through quantitative and qualitative evaluation. However we ensure that our 
loans are backed by collateral to reflect the risk of the obligors and the nature of the facility.

In the estimation of credit risk, the Bank estimate the following parameters:   
(a) Probability of Default (PD)       

The approach adopted in deriving the probability of default is the transition matrix approach. The 
transition matrix records all data about transitions from one state to the other, i.e. from pass to 
special mention all through to non-performing. The initial step in this approach is to split up the 
total value of loans outstanding in a given month into the various loan classification buckets. For the 
purpose of this Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model, the buckets to be used are:

•	 Pass
•	 Special mention
•	 Non-performing (Sub-standard, Doubtful and Loss) 
•	 Paid/ settled

An analysis will then be done to estimate the movement of loan amounts from one bucket to the 
next between two subsequent time periods. This results in a matrix that indicates the proportionate 
movement of loans across the buckets. This is done considering the loan values. An average of all 
transitions obtained over the 60 month period is then obtained to form the general transition matrix 
to be applied.
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The Bank uses computation of PD by amount       
(b) Loss Given Default (LGD)       

The loss given default (LGD) that measures how much (in form of a percentage) the bank is expected 
to lose in the event that default occurs from a customer. This is estimated by considering two scenarios 
in the Bank that is, using collateral in instances whether the customer has collateral against the 
debt instrument that they have undertaken with the Bank and/or an analysis of the historical cash 
collections after the default event, for cases that the debt instrument is not supported by any security.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters 
based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 
consider the structure, collateral, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is 
integral to the financial asset.  They are calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective 
interest rate as the discounting factor.
(c) Exposure at Default (EAD)       

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the 
current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the 
contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at 
the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that may be 
drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking 
forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed exposure when 
the financial guarantee becomes payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modelling 
the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical 
techniques. Its estimation includes the drawn amount and expected utilisation of the undrawn 
commitment at default.       
Significant increase in credit risk       

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant 
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 
and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical experience and expert credit assessment and including 
forward-looking information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred 
for an exposure by comparing:

•	 the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with
•	 the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of 

initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment 
expectations).

•	 the Bank uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk:

o quantitative test based on movement in PD;
o qualitative indicators; and
o a backstop of 30 days past due,
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Definition of default       

The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:

•	 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by 
the Bank to actions such as realising security (if any is held);

•	 the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Bank.
•	 Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised 

limit or been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding; or
•	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy 

due to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank considers indicators that are:

•	 qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant;
•	 quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same 

issuer to the Bank; and
•	 Based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.
•	 Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their 

significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.
Incorporation of forward-looking information      

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit 
risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of 
ECL.

For each segment, the Bank formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median 
scenario, and two less likely scenarios, one upside and one downside. For each sector, the base case is 
aligned with the macroeconomic model’s information value output, a measure of the predictive power 
of the model, as well as base macroeconomic projections for identified macroeconomic variables 
for each sector. The upside and downside scenarios are based on a combination of a percentage 
error factor of each sector model as well as simulated optimistic and pessimistic macroeconomic 
projections based on a measure of historical macroeconomic volatilities.

External information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by an external and 
independent macroeconomic data body. This is in addition to industry – level, semi – annual NPL 
trends across statistically comparable sectors.

Periodically, the Bank carries out stress testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate its determination 
of the upside and downside representative scenarios. A comprehensive review is performed at 
least annually on the design of the scenarios by a panel of experts that advises the Bank’s senior 
management.

The Bank has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio 
of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between 
macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses.

The key drivers for credit risk for each of the Bank’s economic sectors is summarized below: 
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Sector Macroeconomic factor(s)
Cluster 1 M2, USD
Agriculture Nominal GDP, USD (PPP), % y-o-y
Consumer Loans STER, Economic Growth
Overdraft  
Cluster 2 Savings per capita, LCU
Domestic Trade Services Nominal GDP, LCU
Transport Transport & communications nominal GVA, LCU
Health Broad money (% of GDP) - Sovereign Scorecard
Merchandise Legacy STPR, Policy Continuity
Financial Services Legacy Long-Term Political Risk Index
Cluster 3 PR, Security Risk
Building and Construction M1, % of GDP
Hotel and Tourism Consumer price index inflation, 2010=100, eop
Manufacturing and Production Total employment
Industry M2, % of GDP
Real Estate Real GDP growth, % y-o-y
Housing and Construction Foreign reserves ex gold, EUR
Cluster 4 Political Risk Index
Export Lending rate, %, ave
Import Central bank policy rate, %, eop
Advance against Import Bills M1, USD

The economic scenarios used as at 30 June 2025 included the following key indicators for Ethiopia 
for the years 2023, 2024 and 2025 

Indicator 30-Jun-23 30-Jun-24 30-Jun-25
Consumer price index inflation, 2010=100, ave 763.82 959.96 1,131.52
Exports of goods and services, USD 10,163.16 9,435.45 7,190.30
Government domestic debt, LCU 1,711,834.87 2,095,039.47 2,425,405.02
Nominal GDP, LCU 7,328,259.08 9,765,072.05 12,050,982.17
Private final consumption, LCU 5,727,253.20 7,799,889.06 9,755,080.10
Total domestic demand, LCU 7,845,345.56 10,393,227.73 12,862,804.41
Savings, LCU 1,385,282.44 2,086,867.44 2,442,686.12
Population 124.94 128.11 131.32
Consumer price index inflation, 2010=100, eop 766.97 941.15 1,076.88
M1, LCU 518,230.82 583,000.41 659,488.15
M2, LCU 1,665,828.13 1,926,860.26 2,240,723.49
Current expenditure, LCU 548,963.66 616,751.84 790,988.13
Goods imports, USD 16,010.83 16,138.52 17,587.94
Goods exports, USD 3,711.59 3,672.11 4,361.86



67Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

Current account balance, USD (4,970,521,099.44) (4,599,280,813.34) (4,141,870,833.33)
Import cover months 0.63 0.88 1.35
Total household spending, LCU 5,529,948.12 7,514,793.45 9,371,209.76
Nominal GDP, USD 137,853.99 144,927.85 113,766.06
Real GDP, LCU (2010 prices) 1,042,657.89 1,112,745.44 1,189,776.91
Real GDP, USD (2010 prices) 72,358.56 77,222.51 82,568.35
Real GDP per capita, USD (2010 prices) 579.13 602.77 628.76
Nominal GDP, USD (PPP) 374,678.95 409,756.75 443,051.80
Private final consumption, USD 107,737.00 115,761.68 92,091.83
Private final consumption per capita, USD 862.29 903.59 701.28
Government final consumption, LCU 499,796.37 606,562.84 717,917.21
Government final consumption, USD 9,401.81 9,002.27 6,777.42
Exports of goods and services, LCU 540,269.49 635,749.74 761,652.05
Exports of goods and services per capita, USD 81.34 73.65 54.75
Imports of goods and services, LCU 1,174,311.47 1,330,983.64 1,573,370.11
Imports of goods and services, USD 22,090.31 19,753.73 14,853.24
Total domestic demand, USD 147,581.05 154,250.60 121,429.98
Total domestic demand per capita, USD 1,181.18 1,204.02 924.69
Unemployment, % of labour force, ave 3.49 3.37 3.22
Real effective exchange rate index 27.66 15.90 7.42
Total revenue, LCU 637,726.67 791,545.69 1,021,869.42
Total revenue, USD 11,996.46 11,747.69 9,646.85
Total expenditure, LCU 855,217.12 1,025,425.24 1,327,659.92
Total expenditure, USD 16,087.73 15,218.80 12,533.64
Current expenditure, USD 10,326.71 9,153.49 7,467.24
Budget balance, LCU (216,720,442,067.66) (233,713,193,754.65) (305,432,803,680.29)
Budget balance, USD (4,076,790,443.84) (3,468,643,288.24) (2,883,406,958.41)
Services imports, USD 7,541.96 7,895.97 8,468.47
Services exports, USD 7,195.79 7,756.70 8,609.65
Total reserves ex gold, USD 1,232.59 1,758.28 2,928.57
Total external debt stock, USD 31,935.96 37,352.61 43,600.93
Long-term external debt stock, USD 31,548.30 35,913.35 39,271.68
Public external debt stock, USD 30,446.77 34,659.41 39,271.68
Total government debt, USD 60,346.92 54,840.89 44,573.15
Total debt service, USD 1,775.59 1,954.54 2,507.64
M2, USD 124.94 128.11 131.32
Nominal GDP, USD (PPP), % y-o-y 124.94 128.11 131.32
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STER, Economic Growth 30,480.84 22,948.56 16,877.63
Savings per capita, LCU 11.51 9.32 8.12
Transport & communications nominal GVA, 
LCU 33.17 17.32 10.00

Broad money (% of GDP) - Sovereign 
Scorecard 0.01 0.02 0.02

PR, Security Risk 7,328,259.08 9,765,072.05 12,050,982.17
M1, % of GDP 278,272.35 356,111.53 484,703.56
M2, % of GDP 22.73 19.73 18.59
Real GDP growth, % y-o-y 79.07 78.85 78.54
Foreign reserves ex gold, EUR 7.07 5.97 5.47
Political Risk Index 766.97 941.15 1,076.88
Lending rate, %, ave 22.73 19.73 18.59
Central bank policy rate, %, eop 5.92 6.72 6.92
M1, USD 1,135.37 1,641.05 2,739.51

Predicted relationships between the key indicators and default rates on various portfolios of financial 
assets have been developed based on analysing semi – annual historical data over the past 7 years.

Summary of scenario weightings

Scenario Base Downturn 
(downside)

Optimistic (up-
side)

Cluster 1 73.33% 6.67% 20.00%
Cluster 2 73.33% 13.33% 13.33%
Cluster 3 66.67% 13.33% 20.00%
Cluster 4 66.67% 13.33% 20.00%

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such 
as the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are 
not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no adjustment have been made the ECL for such 
factors. This is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on an annual basis  
Modified financial assets       

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing 
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit 
deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised 
and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out.

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, 
the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison 
of its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with the remaining 
lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original contractual terms.

When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognised and allocated to Stage 1 



69Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

(assuming it is not credit-impaired at that time).

The Bank renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance 
activities’) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Bank’s 
forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default 
on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable 
efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the 
revised terms.

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments 
and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the 
forbearance policy. The Bank Credit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities.

For financial assets modified as part of the Bank’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects 
whether the modification has improved or restored the Bank’s ability to collect interest and principal 
and the Bank’s previous experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this process, the Bank 
evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms and considers 
various behavioural indicators.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an 
expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired. A customer 
needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure 
is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in default or the PD is considered to have decreased 
such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to Stage 1.  
Generating the term structure of PD        

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for 
exposures. The Bank collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures by 
type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. 

The Bank employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate estimates of the 
remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage 
of time. 
Measurement of ECL       

Expected credit losses are determined for all financial debt instruments that are classified at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, undrawn commitments and 
financial guarantees.

An expected credit loss represents the present value of expected cash shortfalls over the residual term 
of a financial asset, undrawn commitment or financial guarantee.

A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the contractual 
terms of the instrument and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive over the contractual life 
of the instrument.”       

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

•	 Probability of Default (PD);
•	 Loss Given Default (LGD); and
•	 Exposure at Default (EAD).
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ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime 
ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed above under the heading ‘Generating the term 
structure of PD’.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters 
based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 
consider the structure, collateral, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is 
integral to the financial asset.       

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the 
current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the 
contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at 
the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that may be 
drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking 
forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed exposure when 
the financial guarantee becomes payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modelling 
the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical 
techniques.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, 
the Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period 
(including any borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit 
risk management purposes, the Bank considers a longer period. 

The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Bank has the right to require 
repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

However, for overdrafts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Bank 
measures ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Bank’s contractual 
ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Bank’s exposure 
to credit losses to the contractual notice period. These facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment 
structure and are managed on a collective basis. The Bank can cancel them with immediate effect 
but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day management, but only when the 
Bank becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated 
taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Bank expects to take, and that serve 
to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits, cancellation of the facility and/or turning the 
outstanding balance into a loan with fixed repayment terms. 

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 
grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include:

•	 instrument type;
•	 credit risk grading;
•	 collateral type;
•	 LTV ratio for retail mortgages(the ratio of the gross amount of the loan – or the amount 

committed for loan commitments – to the value of the collateral);
•	 date of initial recognition;
•	 remaining term to maturity; and
•	 industry



71Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain 
appropriately homogeneous.

For portfolios in respect of which the Bank has limited historical data, external benchmark information 
is used to supplement the internally available data.     
Loans with renegotiated terms       

Loans with renegotiated terms are defined as loans that have been restructured due to a deterioration 
in the borrower’s financial position, for which the Bank has made concessions by agreeing to terms 
and conditions that are more favourable for the borrower than the Bank had provided initially 
and that it would not otherwise consider. A loan continues to be presented as part of loans with 
renegotiated terms until maturity, early repayment or write-off.   
Loans that were past due but not impaired      

Loans that were ‘past due but not impaired’ are those for which contractual interest or principal 
payments were past due but the Bank believed that impairment was not appropriate on the basis of 
the level of security or collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Bank.

6.3.2 Credit Related Commitment Risks 

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of bank guarantees 
and property. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of 
borrowing, and generally updated when a loan is individually assessed as impaired.   

6.3.3 Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk before Collateral Held or Credit 
Enhancements 

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024 respectively, is 
represented by the net carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   
Cash and Balances with Banks             7,323,476 4,839,915 
Loans and Advances to Customers            34,527,985 29,202,255 
Investment Securities   
           Financial Assets at FVTOCI:               608,049 460,152 
           Financial Assets at amortized cost:             6,348,801 3,604,270 
Other Assets            2,897,297 1,550,695 
       51,705,608 39,657,287 
Credit Risk Exposures Relating to Off balance 
Sheets :  

 

Loan commitments                310,000 250,000 
Guarantees issued and outstanding           13,223,743 6,644,301 
Letter of credit and other credit related obligations             1,939,037 100,495 
           15,472,780 6,994,796 
Total maximum exposure        67,178,387 46,652,083 
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 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   

Pass 33,229,348 28,382,110 
Special mention 452,345                    434,237 
Substandard 281,936 223,351 
Doubtful                  397,553                   228,670 
Loss               1,612,758                  1,550,121 
 35,973,941          30,818,490 

Gross loans and advances to customers per sector is analysed as follows:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Agriculture 130,128 152,534
Transport 458,255 457,443
Hotel and Tourism 463,718 458,343
Health and Education Service 837,151 279,992
Import 4,505,287 3,285,482
Export 3,949,405 2,543,950
Manufacturing 4,964,293 3,708,946
Domestic trade and services 7,159,306 7,129,317
Building and construction 7,095,054 6,060,526
Personal loan 3,647,405 3,545,660
Staff loan 2,763,941 3,196,297
 35,973,941 30,818,490 

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure of the Bank as at the reporting 
dates without taking in to account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. The 
exposures are based on gross carrying amounts.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and effectively manage the credit risk 
exposure in the Bank’s loan and advances portfolio.
6.3.6 Credit Quality Analysis      

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at 
amortised cost and FVOCI debt investments. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the 
amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. 

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the 
amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively 



73Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

In Birr’000 2025 2024
Loans and advances to 
customers at amortised 
cost

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Total
Stage 1 – Pass 33,229,348 - - 33,229,348 28,382,110
Stage 2 – Special mention - 452,345 - 452,345 434,237
Stage 3 - Non performing - - 2,292,248 2,292,248 2,002,143
Total gross exposure 33,229,348 452,345 2,292,248 35,973,941 30,818,490
Loss allowance (200,841) (1,140) (695,042) (897,022) (919,550)
Interest in suspense - - (120,292) (120,292) (84,462)
Staff Loan Market Interest Adjust-
ment

(428,642) - - (428,642) (612,223)

 Net carrying amount 32,599,865 451,205 1,476,914 34,527,985 29,202,255

In Birr’000 2025

Other financial assets (debt 
instruments)   Gross 

exposure 
 Loss 

allowance 

 Net 
carrying 
amount 

Cash and balances with banks  12 Month ECL 4,933,263 (231) 4,933,032
Investment securities (debt 
instruments)  12 Month ECL 6,349,118 (317) 6,348,801

Other receivables and financial 
assets  Lifetime ECL 2,523,877 (288,584) 2,235,293

Totals  13,806,258 (289,132) 13,517,126

In Birr’000 2024 2023
Loans and advances to 
customers at amortised 
cost

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

Stage 1 – Pass 28,382,110 - - 28,382,110 26,018,430
Stage 2 – Special mention - 434,237 - 434,237 712,583
Stage 3 - Non performing - - 2,002,143 2,002,143 2,160,032
Total gross exposure 28,382,110 434,237 2,002,143 30,818,490 28,891,045
Loss allowance (219,151) (1,357) (699,042) (919,550) (1,063,757)
Interest in suspense - - (84,462) (84,462) (69,921)
Staff Loan Market Interest 
Adjustment (612,223) - - (612,223) (411,309)

 Net carrying amount 27,550,736 432,880 1,218,639 29,202,255 27,346,057
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In Birr’000 2024
Other financial assets 
(debt instruments)   Gross 

exposure 
 Loss 

allowance 
 Net carrying 

amount 
Cash and balances with banks  12 Month ECL 3,108,343 (153) 3,108,190
Investment securities (debt 
instruments)  12 Month ECL 3,604,450 (180) 3,604,270

Other receivables and financial 
assets  Lifetime ECL 1,062,305 (294,259) 768,046

Totals  7,775,098 (294,592) 7,480,506

ECL Movement     

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Totals
ECL at 1 July 2024 219,151 1,357 699,042 919,550
Transfer to Stage 1 8,786 (635) (8,150) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (809) 3,135 (2,326) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (4,159) (135) 4,294 -
Net remeasurement (162,627) 291 133,010 (29,325)
ECL on new loans 186,685 430 15,109 202,223
ECL on derecognised loans (46,186) (3,303) (145,936) (195,426)
ECL at 30 June 2025 200,841 1,140 695,042 897,023

 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Totals
ECL at 1 July 2023 194,483 4,364 864,911 1,063,757
Transfer to Stage 1 146,914 (2,406) (144,508) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (564) 712 (148) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (1,860) (683) 2,543 -
Net remeasurement (147,316) 217 (24,720) (171,819)
ECL on new loans 178,321 251 4,224 182,796
ECL on derecognised loans (150,826) (1,098) (3,259) (155,184)
ECL at 30 June 2024 219,151 1,357 699,042 919,550

(a) Credit quality of cash and cash equivalents

The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments  that were neither past 
due nor impaired as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024 have been classified as  non-rated as there 
are no credit rating agencies in Ethiopia.        
(b) Credit quality of loans and advances

The nonperforming (NPL) ratio of the bank is 6% as of June 30, 2025, by considering both principal 
and interest. But the NPL ratio of the bank is 4.78% when considering the total portfolio against the 
principal amount. 
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
30 June 2025 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Agriculture 118,271 - 11,856 130,128
Transport 385,296 1,428 71,531 458,255
Hotel and tourism 435,017 3,464 25,236 463,718
Health and Education Service 822,503 12,991 1,658 837,151
Import 4,433,050 36,968 35,269 4,505,287
Export 3,740,019 5,188 204,197 3,949,405
Manufacturing 4,902,785 18,564 42,943 4,964,293
Domestic trade and services 6,072,137 257,118 830,051 7,159,306
Building and construction 6,098,407 17,085 979,561 7,095,054
Personal loans 3,560,973 45,410 41,022 3,647,405
Staff loan 2,660,889 54,130 48,922 2,763,941
Gross 33,229,348 452,345 2,292,248 35,973,941
Less: 
Impairment allowance  (note 
16a) (200,841) (1,140) (695,042) (897,022)
Interest in suspense - - (120,292) (120,292)
Staff Loan Market Interest 
Adjustment (428,642) - - (428,642)
Net Loans and Advance 32,599,865 451,205 1,476,914 34,527,985

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
30 June 2024 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
     
Agriculture 141,221 3,197 8,116 152,534
Transport 372,224 - 85,218 457,443
Hotel and tourism 430,605 10,683 17,056 458,343
Health and Education Service 269,585 - 10,407 279,992
Import 3,214,838 12,631 58,013 3,285,482
Export 2,418,570 20,298 105,082 2,543,950
Manufacturing 3,566,312 71,840 70,794 3,708,946
Domestic trade and services 6,326,398 123,544 679,374 7,129,317
Building and construction 5,108,750 42,125 909,651 6,060,526
Personal loans 3,449,555 70,703 25,402 3,545,660
Staff loan 3,084,053 79,215 33,028 3,196,297
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Gross 28,382,110 434,237 2,002,143 30,818,490
Less: 
Impairment allowance  (note 
18a) (219,151) (1,357) (699,042) (919,550)
Interest in suspense - - (84,462) (84,462)
Staff Loan Market Interest 
Adjustment (612,223) - - (612,223)

Net Loans and Advance 27,550,736 432,880 1,218,639 29,202,255

(i) Loans and advances - neither past due nor impaired    
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired 
can be assessed by reference to the customer’s ability to pay based on loss experience.  Loans and 
advances in this category are loans past due for less than 30 (thirty) days.

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Neither past due nor impaired 33,229,348 28,382,110
Collective impairment (200,841) (219,151)
Loan and advances (net) 33,028,507 28,162,959

(ii) Loans and advances - past due but not impaired
 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Past due up to 30 days                    452,345                434,237 
Collective impairment                       (1,140)                   (1,357)
Loan and advances (net)                  451,205            432,880 

(iii) Loans and advances - Impaired loans

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Impaired loans                2,292,248                  2,002,143 
Individual impairment                  (695,042)                   (699,042)
Net Carrying Amount              1,597,206                1,303,101 

(iv)  Allowance for loan impairment

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
IFRS Loan impairment charge                       897,022 919,550 

Total allowance for impairment                     897,022 919,550 
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6.3.7 Statement of Prudential Adjustments      

Provisions under prudential guidelines are determined using the time based provisioning prescribed 
by the National Bank of Ethiopia (NBE) Directives. This is at variance with the expected credit loss 
model required by IFRS 9. As a result of the differences in the methodology/provision, there will be 
variances in the impairments allowances required under the two methodologies.

The proclamation ‘Financial Reporting Proclamation No.847/2014 stipulates that Banks would be 
required to make provisions for loans as prescribed in the relevant IFRS Standards when IFRS is 
adopted.

However, Banks would be required to comply with the following:

(a) Provisions for loans recognised in the income statement should be determined based on the 
requirements of IFRS. However, the IFRS provision should be compared with provisions determined 
under the NBE directives and the expected impact/changes in Regulatory Risk Reserve should be 
treated as follows:

>If prudential provisions is greater than IFRS provisions; the excess provisions resulting should be 
transferred from Retained Earnings account to Regulatory Risk Reserve Account.

>If prudential provisions is less than IFRS provisions; the excess provision is charged to the statement 
of profit or loss. The cumulative balance in the regulatory risk reserve is thereafter reversed to the 
Retained Earnings account.

(b) The non-distributable reserve should be classified under Tier 1 as part of the core capital. 
 
  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   

Total impairment based on IFRS 897,022 919,550
Total impairment based on NBE Directives (1,075,249) (991,647)
Excess(Shortage) Prudential Adjustments (178,227) (72,097)

6.3.8 Credit concentrations       
The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by economic sector. An analysis of concentrations 
of credit risk at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024. The Bank concentrates all its financial assets in 
Ethiopia.

30 June 2025 

  

 Public 
Enterprise

Birr’000

 Cooperative
Birr’000

  Private 
Birr’000

Association 
Birr’000

     
Short term Investments - - - -
Loans and advances - 72,049 35,901,925 -
Investment securities 6,349,118 - - -
Investment in Equity - - 608,049 -
Loan commitments - - 310,000 -
 6,349,118 72,049 36,819,974 -
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30 June 2024  Public 
Enterprise

Birr’000
 Cooperative

Birr’000
  Private 

Birr’000

  
Association 

Birr’000
Short term Investments - - - -
Loans and advances - 50,303 30,768,187 -
Investment securities 3,604,450 - - -
Investment in Equity - - 460,152 -
Loan commitments - - 250,000 -
 3,604,450 50,303 31,478,339 -

6.3.9 Nature of security in respect of loans and advances 

 30 June 2025
 Building 

Birr’000

 Building 
&Vehicle 

Birr’000

 Share 
Certificate 

Birr’000

 Vehicle 

Birr’000

 Others 

Birr’000
      

Agriculture 113,444 3,360 - 13,324 -
Building, Construction & 
Real Estate 4,239,554 462,636 - 572,686 1,820,177
Domestic Trade and 
Services 4,795,547 1,245,870 21,383 913,134 183,372
Export 2,448,894 211,348 235,172 390,041 663,950
Health & Education 673,353 - 35,427 128,370 -
Hotel And Tourism 424,209 15,626 - 23,882 -
Import 3,303,668 318,078 193,636 457,447 232,458
Manufacturing 2,272,393 517,145 3,933 196,589 1,974,232
Personal 2,903,561 5,344 3,123 593,420 141,957
Transport & 
Communication 38,674 31,783 962 386,836 -
Other(Staff) 2,284,586 - - 170,834 308,521
 23,497,884 2,811,191 493,636 3,846,563 5,324,667

  Building 
 Building 
&Vehicle 

 Share 
Certificate  Vehicle  Others 

30 June 2024 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
  

    

Agriculture 92,012 4,434 43,577 10,723 1,789
Building, Construction & 
Real Estate

3,882,473 371,035 1,382 555,177 1,250,460

Domestic Trade and Services 5,422,107 700,017 23,171 907,703 73,103
Export 1,174,338 206,822 225,917 362,550 574,323
Health & Education 265,818 - - 14,174 -
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Hotel And Tourism 415,999 18,052 - 24,292 -
Import 2,379,846 186,052 273,580 283,659 162,345
Manufacturing 2,661,422 238,697 8,617 108,135 692,075
Personal 2,793,144 5,630 6,534 572,718 167,634
Transport & Communication 60,687 26,688 - 369,109 959
Other(Staff) 2,321,412 2,131 - 189,203 683,551
 21,469,258 1,759,558 582,778 3,397,442 3,606,239

6.3.10 Collateral held and their financial effect      
The general creditworthiness of a customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality 
of a loan extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the Bank generally 
requests that borrowers provide it. Staff loans are secured to the extent of the employee’s continued 
employment in the Bank and against the buildings or vehicles purchased.

The Bank may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, liens and guarantees. The 
Bank does not sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the owner of the collateral. 
In addition to the Bank’s focus on creditworthiness, the Bank aligns with its credit policy guide to 
periodically update the validation of collaterals held against all loans to customers. 

The fair value of the collaterals are based on the last revaluations carried out by the Bank’s in-house 
engineers. The valuation technique adopted for properties is in line with the Bank’s valuation manual 
and the revalued amount is similar to fair values of properties with similar size and location.

The fair value of collaterals other than properties such as share certificates, cash, NBE bills etc.  as 
disclosed at the carrying amount as management is of the opinion that the cost of the process of 
establishing the fair value of the collateral exceeds benefits accruable from the exercise.   

At 30 June 2025, the net carrying amount of credit-impaired loans and advances to customers 
amounted to ETB1.62 billion and the value of identifiable collateral held against those loans and 
advances amounted to ETB 2.4 billion. For each loan, the value of disclosed collateral is capped at 
the nominal amount of the loan that it is held against.      

6.4 Liquidity Risk       

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank cannot meet its maturing obligations when they become due, at 
reasonable cost and in a timely manner. Liquidity risk management in the Bank is solely determined 
by Asset Liability Management Committee, which bears the overall responsibility for liquidity risk. 
The main objective of the Bank’s liquidity risk framework is to maintain sufficient liquidity in order 
to ensure that we meet our maturing obligations.       

6.4.1 Management of Liquidity Risk       

Cash flow forecasting is performed by Treasury and Investment Department. The department 
monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational 
needs. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies that sufficient cash is maintained and that sufficient 
funding is available to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risk damage to the Bank’s reputation.   
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6.4.2 Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities      

The table below analyses the Bank’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The 
cash flows presented are the undiscounted amounts to be settled in future.

 
0 - 30 
days

31 - 90 
days

91 - 180 
days

181 - 365 
days Over 1 year Total

 30 June 2025 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
       
Deposits from customers 4,000,862 889,080 1,333,621 1,778,161 36,452,296 44,454,019
Due to Banks & Other 
Institutions 287,348 - - - - 287,348

Current tax liabilities - - 448,597 - - 448,597
Margins held on letters 
of credit - 1,508,336 - - - 1,508,336

Provisions - 204,721 15,053 21,074 60,212 301,061
Retirement benefit 
obligations 971 1,942 2,913 3,884 184,490 194,200

Other liabilities 175,598 638,538 1,328,159 727,933 322,462 3,192,689
Deferred Tax Liabilities - - - - 32,489 32,489

Total financial liabilities 4,464,779 3,242,618 3,128,342 2,531,052 37,051,949 50,418,739
   

 
0 - 30 
days

31 - 90 
days

91 - 180 
days

181 - 365 
days Over 1 year Total

 30 June 2024 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
       

Deposits from customers 3,316,697 737,044 1,105,566 1,474,088 30,218,798 36,852,193
Due to Banks & Other 
Institutions 578,018 - - - - 578,018

Current tax liabilities - - 286,389 - - 286,389
Margins held on letters of 
credit - 567,992 - - - 567,992

Borrowings - - - - - -
Provisions - 170,018 12,501 17,502 50,005 250,027
Retirement benefit 
obligations 682 1,365 2,047 2,730 129,661 136,485

Other liabilities 58,845 213,982 445,083 243,940 108,061 1,069,912
Deferred Tax Liabilities - - - - 67,295 67,295
Total financial liabilities 3,954,243 1,690,401 1,851,586 1,738,259 30,573,820 39,808,311

6.5 Market Risk       

Market risk is defined as the risk of loss that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
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will fluctuate because of changes in market risk factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
equity prices, credit spreads and their volatilities. Market risk can arise in conjunction with trading 
and non-trading activities of a financial institutions. 

The Bank does not ordinarily engage in trading activities as there are no active markets in Ethiopia. 

6.5.1 Management of Market Risk       

The main objective of Market Risk Management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. Market risk is monitored by 
the risk management department regularly to identify any adverse movement in the underlying 
variables.       
(i) Interest Rate Risk       

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will be affected by changes in 
market interest rates. Borrowings obtained at variable rates give rise to interest rate risk. 

The Bank’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Bank’s 
obligations and financial assets with floating interest rates. The Bank is also exposed on fixed rate 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The Bank’s investment portfolio is comprised of treasury 
bills, Ethiopian government bonds, money market operation and cash deposits. 

The table below sets out information on the exposures to fixed and variable interest instruments.

30 June 2025 Fixed Floating
Non-interest 

bearing Total
Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 1,757,634 - 5,565,842 7,323,476
Loans and advances 34,182,705 - 345,280 34,527,985
Investment securities 6,348,801 - - 6,348,801
Total 42,289,140 - 5,911,122 48,200,262

30 June 2024 Fixed Floating Non-interest 
bearing Total

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Assets     
Cash and balances with banks 1,161,580 - 3,678,335 4,839,915
Loans and advances 28,910,232 - 292,023 29,202,255
Investment securities 3,604,270 - - 3,604,270
Total 33,676,082 - 3,970,358 37,646,440

(ii) Foreign Exchange Risk       

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to the changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Bank is exposed to exchange rate risks to the extent of balances and transactions denominated in 
a currency other than the Ethiopian Birr. The Bank’s foreign currency bank accounts act as a natural 
hedge for these transactions. Management has set up a policy to manage the Bank’s foreign exchange 
risk against its functional currency.
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The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of 10% on equity and profit or loss 
arising from the Bank’s foreign denominated cash and bank balances.

The total foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities exposed to risk as at 30 June 2025 was 
Birr 1.06bill and 30 June 2024 Birr 145.6million.      

Foreign currency denominated balances   
  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cash and bank balances 2,597,748 310,819
Deposits/Liabilities 1,532,108 456,485
Net Foreign currency denominated balances 1,065,640 (145,666)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk      
 

The sensitivity analysis for currency rate risk shows how changes in the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market rates at the reporting date.

The sensitivity of the Bank’s earnings to fluctuations in exchange rates is reflected by varying the 
exchange rates at 15% and 5% as shown below:

  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
USD cash at Foreign and Cash Balances 2,597,748 310,819
15% appreciation of Dollar 389,662 46,623
5% Depreciation of Dollar (129,887) (15,541)
 259,775 31,082

         

6.6 Capital Management       

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by the 
National Bank of Ethiopia, safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, and to maintain a 
strong capital base  so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business.         
6.6.1 Capital Adequacy Ratio       

According to the Licensing & Supervision of Banking Business Directive No SBB/78/2021 of the 
National Bank of Ethiopia, the Bank has to maintain capital to risk weighted assets ratio of 8% at 
all times, the risk weighted assets being calculated as per the provisions of Directive No SBB/9/95 
issued on August 18, 1995.       

The capital adequacy ratio is the quotient of the capital base of the Bank and the Bank’s risk weighted 
asset base.       

Capital includes capital contribution, legal reserve and other reserves to be approved by the National 
Bank of Ethiopia.
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  30 June 2025  30 June 2024 
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Capital   
Capital contribution 4,286,885 3,447,898
Share Premium 18,628 16,372
Legal reserve 1,677,626 1,153,737
Regulatory Risk Reserve 1,128,204 604,020
 7,111,344 5,222,027
Risk weighted assets
Risk weighted balance for on-balance sheet items 36,045,302 26,889,096
Credit equivalents for off-balance Sheet Items 8,002,363 3,949,158
Total risk weighted assets 44,047,665 30,838,254
 

Risk-weighted Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) 16% 17%

Minimum required capital 8% 8%

Excess 8% 9%
 
6.7 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

IFRS 13 requires an entity to classify measured or disclosed fair values according to a hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of observable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, which comprises of three levels as described below, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.
6.7.1 Valuation Models
IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable input reflect market data obtained from 
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) .This category includes 
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted 
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active, or other 
valuation technique in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market 
data.
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In conclusion, this category is for valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). This category includes all assets and liabilities for which the valuation technique includes 
inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the asset 
or liability’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for 
similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to 
reflect differences between the instruments.      
6.7.2 Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value - Fair value Hierarchy

The following table summarises the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting 
date by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised.  

30 June 2025
Gross Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Financial assets      
Cash & balances with banks 7,323,707 - 7,323,707 - 7,323,707
Loans and advances 35,076,919 - 35,076,919 - 35,076,919
Investment securities 6,491,781 - - 6,491,781 6,491,781
Total 48,892,407 - 42,400,626 6,491,781 48,892,407
      
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 44,454,019 - 44,454,019 - 44,454,019
Other liabilities 3,192,689 - 3,192,689 - 3,192,689
Total 47,646,708 - 47,646,708 - 47,646,708

            

30 June 2024
Gross Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Financial assets      
Cash and balances with 
banks 4,840,068 - 4,840,068 - 4,840,068
Loans and advances 29,898,940 - 29,898,940 - 29,898,940
Investment securities 3,702,604 - - 3,702,604 3,702,604
Total 38,441,612 - 34,739,007.96 3,702,604.00 38,441,611.96
 
Financial liabilities
Deposits from 
customers

36,852,193 - 36,852,193 -
36,852,193

Other liabilities 1,069,912 - 1,069,912 - 1,069,912
Total 37,922,105 - 37,922,105 - 37,922,105
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6.7.3 Transfers between the Fair Value Hierarchy Categories

During the reporting periods covered by these annual financial statements, there were no movements 
between levels as a result of significant inputs to the fair valuation process becoming observable or 
unobservable.       
6.8 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

There are no offsetting arrangements. Financial assets and liabilities are settled and disclosed on a 
gross basis. 

7 Interest Income

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Interest on loans and advances 5,363,807 4,707,404
Interest on investment securities 415,149 284,135
Interest on deposits due from banks 259,431 120,615
Interest on short term Securities 20,070 -
 6,058,457 5,112,154

8 Interest Expense

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Interest on Demand deposits (6,594) (15,027)
Interest on Saving deposits (1,289,693) (1,151,210)
Interest on Time deposits (570,549) (521,216)
Interest on borrowings from domestic banks (194,945) (66,728)
Interest expense – Lease (45,780) (42,336)
 (2,107,561) (1,796,517)

9 Fees and Commission Income

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Commission on letters of credit 305,328 164,607
Commission on CPOs, Cheques and FTs 1,933 1,365
Commission on guarantees 628,731 267,391
Fees Income 1,201,585 366,296
Commission on PO issuance 214,361 36,867
 2,351,938 836,526
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Fee and commission expense :
Fee and commission Expense (264,096) (79,807)
 (264,096) (79,807)
Net fees and commission income 2,087,842 756,719

10 Other Operating Income

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
 Other income  192,788 236,728
 Gain on foreign exchange  1,707,814 201,533
 1,900,602 438,261

11 Impairment losses on Financial Instruments

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

Loan Impairment Charge 22,528 144,207
Impairment Loss-Other Financial Assets (15,293) (77,291)

 7,235 66,916

12 Personnel Expenses

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   
Short term employee benefits :   
Salaries (1,379,710) (1,220,871)
Staff allowances (431,228) (357,324)
Overtime (23,111) (23,033)
Bonus (209,213) (174,152)
Training and Education (43,786) (21,295)
Leave Payment (15,731) (15,751)
Pension costs – Defined contribution plan (150,973) (133,539)
Provident Fund – Defined contribution plan (13,727) (12,140)
Other staff expenses (91,182) (83,404)
 (2,365,301) (2,041,509)
Long term employee benefits :

Defined benefit plans-Severance (42,002) (34,772)
 (2,407,303) (2,076,281)
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13 Other Operating Expenses

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Utilities (21,526) (12,598)
Advertisement and promotions (25,384) (42,222)
Software Maintenance Fee (65,248) (43,049)
Sponsorship expenses (2,875) (3,742)
Communication expense (32,227) (21,680)
Postage and stamps (569) (368)
Stationery and office expenses (44,094) (63,212)
Legal and professional fees (7,602) (3,002)
Audit fees (538) (538)
Repairs and maintenance (49,226) (28,877)
Travelling expenses (10,876) (16,881)
Donations (13,120) (132)
Insurance (135,884) (132,102)
Entertainment (7,068) (6,113)
Fuel and lubricant (2,979) (8,570)
Miscellaneous expenses (44,729) (32,399)
License fees (845) (845)
Director fees (1,225) (1,220)
Fines and penalty (2,239) (2,784)
Loss on foreign exchange (2,034,522) (135,746)
Write-off expense (22,628) -
Outsource Service expense (53,398) (33,238)
Loss on Revaluation or Disposal (2,941) (2,595)
Impairment Loss - Property (200) (30)
Inventory Write-Down Expense - (589)
Impairment Loss on Assets Held for Sale (170) (45)
 (2,582,113) (592,577)

Security Services of birr 33.3 mill, Electricity - Generator Fuel (birr 2.7 mill) and Short-SMS Charge 
(birr 5.6mill) reclassified from miscellaneous expenses to Outsource service expense, Utilities and 
Communication expense for the year 2024 respectively.

14 Company Income and Deferred Tax      
14a Reconciliation of effective tax to statutory tax     
 

The tax on the Bank’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the statutory income tax rate as follows: 
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 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Current income tax   
Charge for the year: 450,326 287,553
Prior year (over)/ under provision - -
Deferred income tax/(credit) to profit 
or loss (34,806) 32,020

Total charge to profit or loss 415,521 319,573
Tax (credit) on other comprehensive 
income (114,882) (93,024)

Total tax in statement of compre-
hensive income 300,639 226,549

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
   

Profit before tax 2,511,079 1,507,785
Add :   Disallowed Expenses
Entertainment 7,068 6,113
Donation 120 132
Sponsorship 2,875 3,742
Penalty 2,239 2,784
Awards 5,414 1,592
Accrued Leave Expense 15,731 15,751
Amortization of Right of Use asset 343,927 317,681
Interest Expense on Lease Liability 45,780 42,336
Impairment Loss - Property 200 30
Impairment Loss on Assets Held for Sale 170 45
Inventory Write-Down Expense - 589
Provision for loans  & other financial assets as per IFRS (7,235) (66,916)
Severance Expense 42,002 34,772
Net Gain on disposal of PPE-IFRS (46,322) (172,550)
Net Gain on disposal of PPE-Tax 61,528 194,263
Depreciation for IFRS accounting purpose 97,988 79,426
Amortization for IFRS accounting purpose 4,165 3,784
Cash Indemnity Allowance 12,679 13,378
Employee Interest rate Benefit-IFRS (20,893) (34,040)
Employee Interest rate Benefit-Tax 166,061 174,052
Loss On Lease Modification 407 4
Property Tax 260 -
Write off Expense 22,628 -
Sport Related 160 -
 756,951 616,968
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Less  : 
Depreciation for tax purpose 259,014 246,215
Amortization of Prepaid Rent and Lease 374,489 340,421
Provision for loans & other financial assets for tax NBE 80% 397,156 132,705
Severance Paid 14,815 13,026
Leave Paid 6,399 4,927
Interest income taxed at source- foreign 46,534 7,580
Dividend income taxed at source 40,360 18,063
Interest income exempted-NBE Bills and T-Bills 415,149 284,135
Interest income taxed at source-Local Deposit 212,897 113,035
Gain from reversal of impairment allowance 320 71
Cash Indemnity Allowance Paid 4,600 7,325
Gain On Lease Modification 2,965 4
 1,774,698 1,167,508

 

Taxable profit 1,493,332 957,245
Current tax at 30% 448,000 287,174
5% on interest on foreign deposits 2,327 379
Total tax in statement of comprehensive income 450,326 287,553

Average Effective Tax Rate: 17.93 19.07

The average effective tax rate is the tax expense divided by accounting profit.

14b Current income tax liability 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Current income tax liability Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 286,389 79,077
Charge for the year 450,326 287,553
Prior year (over)/ under provision -
WHT Notes utilised (1,730) (1,164)
Payment during the year (286,389) (79,077)
Balance at the end of the year 448,597 286,389

14c       

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
The analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is 
as follows:   
To be recovered after more than 12 months (32,489) (67,295)
To be recovered within 12 months - -
 (32,489) (67,295)
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities, deferred income tax charge/(credit) in profit or loss 
(“P/L), in equity and other comprehensive income are attributable to the following items:

Deferred income tax assets/(liabili-
ties):

 At 1 July 
 2024 

 Credit/ 
(charge) to 

P/L 

 Credit/ 
(charge) to 

equity 
 30 June 

2025 
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

     

Property, plant and equipment 108,240 (17,491) - 90,749
Provisions - - - -
Unrealised exchange gain - - - -
Tax losses charged to profit or loss - - - -
Post-employment benefit obligation (40,946) (17,315) - (58,260)
Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 67,295 (34,806) - 32,489

 

Deferred income tax assets/(liabili-
ties):

At 1 July 
 2023

Credit/ 
(charge) 

to P/L

Credit/ 
(charge) to 

equity
30 June 

2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

 

Property, plant and equipment 65,813 42,427 - 108,240
Provisions - - - -
Unrealised exchange gain - - - -
Tax losses charged to profit or loss - - - -
Post-employment benefit obligation (30,539) (10,407) - (40,946)
Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 35,275 32,020 - 67,295

15 Cash and Cash Equivalents
15a  Cash and balances with banks

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cash in hand local currency 1,690,665 1,707,309
Cash in hand foreign currency 215,097 24,416
Placement with other Institutions 1,644,421 1,478,983
Deposits with foreign banks 2,382,651 286,403
Balance held with National Bank of Ethiopia 385,120 1,342,957
Money Market Operations 1,005,753 -
Gross amount 7,323,707 4,840,068
Less : -
Allowance for Impairment- Bank Balances (231) (153)
 7,323,476 4,839,915

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Current 3,968,807 2,290,368
Non-Current 3,354,900 2,549,700
 7,323,707 4,840,068
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15b  Due from Banks & Other Financial Institutions:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
ATM Settlement-Off Us 33,735 255,951
Cheque Clearance-Outward 6,449 2,655
Foreign Currency Receivable 709,999 191,831
Mobile Fund Transfer-Off Us 116,486 486,950
 866,669 937,387

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

15c Restricted Fund Balance            3,354,900             2,549,700 

The restricted fund balance represents 7% of deposit balance maintained with National Bank of 
Ethiopia.
16 Loans and Advances
16a Loans and advances to customers

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Agriculture 130,128 152,534
Building and construction 6,303,311 5,640,130
Domestic trade and services 6,213,821 6,272,772
Export 1,195,655 1,426,388
Hotel and Tourism 398,571 410,348
Health and Education Service 672,637 245,060
Import 3,095,892 1,897,053
Manufacturing 4,237,549 2,822,610
Merchandise Loans 11,007 135,205
Overdrafts 4,176,372 3,651,249
Personal loan 3,647,405 3,545,679
Pre-Shipment 2,686,914 994,823
Staff loan 2,763,940 3,196,297
Transport 440,739 428,342
Gross amount 35,973,941 30,818,490
Less: Impairment allowance  
Collective impairment   
Stage 1 (200,841) (219,151)
Stage 2 (1,140) (1,357)
Stage 3 (695,042) (699,042)
 35,076,919 29,898,940
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Less : 
Interest in suspense (120,292) (84,462)
Staff Loan Market Interest Adjustment (428,642) (612,223)
Net Loan Balance 34,527,985 29,202,255

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Current 11,151,922 9,553,732

Non-Current 24,822,019 21,264,758
 35,973,941 30,818,490

16b Impairment Allowance for Loans and Advances     
IFRS 9 key guidance on segmentation 

(IFRS 9 B5.5.5) For the purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and recognizing a 
loss allowance on a collective basis, an entity can group financial instruments on the basis of shared 
credit risk characteristics with the objective of facilitating an analysis that is designed to enable 
significant increases in credit risk to be identified on a timely basis.

In addition, common considerations that a Bank may consider before selection of a segmentation 
criteria include, but are not limited to: 

•	 Customer grading methodologies and whether this is reflective of the proposed segmentation 
criteria; 

•	 How a Bank sets portfolio credit concentration limits;
•	 Management’s experience with regards to historical default trends; 
•	 Regulatory guidance on credit reporting; and
•	 Financial statement disclosures and current credit reporting structures.

Based on the above facts the bank recognize the loss allowance by segmenting its portfolios into the 
following clusters:

1) Agriculture 
2) Construction and Building (Including Hotel and Tourism)
3) Domestic Trade and Services (Including Transport and Communication, Health & Education 

Service) 
4) Export and Imports
5) Manufacturing
6) Personal Loans (Including Staff Loans and Diaspora Loans)

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for loans and advances by class, is as 
follows:      
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Collective allowance for impairment

 As at 
30 June 

2024 

Charge 
for the 

year
30 June 

2025
Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Allowance For Impairment - Agriculture (794) (324) (1,118)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - Building And 
Construction (584,161) 41,190 (542,971)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - DTS (118,830) (24,137) (142,967)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Export and Imports (35,186) 7,521 (27,665)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Manufacturing (7,909) 1,334 (6,575)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Personal (15,293) (1,147) (16,440)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - merchandise loans (779) 712 (67)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Preshipment loans (54,252) (11,024) (65,276)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Overdrafts (102,324) 8,381 (93,943)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Emergency staff loans (23) 23 -

Total - Collective Impairment (919,551) 22,529 (897,022)

Collective allowance for impairment
 As at 30 

June 2023 

Charge 
for the 

year
30 June 

2024
Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000

Allowance For Impairment - Agriculture (661) (133) (794)
Allowance For Loan Impairment - Building And 
Construction (630,992) 46,831 (584,161)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - DTS (164,711) 45,881 (118,830)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - Export and Imports (118,486) 83,300 (35,186)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - Manufacturing (4,832) (3,077) (7,909)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - Personal (6,695) (8,598) (15,293)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - merchandise loans (177) (602) (779)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - Preshipment loans (49,245) (5,007) (54,252)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - Overdrafts (87,939) (14,385) (102,324)

Allowance For Loan Impairment - Emergency staff loans (18) (5) (23)

Total - Collective Impairment  (1,063,756) 144,205 (919,551)
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17 Investment Securities
17a Financial Assets at amortized cost:

30 June 2025
Birr’000

30 June 2024
Birr’000

Bonds and Bills 6,349,118 3,604,450
Less: 
Allowance for impairment - Bills & Bonds (317) (180)
Net Bond and Bills 6,348,801 3,604,270

17b Financial Assets at FVTOCI:

Equity Investments 142,663 98,154
Fair Value Adjustment – Equity Investments 465,386 361,998
Net Equity Investments 608,049 460,152

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Current 6,348,801 3,604,270
Non-Current 608,049 460,152
 6,956,850 4,064,422

The Bank holds equity investments in Ethswitch S.C, Berhan Insurance S.C., Premier Switch 
Solution S.C and Debo Micro Finance S.C. The percentage shareholding for each equity investments 
is summarized as follows:

30 June 2025 
Birr’000 

 Number of 
shares 

 % owned 
as per the 

Bank 

 Amount 
invested in 

‘000 

 Fair Value 
as per IFRS 

9  
Ethswitch S.C. 100,000 3.90% 100,000 525,268.71
Berhan Insurance S.C. 26,449 5.00% 26,449 44,081.46
Premier Switch Solution S.C 11,531 3.28% 11,531 31,303.60
Debo Micro Finance S.C. 4,683 4.68% 4,683 7,395.30

Total Equity Investments 608,049

30 June 2024 
Birr’000 

 Number of 
shares 

 % owned 
as per the 

Bank 

 Amount 
invested in 

‘000 

 Fair Value 
as per IFRS 

9  
Ethswitch S.C. 68,379 3.88% 68,379 388,979.80
Berhan Insurance S.C. 18,259 5.40% 18,259 26,033.43
Premier Switch Solution S.C 9,849 4.08% 9,849 43,620.42
Debo Micro Finance S.C. 1,667 2.19% 1,667 1,518.09

Total Equity Investments 460,152
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18 Other assets

30 June 2025
Birr’000

30 June 2024
Birr’000

Financial assets
Other Receivables 2,523,877 1,062,305

2,523,877 1,062,305
Non-financial assets
Prepayments 103,182 61,139
Prepaid Staff Benefits 558,822 721,510

662,004 782,649
Gross amount 3,185,881 1,844,954

Less :
Impairment allowance for Other assets 288,584 294,259
Net amount 2,897,297 1,550,695

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Current 869,189 465,209
Non-Current 2,028,108 1,085,487
 2,897,297 1,550,695

18a Impairment Allowance on Other Assets

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for other assets is as follows: 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 294,259 217,235
Write off during the year (20,426) -
(Reversal)/charge for the year 14,750 77,024
Balance at the end of the year 288,584 294,259

18b Inventory 

A breakdown of the items included within inventory is as follows:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Sundry materials 31,011 49,178
Check books 8,220 9,469
Stationary 15,594 19,232
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Printed materials 60,438 73,619
Draft and CPO 1,107 1,143
Revenue stamp 80 67
Gross amount 116,450 152,708
Less: 
Allowance for Inventory Write-Down (344) (664)
 116,106 152,044

18c Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Assets Held for Sale 238,381 215,181
Less:
Allowance for Impairment Assets Held for Sale (710) (540)
 237,671 214,641

The non-current assets held for sale comprises repossessed collaterals. The buildings are not impaired 
while the vehicles showed decrease in value as indicated by the fair value assessment. 
19 IFRS 16 – Leases

The Bank leases a number of branch and office premises. The leases typically run for a period of 5 to 
10 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. For some leases, payments are renegotiated 
every five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are 
based on changes in local price indices.      

For short-term and/or leases of low-value items, the Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities for these leases.       

Most leases of office premises contain extension options exercisable by the Bank before the end of the 
non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Bank seeks to include extension options in 
new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the 
Bank and not by the lessors. The Bank assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably 
certain to exercise the extension options. The Bank reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in circumstances within its 
control.

i)  Right-of-use asset

  Land  Buildings   Total 
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cost:    
As at 01 July 2024 153,379 2,036,557 2,189,936
Additions 65,987 344,904 410,890
Disposals (2,488) (67,216) (69,704)
As at 30 June 2025 216,878 2,314,244 2,531,122
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Accumulated amortization 
As at 01 July 2024 11,573 1,013,343 1,024,916
Charge for the year 6,504 337,423 343,927
Disposals (401) (40,228) (40,629)
As at 30 June 2025 17,676 1,310,537 1,328,213

ii) Lease Liabilities

  Land  Buildings   Total 
 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
    

As at 01 July 2024 92,553 416,292 508,846
Additions - 126,854 126,854
Interest Expense 10,300 35,480 45,780
Payment (3,326) (75,222) (78,549)
Adjustment - (29,899) (29,899)
As at 30 June 2025 99,527 473,505 573,032

 

The bank reclassified Right of use asset and amortization of ROU previously included in Property, 
Plant and Equipment (PPE) and Depreciation of property and equipment as a separate item to better 
reflect the nature of those assets. Comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year’s presentation. This change had no impact on previously reported Profit or equity. 

20 Intangible Assets

 Computer software
 Birr’000
Cost:  
As at 1 July 2023 25,098
Acquisitions -
Disposal -
As at 30 June 2024 25,098
 

As at 1 July 2024 25,098
Acquisitions 25,835
Disposal -
As at 30 June 2025 50,933
 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
As at 1 July 2023 16,263
Amortisation for the year 3,784
Impairment losses
As at 30 June 2024 20,046
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As at 1 July 2024 20,046
Amortisation for the year 4,165

Impairment losses

As at 30 June 2025 24,211
 

Net book value
As at 30 June 2024 5,052
As at 30 June 2025 26,722

21  Property and equipment

 

 Buildings  
 Motor 

vehicles 

 Office 
and other 

equipment 

 Furniture 
and 

fittings 
 Computer 

and
accessories  Total 

 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cost:       
As at 01 July 2023 70,614 501,258 473,085 322,124 273,532 1,640,614
Additions 132,633 49,754 77,853 260,240
Disposals (12,950) (50,791) (12,908) (5,783) (6,074) (88,508)
Reclassification - - - - - -

As at 30 June 2024 57,664 450,466 592,809 366,096 345,311 1,812,346
       

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses    
       

As at 01 July 2023 4,222 78,666 173,004 82,814 97,241 435,947
Charge for the year 643 22,797 29,909 9,219 16,858 79,426
Impairment Loss (16) (55) 30 (42)
Disposals (940) (24,557) (10,092) (3,262) (4,508) (43,360)
As at 30 June 2024 3,925 76,905 192,804 88,715 109,621 471,970
       
As at 01 July 2024 57,664 450,466 592,809 366,096 345,311 1,812,346
Additions 28,214 61,023 21,633 13,765 107,239 231,874
Disposals - (33,531) (4,975) (3,014) (5,397) (46,917)
Reclassification - - - - - -
As at 30 June 2025 85,878 477,959 609,467 376,847 447,153 1,997,303

       

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses    
As at 01 July 2024 3,925 76,905 192,804 88,715 109,621 471,970
Charge for the year 794 21,753 36,451 12,787 26,204 97,988
Impairment Loss - - 2 74 123 200
Disposals - (12,603) (3,040) (1,312) (4,175) (21,130)
As at 30 June 2025 4,719 86,055 226,217 100,265 131,773 549,029
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Net book value
As at 30 June 2024 53,739 373,561 400,006 277,380 235,690 1,340,376
As at 30 June 2025 81,160 391,903 383,250 276,582 315,380 1,448,274

The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated still in use are as follows:

 Motor 
vehicles 

 Office 
and other 

equipment 

 Furniture and 
fittings 

 Computer and 
accessories 

As at 30 June 2025 1,972 677 663.7 250.13
As at 30 June 2024 4,145 712 747.3 296.89

22 Liabilities
22a Due to Banks & Other Institutions

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Cheque Clearance-Inward 7,067 7,905
ATM Settlement-On Us 177,375 103,839
Mobile Fund Transfer-On Us 102,906 466,274
 287,348 578,018

22b Deposits from Customers

 
30 June 2025

Birr’000
30 June 2024

Birr’000
Demand deposits 13,248,870 12,078,453
Savings deposits 27,399,146 20,979,921
Time deposits 3,806,003 3,793,819
 44,454,019 36,852,193

 
30 June 2025

Birr’000
30 June 2024

Birr’000
Margins held on letters of credit 1,508,336 567,992

22c Other Liabilities

 

 
30 June 2025

Birr’000

30 June 2024

Birr’000
Financial Liabilities   
Banking instruments payables 98,059 71,754
Unearned Income 96,525 72,370
Lease liability 573,032 508,846
Total Financial Liabilities 767,616 652,970
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Non-Financial Liabilities
Tax and Other Obligations 98,225 54,474
Sundry payables 2,326,848 362,468
Total Non-Financial Liabilities 2,425,073 416,942

   

Total Financial and Non-Financial Liabilities 3,192,689 1,069,912

Breakdown of Tax and Other Obligations:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Employer Pension Cont 7,159 6,533
Income Tax Payable 24,739 21,760
Stamp Duty Charges 4,501 12,798
Income Tax on Savings Interest 7,315 6,651
Withholding Tax-Local 1,110 1,392
Value Added Tax-Vat Payable 46,369 589
Withholding Tax -Technical Service-Abroad 1,016 101
Cost Sharing Expense Payable 3 9
Reverse Taxation Payable 1,016 512
Employee Pension Cont 4,487 4,129
Share Premium Tax Payable 510 -
 98,225 54,474

22d Provisions

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Leave Pay 85,208 75,876
Bonus Payable 215,853 174,151

 301,061 250,027

22e Retirement Benefit Obligations

  
30 June 

2025
30 June 

2024
  Birr’000 Birr’000
Defined benefits liabilities:    
Severance pay Note 22 (f) 194,200 136,485
Liability in the statement of financial position 194,200 136,485

 

Income statement charge included in personnel expenses:
Severance costs Note 22(f) 42,002 34,772
Total defined benefit expenses  42,002 34,772
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Remeasurements for:  
Remeasurement gains/(losses) Note 22(f) (30,528) (12,944)
  (30,528) (12,944)

The income statement charge included within personnel expenses includes current service cost, 
interest cost, past service costs on the defined benefit schemes.

Maturity analysis 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

 
  

Current 16,377 16,378
Non-Current 177,823 120,107

 194,200 136,485
22f Severance Pay      

The Bank operates an unfunded severance pay plan for its employees who have served the Bank for 
5 years and above and are below the retirement age (i.e. has not met the requirement to access the 
pension fund or Provident Fund). The final pay-out is determined by reference to current benefit’s 
level (monthly salary) and number of years in service and is calculated as 1 month salary for the first 
year in employment plus 1/3 of monthly salary for each subsequent in employment to a maximum of 
12 months final monthly salary.      

Below are the details of movements and amounts recognised in the financial statements:  

  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  Birr’000 Birr’000
A Liability recognised in the financial position 194,200 136,485

  30 June 2025 30 June 2024
B Amount recognised in the profit or loss Birr’000 Birr’000
 Current service cost 15,050 12,557
 Interest cost 26,952 22,215
  42,002 34,772

22g Retirement Benefit Obligations (Contd)

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income: 
 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on economic assumptions Birr’000 Birr’000
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on experience 4,407.00 4,148.00
 30,528 12,944
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The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the years is as follows:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

(Liability)/Asset at beginning of period 136,485 101,795
(Expense)/Income recognised in OCI 4,407 4,148
(Expense)/Income recognised in Profit and Loss 42,002 34,772
Remeasurement (gains)/ losses 26,121 8,796
Benefits paid -14,815 -13,026
At the end of the year 194,200 136,485

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:

i)          Financial Assumption Long term Average

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Discount rate (p.a) 14.40% 18.70%
Inflation Rate 12.20% 14.30%
Long term salary Increase rate (p.a) 14.20% 16.30%

ii) Pre-retirement Mortality      

Mortality rates are commonly set with reference to standard tables published by reputable institutions 
(such as the Actuarial Society of South Africa and the Ethiopian Insurers Association) who have 
access to statistically significant data from which to derive mortality rates.

In determining an appropriate mortality table to use for the valuations, we have used the same 
approach as for the previous valuation, by considering the mortality rates published in Demographic 
and Health Survey (“DHS”) 2016 report compiled by the CSA. The DHS report provides male and 
female mortality rates for 5-year age bands from age 15 to age 49. Since the rates are provided in 
5-year bands, we have used the rates provided per band as the mortality rate for the age in the middle 
of each band, and interpolated linearly for rates in between these ages. 

No more recent or credible Ethiopian based adult mortality studies are available; so we have 
maintained the DHS 2016 table.

Age
Mortality rate

Male Female
20 0.31% 0.22%
25 0.30% 0.23%
30 0.36% 0.31%
35 0.41% 0.28%
40 0.52% 0.32%
45 0.45% 0.43%
50 0.63% 0.63%
55 0.98% 0.98%
60 1.54% 1.54%



103Annual Report 2024/25 Berhan Bank S.C.

ANNUAL
REPORT

Berhan Bank S.C
Financial Statements
For the period ended 30 June 2025
/otes to the financial statements

22h Retirement Benefit Obligations (Contd)
iii) Withdrawal from Service      

The withdrawal rates are as summarised below:

Age Resignation rates per annum
20 15.00%
25 12.50%
30 10.00%
35 7.50%
40 5.00%
45 2.50%

50+ 0.00%
23 Ordinary Share Capital

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Authorised:   
Ordinary shares of Birr 1,000 each 4,286,885 3,447,898
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of Birr 1,000 each 4,286,885 3,447,898

 

Share Premium (Net of tax) 18,628 16,372

As at 30 June 2025, the authorised share capital of the Bank comprised of 4,286,885 ordinary shares 
with a par value of Birr 1000. Issued and fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of Birr 
1000, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividend.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at General Meetings of the Bank.
24 Retained Earnings

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
At the beginning of the year 681,088 196,394
Profit / (loss) for the year 2,095,559 1,188,212
Transfer to legal reserve (523,890) (297,053)
Dividend provided for / paid (681,088) (196,394)
Director’s Share of Profit (1,650) -
Prior Period Tax Expense - (9,154)
Transfer to Regulatory Risk Reserve (524,184) (213,470)
Transfer from Regulatory Risk Reserve - 12,553
At the end of the year 1,045,836 681,088
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25 Legal Reserve

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

At the beginning of the year 1,153,737 856,684
Transfer from profit or loss 523,890 297,053
At the end of the year 1,677,626 1,153,737

The NBE Directive No. SBB/4/95 requires the Bank to transfer annually 25% of its annual net profit 
to its legal reserve account until such account equals its capital. When the legal reserve account 
equals the capital of the Bank, the amount to be transferred to the legal reserve account will be 10% 
(ten percent) of the annual net profit.
26 Other Reserves:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000
Other comprehensive income :   

   

Remeasurement Gain or Loss on Defined Benefit Plans (82,446) (51,918)
Movement in fair value reserve-equity instruments 465,386 361,998
 382,940 310,080

Income tax relating to Other comprehensive income :
Remeasurement Gain or Loss on Defined Benefit Plans (24,734) (15,575)
 -24,734 -15,575

Net Other comprehensive income :
Remeasurement Gain or Loss on Defined Benefit Plans (57,712) (36,343)
 (57,712) (36,343)

 

Income tax relating to Other comprehensive income :
Movement in fair value reserve-equity instruments 139,616 108,599
 139,616 108,599

 

Net Other comprehensive income :
Movement in fair value reserve (equity instruments) 325,770 253,399
 325,770 253,399

27 Regulatory Risk Reserves:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

At the beginning of the Year 604,020 403,104
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Transfer from/to Retained Earning-Loan Provision 106,129 72,097
Transfer from/to Retained Earning-Receivable Provision 15,935 141,373
Transfer from/to Retained Earning-Off balance sheet 360,371 -
Net regulatory risk reserve-Suspended Interest 41,749 (12,553)
 
At the end of the  Year 1,128,204 604,020

The Regulatory risk reserve is a non-distributable reserves required by the regulations of the National 
Bank of Ethiopia to be kept for impairment losses on loans and receivables in excess of IFRS charge 
as derived using the Expected Credit Loss Model.

Where the loan loss impairment determined using the National Bank of Ethiopia guidelines is higher 
than the loan loss impairment determined using the Expected Credit Loss Model under IFRS, the 
difference is transferred to regulatory risk reserve and it is non-distributable to the owners of the 
Bank.

Where the loan loss impairment determined using the National Bank of Ethiopia guidelines is lower 
than the loan loss impairment determined using the Expected Credit Loss Model under IFRS, the 
difference is transferred from regulatory risk reserve to retained earnings to the extent of the non-
distributable reserve previously recognized.

In addition the suspended interest from non-performing loans which is recognized as income under 
IFRS is transferred to regulatory risk reserve and it is non-distributable to the owners of the Bank.

28 Earnings per Share 

 Notes 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  Birr’000 Birr’000

    

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders  2,095,559 1,188,212
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  3,831,194 3,391,670

  
Basic Earnings per share of Birr 1,000  546.97 350.33

  

Retained earnings balance available for distribution 
 to ordinary equity holders 27 1,045,836 681,088
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  3,831,194 3,391,670
  
Net Basic Earnings per share of Birr 1,000  272.98 200.81

            
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year.

The net Basic earnings per share is calculated after deducting legal reserve and regulatory reserves 
from the net profit for the year  and dividing it by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.
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29 Related Party Transactions       

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one other 
party controls both.

There are companies which are related to Berhan Bank through common shareholdings or common 
directorships.

In the normal course of business, a number of banking transactions are entered into with related 
parties i.e. staff, directors, their associates and companies associated with directors. These include 
loans, deposits and foreign currency transactions.  Loans and advances to customers include loans 
and advances to staff and to companies associated with directors.  Contingent liabilities include 
guarantees and letters of credit for companies associated with directors. 

A number of transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. 
These are disclosed below: 

29a Loans and Advances 

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

Companies associated with directors

At the beginning of the year 244,471 239,125
Net movement during the year (238,355) 5,346
At the end of the year 6,116 244,471

Guarantees and letters of credit to companies associated with direc-
tors - -

The above outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business and are substantially on 
the same terms, including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions with third-party 
counterparties. 

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Birr’000 Birr’000

Directors and key management personnel

At the beginning of the year 97,055 83,411
Net movement during the year 14,310 13,644
At the end of the year 111,365 97,055

Guarantees and letters of credit to directors  - -
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These loans and advances are performing and are adequately secured.

29b Key management compensation       

Key management has been determined to be the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management of the Bank.  The compensation paid or payable to key management is shown.  There 
were no sales or purchase of goods and services between the Bank and key management personnel as 
at 30 June 2025. 

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 81,193 44,371
Post-employment benefits - -
Termination benefits - -
Sitting allowance 4,569 3,146
Other expenses 159.65 58
 85,921 47,575

Compensation of the Bank’s key management personnel includes salaries, non-cash benefits and 
contributions to the post-employment defined benefits plans.

29c Directors and Employees

i) The average number of persons (excluding directors) employed by the Bank during the year was 
as follows:           

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  In Number  In Number 

   

Professionals and High Level Supervisors 27 24
Clerical 53 321

Non-Clerical 2 64
                             82                         409 

ii) The table below shows the number of employees (excluding directors), who earned over Birr 
25,000 as emoluments in the year and were within the bands stated.

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
  In Number  In Number 

   

25,000 - 40,000 716 539
40,001 - 60,000 259 276
60,001 - 100,000 222 123
Above 100,000 19 6
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                    1,216                       944 
 
30 Contingent Liabilities       
30a Claims and litigation       

The Bank is a party to numerous legal actions brought by different organizations and individuals 
arising from its normal business operations. The maximum outflow and inflow of exposure of the 
Bank to these legal cases as at 30 June 2025 is Birr 327.4 million and 182mill respectively. Appropriate 
Provision has been held in the financial statements. In addition, the bank has claimed by the tax 
authority related to dividend tax and the bank appeal to the Federal High Court and the maximum 
exposure of the bank is 194.5mill.       
Claims by the bank       

The bank has instituted suits against third parties arising from the normal course of business. There 
is no possible claim arising from settlement of these cases as at 30 June 2025.   
30b Contingent liabilities and commitments

The Bank conducts business involving performance bonds and guarantees. These instruments are 
given as a security to support the performance of a customer to third parties. As the Bank will only 
be required to meet these obligations in the event of the customer’s default, the cash requirements of 
these instruments are expected to be considerably below their nominal amounts.

The table below summarises the fair value amount of contingent liabilities for the account of 
customers:

 30 June 2025 30 June 2024
 Birr’000 Birr’000

   

Guarantees issued and outstanding 13,223,743 6,644,301
Commitments on letter of credit net of margin paid 1,939,037 100,495
Loans approved but not disbursed 310,000 250,000
 15,472,780 6,994,796

31 Commitments       

The Bank has commitments, not provided for in these financial statements, as of 30 June 2025 Birr 
115 million (30 June 2024: Birr 78.5 million) for purchase of various capital items.   
   
32 Events after reporting period       

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant post balance sheet events which could have 
a material effect on the state of affairs of the Bank as at 30 June 2025 and on the profit for the period 
ended on that date, which have not been adequately provided for or disclosed.    
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